20 February 2019
At 5.00 pm

Local Planning Panel

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Agenda

1.

Disclosures of Interest

2.

Confirmation of Minutes

3.

Development Application: 29-33 Balfour Street, Chippendale

4.

Development Application: 13-15 Bayswater Road, Potts Point:

5.

Development Application: 22-24 Billyard Avenue, Elizabeth Bay

6.

Report to the Local Planning Panel - Status of Applications

Guidelines for Speakers
at Local Planning Panels

As part of our democratic process, the City invites members of the community to
speak directly to Members of the Local Planning Panel (LPP) about items on a
meeting agenda.
To enable the LPP to hear a wide range of views and concerns within the limited time
available, we encourage people interested in speaking at meetings to:
1.

Register to speak by calling Council’s Secretariat on 9265 9190 before 12.00
noon on the day of the meeting.

2.

Check the recommendation in the agenda report before speaking, as it may
address your concerns so that you just need to indicate your support for the
recommendation.

3.

Note that there is a three minute time limit for each speaker and prepare your
presentation to cover your major points within that time.

4.

Avoid repeating what previous speakers have said and focus on issues and
information that the LPP may not already know.

5.

If there is a large number of people interested in the same item as you, try to
nominate three representatives to speak on your behalf and to indicate how
many people they are representing.

6.

Before speaking, turn on the microphone by pressing the button next to it and
speak clearly so that everyone in the Council Chamber can hear.

7.

Be prepared to quickly return to the microphone and respond briefly to any
questions from LPP members, after all speakers on an item have made their
presentations.

At the start of each LPP meeting, the Chair may re-order agenda items so that those
items with speakers can be dealt with first.
LPP reports are on line at www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au, with printed copies
available at Sydney Town Hall immediately prior to the meeting. Council staff are
also available prior to the meeting to assist.

March 2018

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Item 1.
Disclosures of Interest
Pursuant to the provisions of Clause 15 of Schedule 4B of the Environmental Planning and
Assessment Act 1979, members of the Local Planning Panel are required to disclose
pecuniary interests in any matter on the agenda for this meeting of the Local Planning Panel.
Panel members are also required to disclose any non-pecuniary interests in any matter on
the agenda for this meeting of the Local Planning Panel.
In both cases, the nature of the interest must be disclosed.
In accordance with section 4.9 of the Code of Conduct for Local Planning Panel Members,
all Panel members are required to sign a declaration of interest in relation to each matter on
the agenda.

1

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Item 2.
Confirmation of Minutes
Minutes of the following meeting of the Local Planning Panel, which have been endorsed by
the Chair, are submitted for noting:
Meeting of 13 February 2019

1

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Item 3.
Development Application: 29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale
File No.:

D/2018/1097

Summary
Date of Submission:

13 September 2019

Applicant:

Mr D Klien
c/: Ethos Urban

Architect:

SJB Architects

Owner:

NMI Holdings Pty Ltd

Cost of Works:

$2,997,500

Zoning:

B4 Mixed Use zone - alterations and additions to the
existing commercial building are permissible with consent

Proposal Summary:

The application seeks consent for the demolition of an
existing mezzanine level and replacement with an
additional storey, relocation of plant, creation of new roof
terraces and internal works to the existing office building at
No.29-33 and No.35-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale
(known as 'the site').
The application was advertised and notified for a period of
21 days between 25 September 2018 and 17 October
2018. Ten submissions were received objecting to the
proposed development. The submissions raised concerns
relating to the acoustic impacts of the proposal,
overlooking from the terrace, proposed height breach and
operation of the site.
The proposal has been amended and additional
information has been supplied during the assessment of
the application to address preliminary concerns relating to
the proposed rear roof terrace, location of the plant and
impacts to the contributory building.

1

Local Planning Panel

Proposal Summary
(continued):

20 February 2019

The application proposes a maximum building height of
15.65m (which is a 3.65m or a 30% exceedance of the
LEP height standard). The elements of the building which
exceed the height limit are the eastern and western most
edges of the fourth storey addition, all of which remain
level with the existing building's highest point. The
application seeks a variation to the height of building
development standard under Clause 4.6 of the LEP. The
written request is supported and it is considered that strict
compliance with the height of building development
standard is unreasonable and unnecessary in the
circumstances.
The application is referred to the Local Planning Panel for
determination as the proposal exceeds the height of
buildings development standard by 30%.
The application proposes a maximum FSR of 2.5:1 (which
is a 44% or 771.8sqm exceedance to the FSR standard).
This remains unchanged from the existing situation but as
the proposal includes new floor space, a Clause 4.6
request has been provided. The additional floor space will
be located within the footprint of the existing mezzanine
and within the existing built form of the building. The
written request is supported and it is considered that strict
compliance with the FSR development standard is
unreasonable and unnecessary in the circumstances.
The amended proposal has been assessed as having a
built form, scale and height that satisfactorily addresses
the context of the site including neighbouring development
and the streetscape. The development is considered to be
of an appropriate form, scale, and materiality for the
locality, and subject to conditions will not result in adverse
impacts to surrounding properties.

Summary Recommendation:

The development application is recommended for
approval, subject to conditions.

Development Controls:

(i)

Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney
Harbour Catchment) 2005 (Deemed SEPP)

(ii)

Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012

(iii)

Sydney Development Control Plan 2012

(iv)

City of Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2015

A.

Recommended Conditions of Consent

B.

Selected Drawings

Attachments:

2

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

C.

Clause 4.6 Request - Height of Buildings

D.

Clause 4.6 Request - Floor Space Ratio

3

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Recommendation
It is resolved that:
(A)

the variation requested to the Height in Buildings development standard in accordance
with Clause 4.6 'Exceptions to development standards' of the Sydney Local
Environmental Plan 2012 be supported;

(B)

the variation requested to the Floor Space Ratio development standard in accordance
with Clause 4.6 'Exceptions to development standards' of the Sydney Local
Environmental Plan 2012 be supported; and

(C)

consent be granted to Development Application No. D/2018/1097 subject to the
conditions set out in Attachment A to the subject report:

Reasons for Recommendation
The application is recommended for approval for the following reasons:
(A)

The proposal is consistent with the objectives of the B4 Mixed Use zone in that it
provides for a range of compatible land uses and will support the viability of the
surrounding centre.

(B)

The requested variation to the Height of Buildings is supported because the consent
authority is satisfied that the applicant's written request has adequately addressed the
matters required to be addressed by Clause 4.6 of the Sydney Local Environmental
Plan 2012 and the proposed development would be in the public interest because it is
consistent with the objectives of Clause 4.3 Height of Buildings and the B4 Mixed Use
zone.

(C)

The requested variation to the Floor Space Ratio is supported because the consent
authority is satisfied that the applicant's written request has adequately addressed the
matters required to be addressed by Clause 4.6 of the Sydney Local Environmental
Plan 2012 and the proposed development would be in the public interest because it is
consistent with the objectives of Clause 4.4 Floor Space Ratio and the B4 Mixed Use
zone.

(D)

The proposal is considered to exhibit design excellence in accordance with Clause
6.21 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012.

(E)

The proposal is considered appropriate within its setting and is generally compliant
with the relevant planning controls contained in the Sydney Local Environmental Plan
2012 and Sydney Development Control Plan 2012.

(F)

The proposed use is compatible with the mixed use nature of the area and it is
considered that the development will not result in unreasonable impacts to nearby
residential properties, subject to the attached conditions.

4

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Background
The Site and Surrounding Development
1.

A site visit was carried out by Council staff on 16 October 2018.

2.

The site is irregular in shape and comprises 2 properties, Lot 1 of DP 88517 known as
29-33 Balfour Street to the north and Lot 2 of DP 234694 known as 35-43 Balfour
Street to the south. The site has a combined site area of approximately 980.5sqm. It
has a combined frontage to Balfour Street of 65m with a frontage of 20m to Dick Street
in the north and 30.5m to Little Queen Street to the south.

3.

The site currently contains 2 x 3 storey warehouse buildings currently under renovation
for use as an office/commercial property. The warehouses have largely intact exteriors
with the majority of original windows intact. The interiors have been heavily altered
with the original staircase in the centre of the buildings remaining.

4.

The site has vehicular access from Little Queen Street and Balfour Street with
vehicular access from a service lane accessed from Dick Street to the rear of the site.
Pedestrian access is available from all three frontages.

5.

The site is not a heritage item but is located within the C9 - Chippendale Conservation
Area. No.29-33 Balfour Street is identified as a neutral building and No.35-43 Balfour
Street is identified as a contributory building within the conservation area.

6.

The site is located within a mixed use precinct surrounded by residential and
commercial uses. To the immediate north across Dick Street, south across Little
Queen Street and north-west are terrace houses of typically 2 and 3 storeys in height
including rear private open spaces. To the south-west fronting Little Queen Street is a
converted warehouse used as a warehouse and office. To the east opposite Balfour
Street is a 4 storey residential flat building.

7.

Further to the north is White Rabbit Gallery and the Central Park development
precinct. To the south, east and west is a continuation of the Chippendale
Conservation area primarily used for residential interspersed with small scale
commercial uses.

8.

Photos of the site and surrounds are provided below:

5

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Figure 1: Aerial image of subject site and surrounding area

Figure 2: Site viewed from the corner of Balfour and Dick Streets looking south

6

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Figure 3: Looking north from the corner of Balfour and Little Queen Streets.

Figure 4: Looking west down Little Queen Street with the subject site to the right of the picture.

7

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Figure 5: Looking west down Dick Street with the subject site to the left of the picture.

Figure 6: Looking south along the service lane between the subject site (left) and the residential
properties at No.17-29 Dick Street.

8

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Figure 7: Existing mezzanine to be demolished and replaced as viewed from the level below looking
south

Figure 8: Existing mezzanine beams to be retained

9

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Figure 9: Existing mezzanine floor level. Note the proposed addition will raise the floor level above
the top of the window to the floor below

Proposal
9.

The application seeks consent for alterations and additions to the existing building
comprising of:
(a)

infilling of existing light-well adjacent to the central staircase;

(b)

demolition of existing roof and mezzanine level on the southern portion of the
site and replacement with a fourth storey addition of the same floor area for use
as office space;

(c)

new east facing roof terrace with acoustic screening and landscaping; and

(d)

relocation of roof top plant to new western non-trafficable roof terrace including
acoustic screening.

10.

The majority of the works are to be contained within the contributory building of No.3543 Balfour Street.

11.

Plans of the proposed development are provided below.

10

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Figure 10: Proposed ground floor plan

Figure 11: Proposed first floor plan

11

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Figure 12: Proposed second floor plan

Figure 13: Proposed fourth storey addition and roof terraces

12

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Figure 14: South (Little Queen Street) elevation

Figure 15: Eastern (Balfour Street) elevation

Figure 16: Long section through the fourth storey addition,

13

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Figure 17: Photomontage as viewed from Balfour Street

History Relevant to the Development Application
12.

On 3 January 2018, consent was granted under D/2017/1538 for a change of use of
the buildings to commercial offices and associated fitout. These works included
demolition of internal partitions, new internal partitions (creating 8 tenancies), BCA
upgrades and painting of the exterior. Hours of operation of the site was set at 7am to
10pm Monday to Friday. Construction has commenced on site.

13.

At the request of Council's Officers, the subject application was amended to delete a
proposed second terrace at the rear and relocate the roof top plant to the centre of the
southern roof area away from sensitive uses at the rear. The amended plans now form
the subject application and have been assessed below.

Economic/Social/Environmental Impacts
14.

The application has been assessed under Section 4.15 of the Environmental Planning
and Assessment Act 1979, including consideration of the following matters:
(a)

Environmental Planning Instruments and DCPs.

Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005 (Deemed
SEPP)
15.

The site is located within the designated hydrological catchment of Sydney Harbour
and is subject to the provisions of the above SREP.

16.

The Sydney Harbour Catchment Planning Principles must be considered in the
carrying out of development within the catchment. The key relevant principles include:
(a)

protect and improve hydrological, ecological and geomorphologic processes;

(b)

consider cumulative impacts of development within the catchment;

14

Local Planning Panel

17.

20 February 2019

(c)

improve water quality of urban runoff and reduce quantity and frequency of urban
run-off; and

(d)

protect and rehabilitate riparian corridors and remnant vegetation.

The site is within the Sydney Harbour Catchment and eventually drains into the
Harbour. However, the site is not located in the Foreshores Waterways Area or
adjacent to a waterway and therefore, with the exception of the objective of improved
water quality, the objectives of the SREP are not applicable to the proposed
development. The development is consistent with the controls contained within the
deemed SEPP.

Sydney LEP 2012
18.

The site is located within the B4 Mixed Use zone. The proposed works to the existing
commercial building are permissible.

19.

The application submits that the proposed addition is a mezzanine floor within the
existing building. Pursuant to the Sydney LEP 2012, a mezzanine is defined as:
mezzanine means an intermediate floor within a room.

20.

The proposed addition does not satisfy the LEP definition of 'mezzanine' as it
comprises a discreet floor constructed above the floor below, contained beneath a new
roof. Accordingly, the proposal constitutes a fourth storey addition, not a mezzanine as
described in the application. The additional floor space has been assessed as a fourth
storey addition.

21.

The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012
for the proposed development are outlined below.

Compliance Tables
Development Control

Compliance

Comment

4.3 Height of Buildings

No

A maximum height of 12m is permitted.
A height of 15.65m is proposed which is
a 3.65m or 30% variation to the height
development standard.
See discussion under the heading
Issues below.

4.4 Floor Space Ratio

No

A maximum FSR of 1.75:1 is permitted.
A FSR of 2.5:1 is proposed to be
retained which is a 44% or 771.8sqm
variation to the development standard.
See discussion under the heading
Issues below.

15

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Development Control

Compliance

Comment

4.6 Exceptions to development
standards

Yes

The proposal seeks to vary the
development standards under Clause
4.3 and 4.4 of the SLEP 2012 prescribed
under Clause 4.3.
See discussion under the heading
Issues.

5.10 Heritage conservation

Yes

The subject site is located within a
heritage conservation area.
See discussion under the heading
Issues.

Part 6 Local Provisions Height and Floor Space

Compliance

Comment

Division 4 Design excellence

Yes

The proposed development
demonstrates a high standard of
architectural design through the
setbacks to the additional storey, the
quality of materials proposed and the
minimal visibility from the public domain
of the addition.
The proposal will have minimal impacts
to adjoining properties with no additional
overshadowing and the provision of
acoustic screens to minimise and
acoustic impacts.
The proposed development exhibits
design excellence and therefore satisfies
the requirements of this provision.

Part 7 Local Provisions General

Compliance

Comment

7.14 Acid Sulphate Soils

Yes

The site is identified as containing class
5 Acid Sulphate Soil. As the proposal
does not include excavation within 500m
of Class 1-4 soils, no further action is
required.

16

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Sydney DCP 2012
22.

The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Development Control Plan 2012
for the proposed development are outlined below.

2. Locality Statements – 2.3.1 - Chippendale
The subject site is located in the Chippendale locality. The proposed alterations and
additions to the existing commercial building are considered to be in keeping with the
unique character of the area and design principles in that they respond to the height,
massing and predominate proportions of nearby contributory items. The proposal retains
the scale and massing of the existing buildings as viewed from the primary street frontage
(Balfour Street) and retains and protects early industrial warehouses on the site.

3. General Provisions

Compliance

Comment

3.9 Heritage

Yes

The existing building is located within a
heritage conservation area with one
building being neutral and the other
contributory to the conservation area.
See discussion under the heading
Issues.

3.10 Significant Architectural
Building Types

Yes

The site is a warehouse older than 50
years and is therefore subject to this
provision. See discussion under the
heading Issues.

3.12 Accessible Design

Yes

The fourth storey and roof terraces are
accessible through a lift.

4. Development Types

Compliance

Comment

No

A maximum building height of 3 storeys
is permitted.

4.2 Residential flat,
commercial and mixed use
developments
4.2.1 Building height

A maximum of 4 storeys is proposed.
See discussion under the heading
Issues.
4.2.1.2 Floor to ceiling height
and floor to floor heights

Yes

The proposal has a floor to floor height of
3.6m for the proposed addition.

17

Local Planning Panel

4. Development Types

20 February 2019

Compliance

Comment

Yes

The subject building is located in a
locality where rear and side setbacks
vary due to the range of building forms
(warehouses/terraces/ect).

4.2 Residential flat,
commercial and mixed use
developments
4.2.2 Building setbacks

For the remaining warehouses in the
area including the subject site nil
setbacks on all sides is typical. This is
true for the subject site.
The proposal includes a rear (west)
setback of 8m (as measured on the
north-western corner) and 7.6m from the
front of the site. Due to the setbacks and
the height of the existing parapet, the
proposed addition will not be visible from
Balfour or Dick Streets and is setback
from the boundary between the buildings
continuing to permit the continued
reading of the 2 buildings.
A 200mm setback to the southern
boundary on Little Queen Street is
proposed, however a condition has been
recommended to increase this setback to
600mm from the external face of the
southern wall to reduce the visibility of
the addition from Little Queen Street
above the parapet. This is discussed in
greater detail below. The proposal in
general terms will not interrupt the
existing pattern of development and
maintains the setting for nearby
contributory buildings within the
conservation area. Overall, the proposed
setbacks are acceptable subject to
conditions as detailed below.
4.2.3.1 Solar access

Yes

The proposal will result in minimal
additional overshadowing to properties to
the south with the additional shadows to
fall on the roofs of the adjoining
properties and is considered acceptable.

4.2.3.11 Acoustic privacy

Yes

See discussion under the heading
Issues.

18

Local Planning Panel

4. Development Types

20 February 2019

Compliance

Comment

Yes

The development proposes to utilise the
existing waste facilities for the site. This
is considered acceptable as the proposal
will not result in any additional floor
space and will therefore not increase the
demand on waste facilities as approved
under D/2017/1538.

Yes

The development proposes to locate the
air conditioning condensers in a
consolidated area on the new roof
terrace at the rear of the site, setback
4.7m from the adjoining residential
properties and surrounded by an
acoustic screen.

4.2 Residential flat,
commercial and mixed use
developments
4.2.6 Waste minimisation
4.2.6.4 Additional provisions
for non-residential
development

4.2.7 Heating and Cooling
Infrastructure

See further discussion on acoustic
privacy under the heading Issues below.
4.2.9 Non-residential
developments in the B4 Mixed
Uses zone

Yes

The proposal will not change the
approved use of the site.

Issues
Clause 4.6 request to vary a development standard - height of buildings
23.

The site is subject to a 12m height of buildings development standard. The proposed
development has a height of 15.65m which is a 30% variation to the development
standard.

24.

A written request has been submitted to Council in accordance with Clause 4.6(3)(a)
and (b) of the Sydney LEP 2012 seeking to justify the contravention of the
development standard by demonstrating:

25.

(a)

that compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary
in the circumstances of the case; and

(b)

that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening
the standard.

A copy of the applicant's written request is provided at Attachment C.

19

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Applicants Written Request - Clause 4.6(3)(a) and (b)
26.

The applicant seeks to justify the contravention of the height of buildings development
standard on the following basis:
(a)

(b)

That compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary
in the circumstances of the case:
(i)

the proposed development will not increase the existing maximum height
of the building and as such will have no additional impacts on views or
overshadowing;

(ii)

will comply with the relevant sections of the Sydney City Development
Control Plan 2012 (as outlined within the accompanying Statement of
Environmental Effects); and

(iii)

will be consistent with the objectives of the B4 Mixed Use zone and the
‘maximum height of buildings’ development standard as they apply to the
site.

That there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening
the standard:
(i)

The proposed exceedance of the ‘maximum height of buildings’
development standard relates only to a minor increase of part of the
existing mezzanine level and will not increase the overall height of the
existing buildings. The modifications proposed to the existing roof will not
be readily visible from the ground. Shadow studies have been provided
within the architectural plans demonstrate that the proposed development
will have no adverse additional overshadowing impact on any neighbouring
building or any area of public open space.

(ii)

The proposed development seeks to improve the functionality of the entire
building so that additional outdoor space is made available to the
occupants of the building. Currently, the nearest open space available to
occupants of the building is the nearby Chippendale Green park, which is
located within 50m of the site. Because of the intended occupancy of this
development by a high-end commercial tenant, there will likely be an
increase to the number of users within the building. This will place
additional strain on the existing green spaces and as a mitigation strategy,
the proposed mezzanine terrace will provide some green space for users
to occupy during building opening hours.

Consideration of Applicants Written Request - Clause 4.6(4) (a) (i) and (ii)
27.

Development consent must not be granted unless the consent authority is satisfied
that:
(a)

the applicant’s written request has adequately addressed the matters required to
be demonstrated by subclause 3 of Clause 4.6 being that compliance with the
development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of
the case, and that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify
contravening the standard; and

20

Local Planning Panel

(b)

20 February 2019

the proposed development will be in the public interest because it is consistent
with the objectives of the particular standard and the objectives for development
within the zone in which the development is proposed to be carried out.

Does the written request adequately address those issues at Clause 4.6(3)(a)?
28.

The applicant has adequately addressed the issues raised within Clause 4.6(3)(a)
through a full assessment detailing how the proposal will comply with the objectives of
the B4 mixed Use zone and the Maximum Height of Buildings development standard:
(a)

to ensure the height of development is appropriate to the condition of the site
and its context
(i)

(b)

As noted above in Section 3, the proposed exceedance of the ‘maximum
height of buildings’ development standard relates to a fourth storey
addition which replaces an existing mezzanine level and will not increase
the overall height of the buildings. As shown in Figure 2 and Figure 3 the
modifications proposed to the existing roof will not be readily visible from
the ground. Shadow studies have been provided within the architectural
plans demonstrate that the proposed development will have no additional
adverse overshadowing impact on any neighbouring building or any area
of public open space. In light of the above it is clear that the proposed
development, including the exceedance of the ‘maximum height of
buildings’ development standard, is appropriate for the condition of the site
and its context.

to ensure appropriate height transitions between new development and heritage
items and buildings in heritage conservation areas or special character areas,
(i)

The site is not mapped or listed as an item of local or State heritage
significance, however, the site is located within the Chippendale heritage
conservation area (HCA). The proposed addition is sympathetic to both the
existing building on which it is located, and the contribution of the existing
building to the local character of Chippendale and the Chippendale HCA.
As shown in Figure 2 and Figure 3 the modifications proposed to the
existing roof will not be readily visible from the ground.

(ii)

Further, the proposed development demonstrates adaptive reuse with a
contemporary rooftop addition, consistent with development in the
immediate surrounds (including 30 Balfour Street, immediately east of the
site and 2-8 Little Queen Street, immediately west of the site). The
proposed development will facilitate the occupancy of a high-end
commercial tenant, consistent with uses in the immediate surrounds
(including 30 Balfour Street, currently occupied by the White Rabbit
Gallery).

(iii)

The proposed development involves the removal of the existing warehouse
roof structure of the southern building to accommodate a fourth storey
addition which replaces the mezzanine while retaining the overall height of
the existing building. As the construction of the roof is masked by the
warehouse’s parapet, the removal of the roof structure will result in
negligible change to the built form character of Chippendale. The proposed
development’s materiality in relation to heritage conservation has aimed to
integrate the design of the roof terrace to fit with the local character of the
surrounding neighbourhood.

21

Local Planning Panel

(c)

(d)

to promote the sharing of views
(i)

The proposed development will not increase the overall height of the
existing building but will increase the bulk of the top floor as viewed from
elevated buildings surrounding the site. The sightlines to and from the site
offer district outlooks onto Central Park but the site and surrounding
buildings do not enjoy significant views such as the city skyline or of
significant buildings. Therefore significant impacts of the proposed rooftop
addition on views past the existing building are not anticipated.

(ii)

The roof terrace has also been designed to reduce impact on views or
outlooks from other surrounding roof terraces or outdoor spaces. An
acoustic privacy screen adjacent to the existing parapet, and the height of
the existing parapet, plus the separation distances to surrounding
neighbours will consequently prevent any adverse privacy impacts in
relation to views neighbouring roof terraces or outdoor spaces.

to ensure appropriate height transitions from Central Sydney and Green Square
Town Centre to adjoining areas
(i)

(e)

20 February 2019

The proposed development does not alter the maximum height of the
existing building and as such does not affect the overall height transition
from Central Sydney and Green Square Town Centre and adjoining areas.
As such, the proposed development will retain the existing height
transitions.

in respect to Green Square
(i)

The proposed development is not located within the Green Square precinct
and therefore Objective (e) does not apply.

Does the written request adequately address those issues at clause 4.6(3)(b)?
29.

The applicant has provided adequate justification that there are sufficient
environmental planning grounds to justify the contravention of the development
standard.

Is the development in the public interest?
30.

The proposal will be in the public interest because it is consistent with the relevant
objectives of the development standard, as follows:
(a)

To ensure the height of the development is appropriate to the condition of the
site and its context
(i)

The proposal is in keeping with the existing height of the building with only
minor projections beyond the existing parapet. The addition will not be
highly visible and will be recessed behind the existing parapet.

(ii)

The site is located in an area of varying heights of buildings from 2 to 5
storeys. The addition will is not out of context within the immediate area.

(iii)

The proposal will have no adverse amenity impacts to the lower density
residential dwellings surrounding the site. This is in terms of separation,
perceived bulk/overbearingness, visual privacy and acoustic privacy.

22

Local Planning Panel

(iv)

(b)

31.

The proposal does not result in the loss of any significant views or
sightlines.

To ensure appropriate height transitions from Central Sydney and Green Square
Town Centre to adjoining areas.
(i)

(e)

The site is within the C9 - Chippendale Conservation Area and contains
both neutral and contributory buildings. The proposal will have no adverse
impacts on surrounding contributory buildings and will continue to enable
the site to be read as an early warehouse of the Chippendale area.

To promote the sharing of views.
(i)

(d)

The elements that breach the height of building development standard do
not adversely overshadow the adjoining properties with any additional
overshadowing falling on existing roofs.

To ensure appropriate height transitions between new development and heritage
items and buildings in Heritage Conservation Areas or special character areas.
(i)

(c)

20 February 2019

The proposed height is considered to be appropriate within its transitioning
precinct.

In respect of Green Square:
(i)

To ensure the amenity of the public domain by restricting taller buildings to
only part of a site, and

(ii)

To ensure the built form contributes to the physical definition of the street
network and public spaces.

(i)

The site is not located within Green Square.

The proposal is also in the public interest as it meets the objectives of the B4 Mixed
Use zone, as the proposed use contributes towards providing a mixture of compatible
uses in the area, integrates suitable development in an accessible location, and will
support the viability of the centre.

Conclusion
32.

For the reasons provided above the requested variation to the height of building
development standard is supported as the applicant's written request has adequately
addressed the matters required to be addressed by cl 4.6 of the Sydney Local
Environmental Plan 2012 and the proposed development would be in the public
interest because it is consistent with the objectives of Clause 4.3 Height of Buildings
and the B4 Mixed use zone.

Clause 4.6 request to vary a development standard - floor space ratio
33.

The site is subject to a 1.75:1 FSR development standard. The proposed development
has a FSR of 2.5:1 which is a 44% variation to the development standard.

34.

A written request has been submitted to Council in accordance with Clause 4.6(3)(a)
and (b) of the Sydney LEP 2012 seeking to justify the contravention of the
development standard by demonstrating:

23

Local Planning Panel

35.

20 February 2019

(a)

That compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary
in the circumstances of the case; and

(b)

That there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening
the standard.

A copy of the applicant's written request is provided at Attachment D.

Applicants Written Request - Clause 4.6(3)(a) and (b)
36.

The applicant seeks to justify the contravention of the FSR development standard on
the following basis:
(a)

(b)

That compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary
in the circumstances of the case:
(i)

the proposed development will not increase the existing floor space ratio of
the building and as such will have no additional impacts on views or
overshadowing;

(ii)

will comply with the relevant sections of the Sydney City Development
Control Plan 2012 (as outlined within the accompanying Statement of
Environmental Effects); and

(iii)

will be consistent with the objectives of the B4 Mixed Use zone and the
‘floor space ratio' development standard as they apply to the site.

That there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening
the standard:
(i)

The proposed FSR is commensurate with that which already exists on site
and therefore does not seek to increase the density of the development.

(ii)

The proposal increases the site’s existing GFA by 6.8m2 (0.02%) which is
considered to be a negligible and will not intensify the use of the site.

(iii)

The additional FSR will not substantially alter the envelope of the
development and consequently will have no impact on view corridors
obtained from surrounding properties.

(iv)

The maximum FSR nominated by the SLEP 2012 was established
subsequent to the redevelopment of the site and therefore cannot
reasonably be applied to proposals that seek consent to retain the existing
building envelope.

(v)

The proposed development seeks to maintain and upgrade the existing
warehouse building. In doing so the proposal respects site’s unique
qualities and location within a heritage conservation area and will continue
to contribute to the legibility of the locality’s industrial character.

(vi)

As demonstrated by the shadow diagrams that accompanied the SEE, the
proposal will provide a minimal amount of overshadowing on the basis that
the alterations and additions are minor and will not substantially amend the
existing envelope.

24

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

(vii) The proposal does not include on-site parking and consequently the
additional GFA will not give rise to additional traffic generation.
Consideration of Applicants Written Request - Clause 4.6(4) (a) (i) and (ii)
37.

Development consent must not be granted unless the consent authority is satisfied
that:
(a)

the applicant’s written request has adequately addressed the matters required to
be demonstrated by subclause 3 of Clause 4.6 being that compliance with the
development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of
the case, and that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify
contravening the standard; and

(b)

the proposed development will be in the public interest because it is consistent
with the objectives of the particular standard and the objectives for development
within the zone in which the development is proposed to be carried out.

Does the written request adequately address those issues at Clause 4.6(3)(a)?
38.

The applicant has adequately addressed the issues raised within Clause 4.6(3)(a)
through a full assessment detailing how the proposal will comply with the objectives of
the B4 mixed Use zone and the Floor Space Ratio development standard:

Objective (a): To provide sufficient floor space to meet anticipated development needs for
the foreseeable future
(i)

The development needs associated with the proposal are primarily to
facilitate the delivery of a development that is both appropriate for
attracting long term commercial tenants and compatible with the
surrounding locality. The site is located in Chippendale within a heritage
conservation area and the surrounding locality is characterised by a mix of
uses typically accommodated within pre-war and post-war industrial
warehouses. The character statement for the locality is set out in Section
2.3.1 of the Sydney DCP and provides the following relevant principles
which govern redevelopment throughout the area.


Retain the rich mix of building types and encourage the adaptive re–
use of heritage and warehouse buildings.



Maintain the existing pattern of retail and small-scale commercial
uses scattered throughout the neighbourhood.

(ii)

The proposal relates to alterations and additions that are predominately
internal and do not substantially alter the bulk and scale of the existing
envelope which already contravenes the FSR development standard. The
works are proposed for the purpose of adaptively reusing the existing
warehouse building located within a heritage conservation area and will
contribute to maintaining the character of the area. It is noted that the GFA
is generally consistent with the building’s existing GFA and proposes no
change to the FSR.

(iii)

The gross floor area is also proposed for the purpose of supporting the
building’s redevelopment as a functional and economically viable
commercial premises. With the building consisting of an outdated
warehouse, there is a clear need to execute upgrades to ensure the

25

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

building’s internal spaces are suitable for commercial purposes without
compromising the warehouse character of the building. In doing so, the
proposal will assist in maintain the existing pattern of small-scale
commercial uses that typify the Chippendale neighbourhood.
(iv)

As noted above, the existing building exceeds the relevant development
standard and consequently any proposed works to the building would
require a variation to the development standard. A building that strictly
adhered to the FSR standard would provide a significantly smaller building
envelope. A reduced building envelope would result in a less optimal
outcome for occupants in that it would be less functional and have limited
capacity to support a future commercial premise. It would also necessitate
the redevelopment of the warehouse which would likely reduce the
heritage values of the conservation area.

Objective (b): To regulate the density of development, built form and land use intensity and
to control the generation of vehicle and pedestrian traffic
(i)

The density of development within the City of Sydney is in part regulated
by the FSR controls established by the SLEP 2012. The proposal is
subject to a maximum GFA of 1.75:1. Notwithstanding, the existing building
exceeds the development standard by providing an FSR of 2.5:1. Being an
early twentieth century industrial warehouse, the applicable development
standard was introduced subsequent to the redevelopment of the site and
is therefore considered inappropriate in respect to the assessment of the
proposed alterations and additions.

(ii)

When calculated in accordance with the gross floor area definition provided
by the SLEP 2012, the proposal has an FSR consistent with the existing
building. Whilst the proposed provides a slightly greater GFA, the increase
is negligible and will not alter the building’s level of occupancy. In light of
this, it is considered the proposal will not increase the land use intensity or
level pedestrian traffic generation.

(iii)

The proposal does not seek to provide parking and benefits from access to
public transport due to its proximity to Redfern and Central stations.
Consequently, the proposal will not increase traffic generation.

(iv)

Overall it is considered that the proposal will not result in any adverse
impacts on the built form, land use intensity, vehicle or pedestrian
generation on the site. It therefore satisfies this objective notwithstanding
the proposed variation to the development standard.

Objective (c): To provide for an intensity of development that is commensurate with the
capacity of existing and planned infrastructure
(i)

The proposed development is limited to alterations and additions and will
not substantially increase the GFA beyond what is already accommodated
within the site. As such, the proposal will not create an intensity of
development that is incompatible with the site’s existing and planned
infrastructure. As noted above, the site is well located close to public
transport. Specifically, it is situated a 10-minute walk from Central Station
(850m) and a 13-minute walk from Redfern Station (900m). In light of this,
no appreciable impact on the locality’s infrastructure capacity is anticipated
to arise as a result of the proposed development.

26

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Objective (d): To ensure that new development reflects the desired character of the
locality in which it is located and minimises adverse impacts on the amenity of that
locality.
(i)

The site is located within Chippendale and seeks to provide a commercial
use. An assessment of the proposed development against the relevant
design principles established by the Chippendale locality statement within
the Sydney DCP is provided in Table 1 available in Attachment D.

Does the written request adequately address those issues at clause 4.6(3)(b)?
39.

The applicant has provided adequate justification that there are sufficient
environmental planning grounds to justify the contravention of the development
standard.

Is the development in the public interest?
40.

The proposal will be in the public interest because it is consistent with the relevant
objectives of the development standard, as follows:
(a)

to provide sufficient floor space to meet anticipated development needs for the
foreseeable future,
(i)

(b)

to regulate the density of development, built form and land use intensity and to
control the generation of vehicle and pedestrian traffic,
(i)

(c)

The proposal will have no impact on the infrastructure needs for the
surrounding area as the proposal will not increase the existing floor space
of the building.

to ensure that new development reflects the desired character of the locality in
which it is located and minimises adverse impacts on the amenity of that locality.
(i)

41.

The proposal will not alter the numerical floor space of the existing building
and will not alter the density and land use intensity of the area.

to provide for an intensity of development that is commensurate with the capacity
of existing and planned infrastructure,
(i)

(d)

The proposal will not impact the areas ability to provide for anticipated
development needs for the foreseeable future. This is due to the lack of
change in actual floor space available to the building, the existing building
is being retained and its use as approved previously has been considered
to be acceptable for the area.

As detailed in a complete assessment elsewhere in this report, the
proposal will continue to reflect the desired future character of the area and
minimises adverse impacts to the amenity of the locality (subject to
conditions).

The proposal is also in the public interest as it meets the objectives of the B4 Mixed
Use zone, as the proposed use contributes towards providing a mixture of compatible
uses in the area, integrates suitable development in an accessible location, and will
support the viability of the centre.

27

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Conclusion
42.

For the reasons provided above the requested variation to the FSR development
standard is supported as the applicant's written request has adequately addressed the
matters required to be addressed by cl 4.6 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan
2012 and the proposed development would be in the public interest because it is
consistent with the objectives of Clause 4.4 Floor Space Ratio and the B4 Mixed use
zone.

Acoustic Privacy
43.

The application proposes to relocate the air conditioning condensers from the centre of
the site and to the non-trafficable rear (western) roof terrace. The proposal includes a
2.1m high acoustic screen around the plant.

Figure 18: Proposed location of the plant

44.

The applicant has submitted an acoustic report which has been peer reviewed as well
as being assessed by Council's Environmental Health Unit.

45.

The application states that the location of the plant is the best location available given
the roof forms, amount of plant required for the building and the need to limit visibility
from the street. The acoustic report details that the proposal will remain well below the
maximum permitted noise of 59dB(A) for the nearest residential receiver. The acoustic
report states that the predicted noise from the mezzanine (including plant) is 48dB(A).

46.

The application also proposes the use of the front roof terrace in association with the
office use until 10pm Monday to Friday in keeping with the previously approved hours
of operation under D/2017/1538. The proposal includes 1.6m high acoustic screens
surrounding the front terrace.

47.

While it is noted that the proposal has been accompanied by an Acoustic Report which
states that the use of the terrace by up to 166 people (2 people/sqm) will meet the
required noise levels, the terrace is not a requirement for the use of the site as an
office and has the potential to result in adverse privacy impacts associated with noise.
It is recommended that the use of the terrace area be restricted to base hours of 8pm,
with its use to 10pm on a 12 month trial

28

Local Planning Panel

48.

20 February 2019

The proposed location of the plant and the use of the front roof terrace is capable of
complying with Council's requirements. Conditions of consent have been
recommended including noise level requirements for plant and restricted capacity and
hours for the use of the terrace.

Heritage
49.

The site is located within a Conservation Area and contains a building over 50 years
old. The site is therefore subject to the heritage provisions of this DCP. No.29-33
Balfour Street is a neutral building and No.35-43 is a contributory building within the
conservation area.

50.

The proposal will not result in the loss of significant original fabric with the existing
mezzanine and roof being later additions. The proposal includes the retention of the
original roof trusses which currently sit either side of the existing mezzanine. The new
floor will sit within the existing building footprint and while the roof is to be replaced, the
roof trusses either side will be retained.

51.

Through the assessment of the application Council raised concerns regarding the floor
level of the addition which sought to retain the existing mezzanine's floor level that
intersects with the arched windows of the floor below on the Little Queen Street
elevation. Details of the proposal have been subsequently provided to show that the
floor level will be raised to predominately sit above the glazing. However, given the
arched shape of the windows, there will be some structure visible at the apex of the
arch however this will largely be concealed by the window frame and will be setback
from the window. Council's heritage specialist is satisfied that this will not result in
detrimental impacts on the character and significance of the contributory item.

52.

The nil setback to Little Queen Street is not supported on heritage grounds. While the
shadow line and 200mm setback from the external face of the original wall is noted,
the feasibility of this detail is questioned. The proposal will result in a gap which is
susceptible to water damage and accumulation of debris. This area is likely to be
flashed over resulting in the loss of the curved capping which is a key feature of the
contributory building.

29

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Figure 19: Detailed section

53.

It is therefore recommended that the addition be setback a total of 600mm from the
external face of the southern wall. This will result in a small loss of usable floor space
(approximately 6sqm) due to the required low height of the box gutter, however this
would continue to permit sufficient usable floor space within the mezzanine. This will
also reduce the addition's visibility from Little Queen Street. A condition of consent to
require the submission of amended plans incorporating these details prior to
Construction Certificate is recommended.

54.

Overall, the proposal generally complies with the relevant aims, objectives and
controls of the DCP subject to conditions as discussed.

Other Impacts of the Development
55.

The proposed development is capable of complying with the BCA.

56.

It is considered that the proposal will have no significant detrimental effect relating to
environmental, social or economic impacts on the locality, subject to appropriate
conditions being imposed.

Suitability of the site for the Development
57.

The proposal is of a nature in keeping with the overall function of the site. The
premises are in a mixed use surrounding and amongst similar uses to that proposed.

Internal Referrals
58.

The application, as amended was discussed with Heritage and Urban Design
Specialist, Building Services Unit and Environmental Health, who advised that the
proposal is generally acceptable subject to recommended conditions.

30

Local Planning Panel

59.

20 February 2019

All recommended conditions from other sections of Council have been included in the
proposed conditions.

External Referrals
Notification, Advertising and Delegation
60.

In accordance with Schedule 1 the Sydney DCP 2012, the proposed development is
required to be notified and advertised. As such the application was notified and
advertised for a period of 21 days between 25 September 2018 and 17 October 2018.
As a result of this notification there were 10 submissions received.
(a)

The proposal will overlook into adjoining residential properties
Response: The proposed roof terrace at the rear of the site is now nominated as
being non-trafficable (excluding maintenance). The front facing roof terrace has
been designed with acoustic screening to a height of 1.6m and a 1m wide planter
box to prevent occupants from having direct overlooking into sensitive land uses.
While there is likely to be some shared overlooking, the site is located within a
dense urban environment with an element of overlooking to be expected,
combined with its use being restricted to 7am to 10pm (subject to a trial) Monday
to Friday, the potential for overlooking is considered to be acceptable.

(b)

The variation to the height limit will set a precedent for future development in the
area
Response: A complete assessment of the proposed variation is provided above
but it is noted that the proposal will not increase the overall height of the building
and is in line with the existing highest point.
Each request for variation is assessed on its individual merits with any future
request by another site subject to the same tests as which applied to the subject
application.

(c)

The submitted Acoustic Report is inadequate and does not accurately measure
background noises from adjoining residential properties
and

(d)

The rear terrace and plant will have unacceptable acoustic impacts to the
adjoining residential properties to the west
Response: The acoustic report has been independently assessed by Council's
Environmental Health Unit and has been externally peer-reviewed. The Acoustic
Report has stated that the proposal will fall below the acoustic requirements and
is acceptable subject to acoustic screens. The proposal will be subject to a
number of amenity conditions including restricting the use of the terrace until
10pm (subject to a 1 year trial) and a number of noise conditions. It is noted that
the rear facing roof terrace is non-trafficable and the plant has been moved off
the western property boundary.

(e)

The use of the building and terrace until 10pm would have unreasonable impacts
to surrounding residents

31

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Response: The site is located within a "white" uncategorised area under
Council's late night trading controls within DPC 2012 and trading until 10pm not
considered to be late night. That being said, it is acknowledged that the site is
located close to sensitive uses and so the use of the terrace will be restricted
until 8pm with use until 10pm subject to a 1 year trial. The trial period will enable
Council to monitor any potential detrimental impacts on the surrounding area.
The site will also be subject to a number of noise conditions relating to the
emission of acoustic impacts which must be adhered to regardless of approved
hours.
(f)

The repainting of the exterior will result in paint chips falling into the adjoining
properties
Response: The repainting of the exterior was approved under D/2017/1538 and
is not a matter which is the subject of the subject application.

(g)

The proposed use of the existing waste facilities is inadequate
Response: The proposal will not result in any additional floor space and so the
requirements for waste will not change from that as approved under
D/2017/1538. It is of note that the waste requirements for the site were
substantially changed from previous arrangements under the 2017 approval to
accommodate the increased occupation of the site.

(h)

The addition is inappropriate to the heritage significance of the building
Response: A complete assessment of the heritage impacts has been provided
above with the proposal considered to be in keeping with the objectives of the
heritage provisions within the planning controls.

(i)

The operation/population of the site once complete has not been explained
Response: The operation of the site to change from a warehouse to an office
was approved under a previous consent. The subject application cannot consider
the operation of the site as a whole, only the works proposed.

(j)

Impacts from the construction of the proposal including communication with
neighbours the full program of works
Response: There is no requirement within the planning provisions for this level
of communication with the surrounding residents. It is recommended that
concerned resident's discuss the matter with the builder or Principal Certifier to
arrange an acceptable outcome for all parties.

(k)

Risk of anti-social behaviour
Response: The proposal does not involve the sale of alcohol with the use of the
building and terrace restricted to 7am to 10pm Monday to Friday. Antisocial
behaviour is not anticipated.

Public Interest
61.

It is considered that the proposal will have no detrimental effect on the public interest,
subject to appropriate conditions being proposed.

32

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

S7.11 Contribution
62.

The development is subject of a S7.11 contribution under the provisions of the City of
Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2015. However, as the works will not result in
an increase to the gross floor area from the existing situation and therefore no new
increase in the worker population, no contributions are payable for the subject
application.

63.

It is noted that S7.11 contributions were applied under the previous application
D/2017/1538 for the change of use.

Relevant Legislation
64.

The Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979.

Conclusion
65.

The application seeks consent for the demolition of and replacement of the existing
mezzanine level with a fourth storey addition, relocation of plant, new roof terraces and
minor internal works to the existing office building.

66.

The proposal has been amended and additional information has been supplied during
the assessment of the application to address preliminary concerns relating to the
proposed rear roof terrace, location of the plant and impacts to the contributory
building within the conservation area.

67.

The application results in a breach 3.65m or a 30% to the 12m building height
development standard. The applicant has submitted a Clause 4.6 variation to height
under the Sydney LEP 2012. The requested variation to the height development
standard is upheld in this instance because the consent authority is satisfied that the
applicant's amended written request has adequately addressed the matters required to
be addressed by Clause 4.6 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and the
proposed development would be in the public interest because it is consistent with the
objectives of Clause 4.3 Height of Buildings and B4 Mixed Use zone. It is considered
that strict compliance with the height of buildings development standard is
unreasonable or unnecessary in this instance.

68.

The application results in a breach of 771.5m or 44% to the 1.75:1 FSR development
standard. Although the proposed development results in the creation of some new
floor space the total quantum of floor space resulting from the development will be no
greater than that of the existing building.

69.

The applicant has submitted a Clause 4.6 variation to FSR under the Sydney LEP
2012. The requested variation to the FSR development standard is upheld in this
instance because the consent authority is satisfied that the applicant's amended
written request has adequately addressed the matters required to be addressed by
Clause 4.6 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and the proposed
development would be in the public interest because it is consistent with the objectives
of Clause 4.4 Floor Space Ratio and B4 Mixed Use zone. It is considered that strict
compliance with the FSR development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in
this instance

70.

Overall, the amended proposal generally consistent with the objective, standards and
guidelines of the relevant planning controls, subject to conditions.

33

Local Planning Panel

71.

20 February 2019

Accordingly, the Development Application is recommended for approval, subject to
conditions.

GRAHAM JAHN, AM
Director City Planning, Development and Transport
Jemima Royall, Specialist Planner

34

Attachment A
Recommended Conditions of Consent

35

CONDITIONS OF CONSENT
SCHEDULE 1A
APPROVED DEVELOPMENT/DESIGN MODIFICATIONS/ COVENANTS AND
CONTRIBUTIONS/ USE AND OPERATION
Note: Some conditions in Schedule 1A are to be satisfied prior to issue of a Construction
Certificate and some are to be satisfied prior to issue of Occupation Certificate, where
indicated.

(1)

APPROVED DEVELOPMENT
(a)

Development must be in accordance with Development Application No.
D/2018/1097 dated 13 September 2018 and the following drawings prepared
by SJB Architects:
Drawing Number

Drawing Name

Date

WD-0200 Revision B

Proposed Ground Floor Area
Plan

Undated

WD-0201 Revision B Proposed First Floor Area Plan

Undated

WD-0202 Revision B Proposed Second Floor Area
Plan

Undated

WD-0203 Revision B Proposed Mezzanine Floor
Area Plan

Undated

WD-0204 Revision B Proposed Roof Area Plan

Undated

WD-0700 Revision B

Proposed South and North
Elevations

Undated

WD-0701 Revision B

Proposed East and West
Elevations

Undated

WD-0801 Revision B

Proposed Sections

Undated

WD-0802 Revision B

Terrace and Mezzanine
Section

Undated

WD-0900 Revision B

Proposed Mezzanine Wall and
Floor Details

Undated

and as amended by the conditions of this consent.
(b)

In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and
supplementary documentation, the drawings will prevail.

36

(2)

DESIGN MODIFICATIONS
The design of the building must be modified as follows:
(a)

The rooftop addition and all associated structures are to be setback a
minimum of 600mm from the external face of the southern wall below.

A detailed section and updated elevations are to be submitted to and approved by
Council’s Area Planning Manager prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate.
(3)

(4)

BUILDING HEIGHT
(a)

The height of the building must not exceed RL 32.90 (AHD) to the top of the
building.

(b)

Prior to an Occupation Certificate being issued, a Registered Surveyor must
provide certification that the height of the building accords with (a) above, to
the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier.

TERRACE HOURS OF OPERATION - SENSITIVE USES
The hours of operation of the roof terrace are regulated as follows:

(5)

(a)

The hours of operation of the roof terrace must be restricted to between
7:00am and 8:00pm Monday to Friday.

(b)

Notwithstanding (a) above, the use of the terrace may operate between
8:00pm and 10:00pm for a trial period of 12 months from the date of issue
of the Occupation Certificate. Council’s Planning Assessments Unit is to be
informed in writing of the date of commencement of the trial hours. Email
notification is to be sent to DAsubmissions@cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au

(c)

A further application may be lodged to continue the operating hours outlined
in (b) above not less than 30 days before the end of the trial period. Council’s
consideration of a proposed continuation and/or extension of the hours
permitted by the trial will be based on, among other things, the performance
of the operator in relation to the compliance with development consent
conditions, any substantiated complaints received and any views expressed
by the Police.

MAXIMUM CAPACITY OF PERSONS ON TERRACE
The maximum number of persons permitted on the outdoor roof terrace at any one
time is 166 persons.

(6)

MATERIALS AND SAMPLES SCHEDULE – MINOR DEVELOPMENT
A detailed materials, colours and finishes schedule (including visible rainwater
goods and services) keyed to each building elevation must be submitted to and
approved by Area Planning Manager prior to a Construction Certificate being
issued. The materials and samples board must not include generic material or
colour descriptions, or use terminology such as ‘or similar’.

37

(7)

AIR CONDITIONERS GENERALLY
No air-conditioning equipment is to be visible from the public domain. Equipment
and associated wiring shall:

(8)

(a)

Not be located on awnings or attached to the face of the building

(b)

Not be located on roofs in such a way that it is visible from any street,
footpath or park

(c)

Be visually screened if located 1.8 metres above ground level in other
locations

(d)

Wiring shall be fully concealed.

REFLECTIVITY
The Principal Certifier must ensure that the visible light reflectivity from building
materials used on the facade of the building does not exceed 20% prior to issue
of the Construction Certificate.

(9)

COMPLIANCE WITH THE ACOUSTIC REPORT PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION
AND OR OCCUPATION CERTIFICATES
(a)

All performance parameters, requirements, engineering assumptions and
recommendations contained in the acoustic report prepared by Wood &
Grieve Engineers dated 15/1/18, ref 38720, titled 29-43 Balfour Street,
Chippendale Acoustic Report, Council Ref 2019/026426 and must be
implemented as part of the detailed design assessment and implemented
into the design drawings prior to the commencement of the use of the
premises in accordance with the requirements of (b) and (c) below and to
the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier.

(b)

Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate, the construction drawings and
construction methodology must be assessed and certified by a suitably
qualified acoustic consultant* (see definition below) to be in accordance with
the requirements of the DA acoustic report set out below. Specifically, the
consultant will prepare a written Acoustic Certification Report with reference
to drawings, to the satisfaction of the Principal Certifier.

(c)

Prior to the issue of an Occupation Certificate, a suitable qualified acoustic
consultant is to provide a written Acoustic Verification Report to the
satisfaction of the Principal Certifier that the development complies with the
requirements set out in the Report and in (a) and (b) above.
Note: Suitably qualified Acoustic Consultant means a consultant who
possesses the qualifications to render them eligible for membership of the
Australian Acoustics Society, Institution of Engineers Australia or the
Association of Australian Acoustic Consultants at the grade of member.

(10) NOISE – COMMERCIAL PLANT / INDUSTRIAL DEVELOPMENT
(a)

Noise from commercial plant and industrial development must not exceed a
project amenity/intrusiveness noise level or maximum noise level in
accordance with relevant requirements of the NSW EPA Noise Policy for

38

Industry 2017 (NPfI) unless agreed to by the City’s Area Planning Manager.
Further:

(b)

(c)

(i)

Background noise monitoring must be carried out in accordance with
the long-term methodology in Fact Sheet B of the NPfI unless
otherwise agreed by the City’s Area Planning Manager.

(ii)

Commercial plant is limited to heating, ventilation, air conditioning,
refrigeration and energy generation equipment.

An LAeq,15 minute (noise level) emitted from the development must not exceed
the LA90, 15 minute (background noise level) by more than 3dB when assessed
inside any habitable room of any affected residence or noise sensitive
commercial premises at any time. Further:
(i)

The noise level and the background noise level shall both be measured
with all external doors and windows of the affected residence closed.

(ii)

Background noise measurements must not include noise from the
development but may include noise from necessary ventilation at the
affected premise.

Corrections in Fact Sheet C of the NPfI are applicable to relevant noise from
the development measured in accordance with this condition, however
duration corrections are excluded from commercial noise.

39

SCHEDULE 1B
PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATE/COMMENCEMENT OF WORK/HEALTH AND
BUILDING
(11) ASBESTOS REMOVAL WORKS
(a)

All works removing asbestos containing materials must be carried out by a
suitably licensed asbestos removalist duly licensed with Safework NSW,
holding either a Friable (Class A) or a Non- Friable (Class B) Asbestos
Removal Licence which ever applies.
A copy of the relevant licence shall be made available to any authorised
Council officer on request within 24 hours.

(b)

Five days prior to the commencement of licensed asbestos removal,
Safework NSW must be formally notified of the works. All adjoining
properties and those opposite the development must be notified in writing of
the dates and times when asbestos removal is to be conducted. The
notification must identify the licensed asbestos removal contractor and
include a contact person for the site together with telephone number and
email address.

(c)

All work must be carried out in accordance with the Work Health and Safety
Regulation 2011 and the NSW Government and Work Cover document
entitled How to manage and control asbestos in the work place: Code of
Practice (Safework NSW) December 2011 and the City of Sydney Managing
Asbestos Policy dated 21 October 2013 and associated guidelines.

(d)

The asbestos removalist must use signs and barricades to clearly indicate
the area where the asbestos removal work is being performed. Signs must
be placed in positions so that people are aware of where the asbestos
removal work area is and should remain in place until removal is completed
and clearance to reoccupy has been granted. Responsibilities for the
security and safety of the asbestos removal site and removal must be
specified in the asbestos removal control plan (where required). This
includes inaccessible areas that are likely to contain asbestos.

(e)

Warning signs must be placed so they inform all people nearby that asbestos
removal work is taking place in the area. Signs must be placed at all of the
main entry points to the asbestos removal work area where asbestos is
present. These signs must be weatherproof, constructed of light-weight
material and adequately secured so they remain in prominent locations. The
signs must be in accordance with AS 1319 -1994 Safety Signs for the
Occupational Environment for size, illumination, location and maintenance.

(f)

Asbestos waste must only be transported and disposed of at an EPA
licensed waste facility.

(g)

No asbestos products are to be reused on the site (i.e. packing pieces,
spacers, formwork or fill etc).

(h)

No asbestos laden skips or bins are to be left in any public place without the
written approval of Council.

40

(i)

A site notice board must be located at the main entrance to the site in a
prominent position and must have minimum dimensions of 841mm x 594mm
(A1) with any text on the notice to be a minimum of 30 point type size.
The site notice board must include the following:
(i)

contact person for the site;

(ii)

telephone and facsimile numbers and email address; and

(iii)

site activities and time frames.

(12) EXTERNAL WALLS AND CLADDING FLAMMABILITY
The external walls of the building including attachments must comply with the
relevant requirements of the National Construction Code (NCC). Prior to the issue
of a Construction Certificate and Occupation Certificate the Principal Certifier
must:
(a)

Be satisfied that suitable evidence is provided to demonstrate that the
products and systems proposed for use or used in the construction of
external walls including finishes and claddings such as synthetic or
aluminium composite panels comply with the relevant requirements of the
NCC; and

(b)

Ensure that the documentation relied upon in the approval processes include
an appropriate level of detail to demonstrate compliance with the NCC as
proposed and as built.

(13) FLASHINGS TO BOUNDARY WALLS
A flashing must be provided to prevent water entering between the proposed and
existing external boundary walls of the adjoining properties.
Note: Attachments or connections to party walls may require the consent of the
adjoining property owner/s.
(14) LANDSCAPING OF THE SITE
(a)

A detailed landscape plan, drawn to scale, by a qualified landscape architect
or landscape designer, must be submitted to and approved by Council’s
Area Planning Manager prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate for
above ground building works. The plan must include:
(i)

Location of existing and proposed structures on the site including, but
not limited to, existing and proposed trees, paved areas, planted areas
on slab, lighting and other features;

(ii)

Details of earthworks and soil depths including mounding and retaining
walls and planter boxes (if applicable). The minimum soil depths for
planting on slab must be 1000mm for trees, 450mm for shrubs and
200mm for groundcovers;

(iii)

Location, numbers, type and supply of plant species, with reference to
NATSPEC (if applicable);

41

(iv)

Details of planting procedure and maintenance;

(v)

Details of drainage, waterproofing and watering systems.

(b)

Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate, a maintenance plan is to be
submitted to and approved by the Principal Certifier. The maintenance plan
is to be complied with during occupation of the property.

(c)

All landscaping in the approved plan is to be completed prior to an
Occupation Certificate being issued.

(15) INTERNAL LIGHTING SYSTEM
The proposed internal lighting system for the commercial office spaces must be
designed to provide for the efficient use of energy including the use of energy
efficient light fittings, zoned lighting and controls and sensors to ensure automatic
switch off during non-working hours. Details of the internal lighting system must
be submitted to and approved by the Principal Certifier prior to a Construction
Certificate being issued.
(16) SYDNEY WATER CERTIFICATE (TAP-IN)
(a)

The approved plans must be submitted to Sydney Water's "Tap-in" online
service to determine whether the development will affect Sydney Water’s
sewer and water mains, stormwater drains and/or easements, and if further
requirements need to be met. Sydney Water's "Tap-in" online service is
available at www.sydneywater.com.au, (see Plumbing, Building &
Development and then Sydney Water "Tap-in").

(b)

The Consent Authority or a Principal Certifier must ensure that Sydney
Water has appropriately stamped the plans before the commencement of
work.

(17) UTILITY SERVICES
To ensure that utility authorities are advised of the development:
(a)

Prior to the issue of a Construction Certificate a survey is to be carried out
of all utility services within and adjacent to the site including relevant
information from utility authorities and excavation if necessary, to determine
the position and level of services.

(b)

Prior to the commencement of work the applicant is to obtain written
approval from the utility authorities (e.g. Energy Australia, Sydney Water,
and Telecommunications Carriers) in connection with the relocation and/or
adjustment of the services affected by the construction of the underground
structure. Any costs in the relocation, adjustment or support of services are
to be the responsibility of the developer.

(18) VENTILATION MINOR WORKS
The premises must be ventilated in accordance with the Building Code of Australia
and AS1668.1-1998 and AS1668.2-1991.

42

(19) STRUCTURAL CERTIFICATION FOR EXISTING BUILDING – ALTERATIONS
AND ADDITIONS
A qualified practising certified structural engineer must provide structural
certification to Council (where Council is the Principal Certifier) verifying that the
existing structure can adequately support the proposed new loads and the
structural design complies with the Structural Provisions of Part B1 (Vol 1) and
Part 2.1 (Vol 2) of the Building Code of Australia prior to a Construction Certificate
being issued. The proposed additional loads and/or alterations must not cause a
decrease in the existing structural performance of the building including its
performance under earthquake actions (AS1170.4).

43

SCHEDULE 1C
DURING CONSTRUCTION/PRIOR TO OCCUPATION/COMPLETION

(20) HOURS OF WORK AND NOISE – OUTSIDE CBD
The hours of construction and work on the development must be as follows:
(a)

All work, including building/demolition and excavation work, and activities in
the vicinity of the site generating noise associated with preparation for the
commencement of work (eg. loading and unloading of goods, transferring of
tools etc) in connection with the proposed development must only be carried
out between the hours of 7.30am and 5.30pm on Mondays to Fridays,
inclusive, and 7.30am and 3.30pm on Saturdays, with safety inspections
being permitted at 7.00am on work days, and no work must be carried out
on Sundays or public holidays.

(b)

All work, including demolition, excavation and building work must comply
with the City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992
and Australian Standard 2436 - 2010 Guide to Noise Control on
Construction, Maintenance and Demolition Sites.

(c)

Notwithstanding the above, the use of a crane for special operations,
including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant and equipment and
erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which warrant the on-street
use of mobile cranes outside of above hours can occur, subject to a permit
being issued by Council under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993
and/or Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993.

Note: Works may be undertaken outside of hours, where it is required to avoid the
loss of life, damage to property, to prevent environmental harm and/or to avoid
structural damage to the building. Written approval must be given by the
Construction Regulation Unit, prior to works proceeding
The City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 allows
extended working hours subject to the approval of an application in accordance
with the Code and under Section 4.55 of the Environmental Planning and
Assessment Act 1979.
(21) ENCROACHMENTS – NEIGHBOURING PROPERTIES
No portion of the proposed structure shall encroach onto the adjoining properties.
(22) ENCROACHMENTS – PUBLIC WAY
No portion of the proposed structure, including gates and doors during opening
and closing operations, shall encroach upon Council’s footpath area.
(23) SURVEY
All walls and floor slabs adjacent to a boundary must be set out by a registered
surveyor. On commencement of brickwork or wall construction a survey and
report, prepared by a Registered Surveyor, must be submitted to the Principal
Certifier indicating the position of external walls in relation to the boundaries of the

44

allotment. Any encroachments by the subject building over adjoining boundaries
or roads must be removed prior to continuation of building construction work.
(24) SURVEY CERTIFICATE AT COMPLETION
A Survey Certificate prepared by a Registered Surveyor must be submitted at the
completion of the building work certifying the location of the building in relation to
the boundaries of the allotment.
(25) OCCUPATION CERTIFICATE TO BE SUBMITTED
An Occupation Certificate must be obtained from the Principal Certifier and a copy
submitted to Council prior to commencement of occupation or use of the whole or
any part of a new building, an altered portion of, or an extension to an existing
building.
(26) LOADING AND UNLOADING DURING CONSTRUCTION
The following requirements apply:
(a)

All loading and unloading associated with construction activity must be
accommodated on site, where possible.

(b)

If, it is not feasible for loading and unloading to take place on site, a Works
Zone on the street may be considered by Council.

(c)

A Works Zone may be required if loading and unloading is not possible on
site. If a Works Zone is warranted an application must be made to Council
at least 8 weeks prior to commencement of work on the site. An approval for
a Works Zone may be given for a specific period and certain hours of the
days to meet the particular need for the site for such facilities at various
stages of construction. The approval will be reviewed periodically for any
adjustment necessitated by the progress of the construction activities.

(d)

Where hoisting activity over the public place is proposed to be undertaken
including hoisting from a Works Zone, a separate approval under Section 68
of the Local Government Act 1993 must be obtained.

(27) NO OBSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC WAY
The public way must not be obstructed by any materials, vehicles, refuse, skips or
the like, under any circumstances. Non-compliance with this requirement will result
in the issue of a notice by Council to stop all work on site.
(28) USE OF MOBILE CRANES
The following requirements apply:
(a)

Mobile cranes operating from the road must not be used as a method of
demolishing or constructing a building.

(b)

For special operations including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant
and equipment and erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which
warrant the on-street use of mobile cranes, permits must be obtained from
Council for the use of a mobile crane. The permits must be obtained 48 hours

45

beforehand for partial road closures which, in the opinion of Council will
create minimal traffic disruptions and 4 weeks beforehand in the case of full
road closures and partial road closures which, in the opinion of Council, will
create significant traffic disruptions.
(c)

The use of a crane for special operations, including the delivery of materials,
hoisting of plant and equipment and erection and dismantling of on site tower
cranes which warrant the on-street use of mobile cranes outside of approved
hours of construction can occur, subject to a permit being issued by Council
under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 and/or Section 138 of
the Roads Act 1993.

46

Attachment B
Selected Drawings

47

48

Scale
1:200 @ A3

0

2

6

8

7

WC

WC

FL17.30
7

6

CH20.49
H

LOBBY
B

Revision number
[B]

FL16.93

PUMPHOUSE

FL17.22

CH21.41

LIFT

CH 0 73
CH20.73

LIFT SERVICES

FL17.32

CH20.74

E P
D

X.

5

CH21.12
2

5

.
EX P
D

3620

FL17.35

DOWN

WC

CH20.36

CH20.60
C

Project number
810100

CH20.76
6

LIGHTWELL

FL17.35

CH21.52

CH19.26

STORE

CH20.15

CH20.36

CH20.36

4157

STORE

CH20.84
0

Drawing number
WD-0100

FL16.99

FL17.22
FL1
FL17
F
17 22
2
ROLLER DOOR

CH20.51
H2 .51

6

ROLLER DOOR

FL16.92

CH21.02
2

RAMP
RA
A

FL17.29

CH20.85

STORE

FL17.25

CH20.35
CH2
H20.35
0

STORE
STOR
ORE
R
CH20.19
C
CH2
H20.19
0

CH20.77

FL17.24

.

1308

4

4

20.75M

2654

25.24M

FL17.41

CH21.00

CH20.52

3

.
EX P
D

.D
EX P
.D
P

EX

.
EX P
D

Client
MH Chippendale Pty Ltd

3508

FL16.73

2

1

11.83M

ROLLER DOOR

SJB Interiors
Level 4, 18 Oliver Lane,
Melbourne VIC 3000
T. 61 3 9686 2122
sjb.com.au

1857°55'25"

FL16.57

FL16.68

STORE

CH19.83

10.63M

1

CH20.50
H

CH21.06

GARAGE

CH21.06

CH20.69

CH21.05

2
CH20.70

CH19.07

STORE

FL16.48

CH20.81

186°28'25"

CH20 8
CH20.82

2

CH21.06
CH2
21.06
6

CH21.08

STORE

CH19.93

FL17.98
FL
F
L17
L17.9
L
7.98
98
8

BATH

CH20.52
CH
C
H
2

LIGHTWELL

CH20.74

Project address
29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale NSW

1857°55'25"

RETAIL

FL17.36

CH20.93

FL17.39

6°28'25""

3

LANE
V
BITUMEN SERVICE

6333

20.785
2

10

8

EX

14.89M

7

RL20.72

4

30.57M

.
EX P
D

RETAIL

FL17.25

CH20.74
4

7° 50' 25"

6712

CH20.69

A

RAMP
A P
AM

8

CH18.57

B

FL16.31
FL
6.3

3214

CH19 46
CH19.46

C

D

E

F

G

Existing Ground Floor Plan

5607

3852

ROLLER DOOR

276°51'55"

4710

1.1

Existing Conditions

CH19.44
H 44

1512

DP

CH21.36

25
2
97° 05' 25"

2404

6.985M
CH19.75
5

STORE

STORE

FL16.62

CH19.84

CH19.51

FL16.61

CH19.85

FL16.54

CH20.80
0

.

EX

DP

97° 10' 25"
M
3.1
3 0M

2920

90°32'25"

901

90°32'25"
20.01M
13
9°
1. 13'
61 25
5 "

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

2.5:1

2480.88m²

TOTAL BUILDING AREA:
FSR:

761.59m²
770.35m²
777.37m²
171.57m²

981.30m²
GROUND:
FIRST:
SECOND:
MEZZANINE:

SITE AREA:

49

0

2

6

8

10

6

STORE
T

5

Project number
810100

OFFICE

WC
W

CH24.90
CH2
C
H24.90
H2
2

5

CH24.01
CH24.01
CH
24 01
1

Revision number
[B]

CH25.00

CH24.00
FL21.74

CPD

LIFT
F

CH25.00
0

Drawing number
WD-0101

7

LIGHTWELL

FL21.71

CH25.70

STORE

CH25.04

CH24.95

WC

CH24.94

4157

CH25.00
0

4

8

FL21.74

CH25.00

HOOD

CH24.45
4

KITCHEN
H

6

CH25.00

1308

CH24.96

7

STORE

A

14.89M

WAREHOUSE

FL21.76

CH25.03

7° 50' 25"

6712

CH23 80
CH23.80

B

8

6.985M

C

3214
3620

4

4

20.75M

2654

25.24M

CH25.15

AUDIO

CH24.08

3

GHTWELL
LIGHTWELL

WC

C
CH23.64
6

Client
MH Chippendale Pty Ltd

186°28'25"

3508

2

SJB Interiors
Level 4, 18 Oliver Lane,
Melbourne VIC 3000
T. 61 3 9686 2122
sjb.com.au

1

11.83M

FL21.24

WC
C

WAREHOUSE

FL21.27

CH24.47

KITCHEN
K
IT
TC

CH
CH23.96

STORE

FL21.15

CH24.71

10.63M

1

C
CH23.98
.

1857°55'25"

CH24.26
4 6

2

Project address
29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale NSW

1857°55'25"

CH25.04

STORE

FL21.69

CH25.49

CH25.52

6°28'25""

3

LANE
V
BITUMEN SERVICE

6333

20.785

D

E

F

G

Existing First Floor Plan

Scale
1:200 @ A3

1.2

Existing Conditions

5607

3852

4710

276°51'55"

5 25"
5'
97° 05'

1512

CH23.38

2404

97° 10' 25"
9
CH24.85

3 0M
3.1

2920

90°32'25"

901

90°32'25"
20.01M
13
9°
1. 13'
61 25
5 "

30.57M

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

0

A

B

C

D

E

6

8

30.57M

4

CH28.46

10

.
EX P
D

8

OFFICE

FL25.87

CH29.41

STORE

CH29.43

CH28.47

OFFICE
C

FL25.88
8

CH28.46
4

OFFICE

CH28.44
4

CH28.45
8.45
45
45

FL25.85

WC

WC
C

L

CO

CH28.46

CH28.44
28.4
44
4
4

CH28
CH28.45
2 5

CH30.57
3
FL25.84

C
WD-0802

DISPLAY

FL25.88

CH28.47

IDD
VO
.
EX OL
C

WC

CH28.44

.
EX OL
C

STORE
O

CH29.15

UP

7

WC

WC

CH28.42

CH28.38

CH28.42

LIGHTWELL

FL25.85

CH28.72

CH28.55

FL25.85
2

6

OFFICE

FL25.87

CH29.75
5

CH30.27
H

CH28.34

WC

CH29.10

4157

5

E P
D

X.

Project number
810100

5

.
EX P
D

CH28.37
7

CH30.20
0

LIFT

OPENING TO BE
CH30.43 BRICKED UP

.
EX OL
C

L
CO

Drawing number
WD-0102
Revision number
[B]

FL25.87

CH28.45

UP

.39

28

CH

CH28.36

6

REMOVE
M
EXISTING
BARN DOORS.
MAKE GOOD TO
M
ALL SURFACES

1308

CH28.58
8

.
EX OL
C

EXISTING COLUMNS TO
BE DEMOLISHED REFER
TO ENGINEERS
DRAWINGS FOR DETAILS

EXISTING TIMBER FLOOR

DISPLAY

E
DP X.

14.89M

CH29.83

7° 50' 25"

6712

7

CH28.12

2

A
WD-0801

B
WD-0801

F

G

RETAIN EXISTING TIMBER
FLOOR STRUCTURE &
FLOORING

Existing Second Floor Plan

Scale
1:200 @ A3

1.3

3214

EX

.

C
WD-0802

.

8

D
WD-0802

4

DISPLAY

F
WD-0802

OFFICE
OF
FICE

FL 5.8
FL25.81

CH29.51
CH
9.51

FL25.84

CH29.53

D
WD-0802

4

CH2 .5
CH29.50
FL25.81
L2 8

20.75M

2654

3

LIGHTWELL

BATH

FL25.35

CH27 7
CH27.74
C

.
EX

.
EX

Client
MH Chippendale Pty Ltd

FL25.22

CH29.22
22
2

STORE

10.63M

1

CH
CH29.40
H

1

11.83M

CO

CO

L

L

EXISTING
TIMBER FLOOR
EX
XISTING
T

DISPLAY

FL25.22

CH29.14

KITCHEN
TC
TC

SJB Interiors
Level 4, 18 Oliver Lane,
Melbourne VIC 3000
T. 61 3 9686 2122
sjb.com.au

E
WD-0802

1857°55'25"

2

E
WD-0802

186°28'25"

3508

PHOTOGRAPHY

P
UP

2

Project address
29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale NSW

TIMBER FLOOR
STRUCTURE TO BE
CAREFULLY REMOVED
FOR NEW STRUCTURE
AND STAIRS

25.24M

OFFICE
OF
IC

FL 5.8
FL25.81

OFFICE
O
FICE

CH29.50
CH
9. 0

FL 5.8
FL25.81

.
EX P
D

STORE

CH29.49
CH
9.49

CH29.53

PHOTOCOPY

CH29.53

1857°55'25"

CH33.01
3

.D
EX P
.D
P

EX

KITCHEN

CH29.54

EXISTING TIMBER FLOOR

FL25.83

CH29.49

6°28'25""

3

LANE
V
BITUMEN SERVICE

6333

DEMOLISH EXISTING
X
TREADS &
INTERMEDIATE
T LANDING BETWEEN
FLOOR LEVELS.
L MAKE GOOD TO
ALL SURFACES
E TO PREPARE FOR
NEW STAIRCASE
C

REMOVE EXISTING
WINDOWS

3620

F
WD-0802

1070
2850

Existing Conditions

5607

3852

4710

1512

CH28.00

2404

EX
CH28.38

2920

402
4016

50
20.785

901

CH28.06
5570
5
570 - V
VARIES
R ES
S COS
CO

CH27.94
H 94

.

276°51'55"

97° 05' 25"
DP

N
DOWN

DP

FL25.04

CH29.38
8

STORE

FL25.21

CH29.10

DOWN

DP

CH28.15

EX

DP

.

6.985M
EX

97° 10' 25"

M
3 0M
3.1

.

90°32'25"

EX

90°32'25"
20.01M
13
9°
1. 13'
61 25
5 "

RETAIN EXISTING TIMBER
FLOOR STRUCTURE &
FLOORING

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

A
WD-0801

B
WD-0801

1.4

0

2

A

B

4

6

8

10

CH3
CH30.79

8

5
4

7

7

4157

CH31.71
C
H31.7

CH3
CH32.03
C
H32
2.03
3

6

LIFT
OVERRUN

CH30.99
CH
0. 9

5
H G T 1.52
AL HEIGHT
WALL
W

5

5

3620

F
WD-0802
D
WD-0802

4

F
WD-0802

D
WD-0802

4

6°28'25"

3

20.75M

2654

3

20.785
2

Client
MH Chippendale Pty Ltd

E
WD-0802

1

SJB Interiors
Level 4, 18 Oliver Lane,
Melbourne VIC 3000
T. 61 3 9686 2122
sjb.com.au

E
WD-0802

10.63M

1

11.83M

186°28'25"

3508

1857°55'25"

Project address
29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale NSW

25.24M

EXISTING BOXED GUTTER

2

REMOVE PARAPET
AROUND LIGHTWELL
ALLOW FOR NEW ROOFING
OVER EXISTING LIGHTWELL

BITUMEN SERVICE LANE

6333

EXISTING PARAPET WALL

1857°55'25"

ALLOW FOR LOCAL DEMOLITION
OF ROOF GUTTER TO SUIT NEW
MEZZANINE LAYOUT REFER DWG
NO. WD-0203

Project number
810100

RETAIN EXISTING LIFT
OVERRUN FOR NEW
LIFT. REFER TO
CONSULTANT DWGS

6

L GHTW
LIGHTWELL
WELL /
TERRACE
T RRAC

DEMOLI H ARE
DEMOLISH
RE
REQUIRED
RE
QU RED - ENSURE
ENSUR
THAT
TH T WALL
WA L ALIGNS
ALIGNS
WITH
STAIR
WITH THE
T E FIRE
RE ST
AIR
WAL BELOW.
B LOW
WALL

EXISTING PARAPET WALL

1308

6

ELL

Drawing number
WD-0103
Revision number
[B]

CH30.90
C
H3 90

DISPLAY
DI
SPLA
AY

FL28 84
FL28.84

CH31.92
H3 .92

W
DOWN
D

C 32 1
CH32
CH3
CH32.17
17

CH31.83
H3 .8

D SPLA
DISPLAY
P AY

FL28.84
L2 .8

CH31. 6
CH31.06

14.89M

C
WD-0802

EXISTING PARAPET WALL

ENTIRE ROOFING AND
ROOF STRUCTURE TO
BE DEMOLISHED

CH32 8
C
CH32.18

APEX CH
APEX
CH33.90
H 3.90
CH32.17
H32.1

FL28.85
FL
8. 5

C 31 90
CH31.90
CH

3

REMOVE EXISTING TIMBER
FLOOR STRUCTURE

ENTIRE ROOFING AND
ROOF STRUCTURE TO
BE DEMOLISHED

EXISTING PARAPET WALL

7° 50' 25"

6712

C
WD-0802

TW

Scale
1:200 @ A3

A
WD-0801

D

Existing FSR
2.5 :1
(Approved is 1.75:1)

DISPLAY
DISPLAY
D
Y

FL28.84
FL
8.84

CH31.96
C
31 96

CH33 21
CH33.21
C 33 21
CH33.21

CH31.98
C
H3 98

2

DISPLAY
DISPLAY
D
Y

FL28.85
FL
8.85

CH31.04
CH
31. 4

3214

8

97° 05' 25"

C

E

B
WD-0801

F

Floor to Ceiling Height
Centre of roof: 3.15m
Perimeter max.: 2.22m
Perimeter min.: 1.95m

Floor

G

1

Existing Mezzanine Floor Plan

Existing Conditions

5607

3852

4710

Existing Gross
Area
171.57m2

51
IGH

1512

DO
DOWN
OWN

GL

2404

TIN

2920

276°51'55"
EXIS

901

1370
13
0

6.985M

2 40
2040

97° 10' 25"
EXISTING BOXED GUTTER

90°32'25"
NOTE:
REMOVE ALL EXISTING PLANT AND
MECHANICAL EQUIPMENT AND MAKE
GOOD TO ALL SURFACES

90°32'25"
20.01M
13
9°
1. 13'
61 25
5 "

3.10M

30.57M

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

A
WD-0801

B
WD-0801

0

2

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

Existing Roof Plan

Scale
1:200 @ A3

1.6

Existing Conditions

5607

3852

4710

52

1512

4

6

8

276°51'55"

2404

10

3214

8

8

ENTIRE ROOFING AND
ROOF STRUCTURE TO
BE DEMOLISHED

EXISTING GLAZED SKYLIGHT

7° 50' 25"

6712

7

6

6

1308

5

5

6.985M

Project number
810100

EXISTING LIGHTWELL

4157
3620

4

4

20.75M

2654

25.24M

3

2

Client
MH Chippendale Pty Ltd

REFER TO DRAWING
NO. WD-0103 FOR
DEMOLITION NOTES

10.63M

1

SJB Interiors
Level 4, 18 Oliver Lane,
Melbourne VIC 3000
T. 61 3 9686 2122
sjb.com.au

1

11.83M

186°28'25"

3508

1857°55'25"

2

Project address
29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale NSW

1857°55'25"

6°28'25"

3

BITUMEN SERVICE LANE

6333

20.785

Drawing number
WD-0104
Revision number
[B]

14.89M

7

97° 10' 25"
97° 05' 25"

2920

90°32'25"

901

90°32'25"
20.01M
13
9°
1. 13'
61 25
5 "

3.10M

30.57M
A

B

C

D

E

F

G

53

SJB

Aerial View of Site

Existing Conditions

29-43 Balfour Street

11

54

Scale
1:200 @ A3

Location Plan

0

2

4

6

8

10

Existing Elevations - South and South

Location Plan

1.7

Existing Conditions

Drawing number
WD - 0110
Revision number
[B]

Project number
810100

Client
MH Chippendale Pty Ltd

Project address
29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale NSW

SJB Interiors
Level 4, 18 Oliver Lane,
Melbourne VIC 3000
T. 61 3 9686 2122
sjb.com.au

Extent of existing Mezzanine

55

Scale
1:200 @ A3

Location Plan

0

2

4

6

8

10

Existing Elevations - East and West

Location Plan

1.8

Existing Conditions

Drawing number
WD-0111
Revision number
[-]

Project number
810100

Client
MH Chippendale Pty Ltd

Project address
29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale NSW

SJB Interiors
Level 4, 18 Oliver Lane,
Melbourne VIC 3000
T. 61 3 9686 2122
sjb.com.au

Extent of existing Mezzanine

Extent of existing Mezzanine

0

2

4

6

A

B

C

D

E

8

10

7° 50' 25"

C
WD-0802

14.89M

Revision number
[B]

Drawing number
WD-0200

WORKSTATIONS
KS
S
G
G.04

8

190

WORKSTATIONS
K T
0
G.05

SUB STATION
A

4599

6

Project number
810100

7

5

STAIR 2 G.08
0

4157

LIFT

ELEC 1
G.02

5

ELEC 2 BINS
G.10
.10
G.09 G

EXISTING
LIGHTWELL
FILLED

FUTURE
U
FHR
R

1308

6

PUMP
P HOUSE
G.03
3

7

FHR

Scale
1:200 @ A3

A
WD-0801

B
WD-0801

F

G

Proposed Ground Floor Area Plan

6712

C
WD-0802

3620

F
WD-0802

CORR
G.13

6°28'25""

4

1857°55'25"

ST
AIR
1

25.24M

Client
MH Chippendale Pty Ltd

Project address
29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale NSW

D
WD-0802

ACCESS
AC
C
S
WC
W
CG
G.16
6

KITCHEN G.18

SHAFT

3

20.75M

2654

3

LANE
V
BITUMEN SERVICE

6333

RECEPTION G.19

CLNR
G.17

ENTRY G.01

F
WD-0802

4

FEMALE
A WC MALE WC G.14
G
G.12

D
WD-0802

2

E
WD-0802

E
WD-0802

1

WORKSTATIONS
G.20

10.63M

1

11.83M

186°28'25"

3508

1857°55'25"

2

SJB Interiors
Level 4, 18 Oliver Lane,
Melbourne VIC 3000
T. 61 3 9686 2122
sjb.com.au

0
20.785

All internal works to be carried out
under separate CDC

NOTE:

2.1

3214

8

CORRIDOR G.11

Proposal

5607

3852

4710

56

1512

276°51'55"

2404

97° 05' 25"

2920

6.985M
820
890 90MIN.

97° 10' 25"
CORRIDOR G.15
C

90°32'25"

901

90°32'25"
20.01M
13
9°
1. 13'
61 25
5 "

M
3.1
3 0M

30.57M

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

A
WD-0801

B
WD-0801

2487.76m²
2.5:1

FSR:

733.59m²
778.03m²
788.04m²
188.10m²

981.30m²

TOTAL BUILDING AREA:

GROUND:
FIRST:
SECOND:
MEZZANINE:

SITE AREA:

57

Scale
1:200 @ A3

0

2

4

6

8

Proposed First Floor Area Plan

10

A
WD-0801

B
WD-0801

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

Drawing number
WD-0201
Revision number
[B]

30.57M

All internal works to be carried out
under separate CDC

NOTE:

2.2

3214

C
WD-0802

WORKSTATIONS
1.04

WORKSTATIONS
W
1.05

7° 50' 25"
14.89M

C
WD-0802

6712

Project number
810100

8

8

7

7

LIFT
F

5

ELEC
2 BINS
EL
BIN
N
NS
1.03
1.02
1
1 02

STAIR 2 1.06

4157

5

F
WD-0802

Client
MH Chippendale Pty Ltd

4

CORRIDOR
1.08

4

CLNR
1.10

ACCESS
WC
WC
1.11

25.24M

SJB Interiors
Level 4, 18 Oliver Lane,
Melbourne VIC 3000
T. 61 3 9686 2122
sjb.com.au

1857°55'25"

VOI
VOID

ST
AIR
1

KITCHEN 1.01

SHAFT
SHA
FT

5"
25"
25
8'2
8'25
28'
28'2
°28
6°28'25"
6°2
6

3

5M
75M
75
0.
0.75
0.7
2
20
20.7
20.75M

2654

LANE
V
BITUMEN SERVICE

6333

FEMALE WC MALE WC 1.12
1.09

D
WD-0802

D
WD-0802

3620

F
WD-0802

Project address
29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale NSW

6

1308

6

CORRIDOR
1.07

Proposal

5607

3852

4710

1512

5M
6.985M
6. 85

2404

3

25"
5' 25
05'
97° 0
97°

2920

276°51'55"
FHR

25"
0' 25"
10'
97° 1
9
CORRIDOR
1.13

2

E
WD-0802

10.63M

1

E
WD-0802

1

11.83M

WORKSTATIONS
TO
1.13

186°28'25"

3508

1857°55'25"

2

90°32'25"

901

90°32'25"
0
30
3
230
2

20.01M
13
9°
1. 13'
61 25
5 "

3
3.10M

5
785
0.7
2
20.785

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

A
WD-0801

B
WD-0801

58

Scale
1:200 @ A3

0

2

4

6

8

10

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

8

Revision number
[B]

Drawing number
WD-0202

30.57M

All internal works to be carried out
under separate CDC

A
WD-0801

B
WD-0801

Proposed Second Floor Area Plan

5607

3852

4710

276°51'55"

NOTE:

2.3

3214

8

14.89M

Project number
810100

C
WD-0802

WORKSTATIONS
2.04

WORKSTATIONS
2.05

7° 50' 25"

6712

C
WD-0802

7

7

6

1308

6

FHR

5
F
WD-0802

4

CORRIDOR
2.08

4

Client
MH Chippendale Pty Ltd

ACCESS
WC 2.11

3

SJB Interiors
Level 4, 18 Oliver Lane,
Melbourne VIC 3000
T. 61 3 9686 2122
sjb.com.au

25.24M

KITCHEN 2.01

SHAFT

1857°55'25"

STAIR 1
STA

CLNR
2.10

6
6°28'25"

3

20.75M

2654

LANE
V
BITUMEN SERVICE

6333

FEMALE WC MALE WC 1.12
2.09

D
WD-0802

D
WD-0802

3620

F
WD-0802

Project address
29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale NSW

LIFT

ELEC 2 BINS
2.02
2.03

STAIR 2 2.06

4157

5

CORRIDOR 2.07

Proposal

6.985M

1512

97° 05' 25"

2404

2

E
WD-0802

E
WD-0802

1

WORKSTATIONS
2.13

10.63M

1

11.83M

186°28'25"

3508

1857°55'25"

2

3 0M
3.1

2920

97° 10' 25"

CORRIDOR 2.13

90°32'25"

901

90°32'25"
20.01M

13
9°
1. 13'
61 25
5 "

20.785

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

A
WD-0801

B
WD-0801

Scale
1:200 @ A3

0

2

Roof Terrace Area
83.47 m2

4

6

8

Proposed Mezzanine Floor Plan

Proposed Net Area
188.10 m2

2.4

A

B

C

D

E

30.57M
8

Drawing number
WD-0203
Revision number
[B]

864

8

14.89M

7

C
WD-0802

Project number
810100

PLANER BOX WITH
SCREENING TO
FRONT

WORKSTATIONS
M.06

7

1308

6

TEA
POINT
M.07

FHR

5

5
F
WD-0802

D
WD-0802

D
WD-0802

3620

F
WD-0802

4

4

Client
MH Chippendale Pty Ltd

6°28'25"

3

20.75M

2654

25.24M

3

BITUMEN SERVICE LANE

6333

SJB Interiors
Level 4, 18 Oliver Lane,
Melbourne VIC 3000
T. 61 3 9686 2122
sjb.com.au

1857°55'25"

Project address
29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale NSW

83.47m²

6

4157

UNISEX
UNISEX
UN
NIS
UNISE
SE
EX
WC
WC
M
M.04
M.05
M
5

TERRACE M.01

MAINTENANCE DECK ONLY
NON TRAFFICABLE

PLANT AREA M.03

7° 50' 25"

6712

C
WD-0802

6.985M

10

A
WD-0801

B
WD-0801

F

G

3214

1049

Proposal

5607

3852

4710

59

1512

276°51'55"

2404

97° 10' 25"
97° 05' 25"

2920

2

E
WD-0802

E
WD-0802

10.63M

1

1

11.83M

186°28'25"

3508

1857°55'25"

2

90°32'25"

901

90°32'25"
20.01M
13
9°
1. 13'
61 25
5 "

3.10M

20.785

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

A
WD-0801

B
WD-0801

0

2

4

Proposed Roof Plan

Scale
1:200 @ A3

2.5

Proposal

6

8

A

B

C

D

E

30.57M
8

Drawing number
WD-0204
Revision number
[B]

BUILDER TO CHECK AND ADVISE THE ARCHITECT ON ALL
EXISTING ROOFING / RAINWATER GOODS (BOXED GUTTER
/ DOWNPIPE ETC.)

PROVIDE 600MM WIDE BOX GUTTER AND SUMP
TYPICALLY WITH O/F DOWNPIPE AND ADDITIONAL O/F POP
TYPICALLY

NOTE:

864

OF

OF
DP & SUMP

OF
DP & SUMP

3214

8

C
WD-0802

NEW METAL
ROOF DECKING

2° FALL

2° FALL

14.89M

Project number
810100

PLANER BOX WITH
SCREENING TO
FRONT

FALL

FALL

7° 50' 25"

6712

C
WD-0802

1308

6

7

FALL

6

OF
DP & SUMP

EXHAUST OUTLETS
FROM BELOW

OF
DP & SUMP

4157

FALL

5

5

D
WD-0802

F
WD-0802

D
WD-0802

NEW CURTAIN WALL
OVER EXISTING BRICK
PARAPET WALL

3620

F
WD-0802

4

4

Client
MH Chippendale Pty Ltd

25.24M

SJB Interiors
Level 4, 18 Oliver Lane,
Melbourne VIC 3000
T. 61 3 9686 2122
sjb.com.au

1857°55'25"

6°28'25"

3

20.75M

2654

3

BITUMEN SERVICE LANE

6333

EXHAUST OUTLETS
FROM BELOW

Project address
29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale NSW

EXHAUST OUTLETS
FROM BELOW

FALL

7

6.985M

10

A
WD-0801

B
WD-0801

F

G

5607

3852

4710

1512

60

2404

276°51'55"

2920

97° 10' 25"

97° 05' 25"

901

2

E
WD-0802

E
WD-0802

10.63M

1

1

11.83M

186°28'25"

3508

1857°55'25"

2

90°32'25"

1049

90°32'25"

REFER TO MEZZANINE
LEVEL DWG NO. WD-0203
ROOF NOTES

20.01M
13
9°
1. 13'
61 25
5 "

3.10M

20.785

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

A
WD-0801

B
WD-0801

61

Scale
1:200 @ A3

Location Plan

0

2

4

6

8

10

Proposed South and North Elevations

Location Plan

2.6

Proposal

GROUND 16.52

JF50

WF51

GROUND 16.09

7520

GROUND 17.15

FFL 25.87

PARAPET 31.06

Drawing number
WD-0700
Revision number
[B]

Balfour Street
Project number
810100

BALFOUR
STREET

Dick Street

SERVICE
LANE

Client
MH Chippendale Pty Ltd

Project address
29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale NSW

NORTH ELEVATION - DICK STREET

FFL 16.62

GROUND 17.18

FFL 16.48

FFL 21.15 CENT
A
ADJ

FFL 21.24

DIN
BUIL

G

FFL 29.32

PARAPET 30.30

APPROX. 30.43

Proposed Mezzanine maximum
height to not exceed existing
building height

Balfour Street

PARAPET 32.90

FFL 25.19

SJB Interiors
Level 4, 18 Oliver Lane,
Melbourne VIC 3000
T. 61 3 9686 2122
sjb.com.au

WF50

Little Queen Street

FFL 25.21

FFL 29.32

PARAPET 30.32

SOUTH ELEVATION - LITTLE QUEEN STREET

BALFOUR
STREET

Proposed Mezzanine maximum height
to not exceed existing building height

FFL 17.25
GROUND 17.00

JF50

FFL 17.25

14575

JF51 WF50

FFL 21.75

GROUND 16.65

WF51

FFL 21.75

FFL 25.84

FFL 29.32

PARAPET 30.41

PARAPET 32.90

6700

Extent of existing Mezzanine
shown in black dashed line

16000

62

Scale
1:200 @ A3

Location Plan

0

2

4

6

8

10

Proposed East and West Elevations

Location Plan

2.7

GROUND 16.12

3580

Project number
810100

FFL 17.39

FFL 21.69

FFL 25.83

Client
MH Chippendale Pty Ltd

WF51 JF51 JF50 WF50

CONCEALED BY BUILDING

SJB Interiors
Level 4, 18 Oliver Lane,
Melbourne VIC 3000
T. 61 3 9686 2122
sjb.com.au

GROUND 17.03

PARAPET 30.30

Project address
29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale NSW

GROUND 16.87

PARAPET 30.90

Balfour Street

JF50

Balfour Street

WF51 JF51

Proposed Mezzanine extension maximum
height not to exceed existing building height

Drawing number
WD-0701
Revision number
[B]

WEST ELEVATION

DICK
STREET

Little Queen Street

FFL 17.25

Dick Street

FFL 16.48

FFL 21.15

FFL 25.19

PARAPET 30.30

RIDGE 32.38

15745

LITTLE QUEEN
STREET

FFL 21.75

FFL 25.87

FFL 29.32

PARAPET 31.06

RIDGE 32.90

WF50

GROUND 16.75

GUTTER 29.90

FFL 21.76

FFL 25.84

FFL 29.32

PARAPET 30.41

RIDGE 32.90

Little Queen Street

FFL 17.25

LITTLE QUEEN
STREET

Proposed Mezzanine maximum height
to sit below existing building height

3580

Proposal

16150

Dick Street

DICK
STREET

FFL 16.62

FFL 21.24

FFL 25.21

FFL 28.15

PARAPET 30.32

RIDGE 32.28

0

2

4

Proposed Sections

Scale
1:200 @ A3

2.8

6

8

10

1:100 @ A1

2450

SJB Interiors
Level 4, 18 Oliver Lane,
Melbourne VIC 3000
T. 61 3 9686 2122
sjb.com.au

3000

2900

Client
MH Chippendale Pty Ltd

FEMALE
WC

FEMALE
WC

4

FEMALE
WC

2450

Project address
29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale NSW

3000

Project number
810100

D
WD-0802

MALE
WC

MALE
WC

MALE
WC

DISABLE
ACCESS
WC

DISABLE
ACCESS
WC

DISABLE
ACCESS
WC

5

3

Ex. LIFT
CORE

4140

Drawing number
WD-0801
Revision number
[B]

F
WD-0802

F
WD-0802

3725 EXISTING

1:100 @ A1

STAIR 2

5

D
WD-0802

7

2

PUMPHOUSE
G.03

6

E
WD-0802

1

8

WORK STATIONS
G.20

WORK STATIONS
1.13

WORK STATIONS
2.13

WORKSTATIONS
G.04

WORKSTATIONS
1.04

WORKSTATIONS
2.04

TERRACE M.01

C
WD-0802

EX. PARAPET
R.L. 31.06

DICK
STREET

4380
4025 EXISTING

SECTION B

6

STAIR 1

4

15505

02

7

3

1FL 21.78

2FL 25.92

MFL 29.32

RFL 32.90

GFL 17.40

LITTLE QUEEN
STREET

905

WD-0200

WORK STATIONS
G.04

WORK STATIONS
1.04

WORK STATIONS
2.04

WORK STATIONS
M.06

C
WD-0802

2

4140

GFL 17.40

8

WORKSTATIONS
G.04

WORKSTATIONS
G.1.13

WORKSTATIONS
G.2.13

E
WD-0802

3115 EXISTING

LITTLE QUEEN
STREET

1FFL 21.78

2FFL 25.92

MFFL 29.32
MSL 29.175

RFL 32.90

SECTION A

01
WD-0200

GFL 17.40

DICK
STREET

1FL 21.78

2FL 25.92

MFL 28.85

4380

15505

Proposal

145

1025
4140
3115 EXISTING
905

3475 EXISTING

3585
3400

4140
3745 EXISTING

2700 CLEAR
2700 CLEAR

1

2600

4380
4025 EXISTING

63
600

4140
3745 EXISTING

2800

3400

3000 CLEAR

1740
VARIES

1025
3475 EXISTING

4380

3965 EXISTING

4380

GFL 17.40

1FL 21.78

2FL 25.92

MFL 28.85

RFL 32.90

0

2

4

6

8

Proposed Mezzanine Wall and
Floor Details

Scale
1:200 @ A3

2.9

Proposal

64

10

Drawing number
WD-0900
Revision number
[B]

Project number
810100

EX. MCL 28.46

EX. MFFL 28.85

MFFL 29.32

EX. WHITE PAINTED BRICK
(OUTSIDE)

BLACK PAINTED RECESS/
ARTICULATION

PROPOSED RECESSED
GRAY SPANDREL TO PROVIDE
ARTICULATION BETWEEN
NEW AND OLD

150

200

Client
MH Chippendale Pty Ltd

Project address
29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale NSW

SJB Interiors
Level 4, 18 Oliver Lane,
Melbourne VIC 3000
T. 61 3 9686 2122
sjb.com.au

NEW CEILING FINISH

EXISTING MEZZANINE
FLOOR STRUCTURE

PROPOSED NEW FLOOR
TO REDUCE AMOUNT OF
FLOOR AND WINDOW
INSTERSECTION

PROPOSED STEELWORK
FOR BRICK BRACING
(INSIDE)

IMAGE 01: VIEW OF EXTENT OF EXISTING MEZZANINE FLOOR
INTERSECTING WINDOW PANEL

Scale
1:200 @ A3

Location Plan

0

W
2.16

2

4

6

8

10

SELECTED EXTERNAL TIMBER
ON DECK JACK SYSTEM OVER
SCREED + WATERPROOFING
FALLING TO FLOOR WASTE

DASHED OUTLINE OF
PLANT EQUIPMENT AS PER
CONSULTANTS DRAWINGS

ACOUSTIC SCREEN TO
PLANT AREA AS SPECIFIED
HEIGHT TO BE CONFIRMED

2.10 Terrace & Mezzanine Section

G

Drawing number
WD-0802
Revision number
[B]

Project number
810100

SEAL AND FINISH HEBEL
POWER PANEL AS SPECIFIED

SUSPEND FLUSH PLASTERBOARD
CEILING WITH SELECTED PAINT
FINISH AS SPECIFIED

2°

2° METAL DECK ROOF ON GRADED
BATTENS AS SPECIFIED BY
ENGINEER WITH SARKING AND
CEILING INSULATION AS SPECIFIED

Client
MH Chippendale Pty Ltd

2°

SJB Interiors
Level 4, 18 Oliver Lane,
Melbourne VIC 3000
T. 61 3 9686 2122
sjb.com.au

FLOOR FINISH AS
SPECIFIED ON TIMBER
BATTENS TO SUIT

E

Project address
29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale NSW

STRUCTURE AS PER
ENGINEERS DRAWINGS

MEZZANINE

F

2900
600
2800

65

D

3730

B

1000mm HIGH
PLANTER TO
PERIMETRE

OUTLINE OF EXISTING
LIFT OVERRUN BEHIND
ACOUSTIC SCREEN
HEIGHT & DETAILS T.B.C.
(SHOWN NOTIONALLY)

OUTLINE OF EXISTING
PARAPET BEYOND

C

A

EXISTING PARAPET WALL
WITH FINISH AS SPECIFIED

MFFL 29.32
MSL 29.175

RFL 32.90

66

SJB

29-43 Balfour Street

Street view from intersection of Balfour Street and Henrietta Street

2.12 Street Views

Street view from intersection of Balfour Street and Wellington Street

26

3.1

EXISTING

SJB

PROPOSED

REET

REET

QUEEN
ST

DICK STREET

QUEEN
ST

Proposed Shadow Cast

LITTLE

LITTLE

DICK STREET

8am, June 21st

Mezzanine Extension Shadow Diagrams

ET

ET

29-43 Balfour Street

LITTLE

LITTLE
STREET

QUEEN
STREET

DICK STREET

QUEEN

DICK STREET

9am, June 21st

ET
ET

EEN ST
REET

LITTLE
QU

EEN ST
REET

DICK STREET

LITTLE
QU

DICK STREET

10am, June 21st

ET
ET

Shadow Diagrams

R STRE

BALFOU

R STRE

BALFOU

R STRE
BALFOU
R STRE
BALFOU

R STRE
BALFOU
R STRE
BALFOU

67

28

EXISTING

SJB

PROPOSED

STREET

QUEEN

STREET

DICK STREET

QUEEN

Proposed Shadow Cast

LITTLE

LITTLE

DICK STREET

11am, June 21st

ET

ET

29-43 Balfour Street

LITTLE

LITTLE
STREET

QUEEN
STREET

DICK STREET

QUEEN

DICK STREET

12pm, June 21st

ET
ET

EEN ST
REET

LITTLE
QU

EEN ST
REET

DICK STREET

LITTLE
QU

DICK STREET

1pm, June 21st

ET
ET

Shadow Diagrams

R STRE

BALFOU

R STRE

BALFOU

R STRE
BALFOU
R STRE
BALFOU

R STRE
BALFOU
R STRE
BALFOU

68

29

EXISTING

SJB

PROPOSED

REET

QUEEN
ST

Proposed Shadow Cast

LITTLE

REET

QUEEN
ST

DICK STREET

LITTLE

DICK STREET

2pm, June 21st

ET

ET

29-43 Balfour Street

LITTLE

LITTLE
STREET

QUEEN
STREET

DICK STREET

QUEEN

DICK STREET

3pm, June 21st

ET
ET

EEN ST
REET

LITTLE
QU

EEN ST
REET

DICK STREET

LITTLE
QU

DICK STREET

4pm, June 21st

ET
ET

Shadow Diagrams

R STRE

BALFOU

R STRE

BALFOU

R STRE
BALFOU
R STRE
BALFOU

R STRE
BALFOU
R STRE
BALFOU

69

30

70

Scale
1:100 @ A3

0

1

2

3

Detail Elevation

4

Mezzanine Extension Elevations

Proposed East Elevation

4.3

5

Drawing number
Revision number
[B]

Project number
810100

JF51 WF51

Client
MH Chippendale Pty Ltd

Project address
29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale NSW

SJB Interiors
Level 4, 18 Oliver Lane,
Melbourne VIC 3000
T. 61 3 9686 2122
sjb.com.au

JF50

WF50

Scale
1:50 @ A3

0

1

WF50 - Existing brickwork

JF50 - Steel Frame Windows

2

Drawing number
Revision number
[B]

Project number
810100

JF51 - Concealed aluminium frame glazing

WF51 - Dark Metalwork

1750

Client
MH Chippendale Pty Ltd

Project address
29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale NSW

m
fro

SJB Interiors
Level 4, 18 Oliver Lane,
Melbourne VIC 3000
T. 61 3 9686 2122
sjb.com.au

ine
tl
gh
Si

Detail Section

Clear glazed balustrade for
acoustic screening 1600mm
high above FFL.

1100

71
B

r
ou
alf

St

et
re

7520

29.32m

32.90m

Attachment C
Clause 4.6 Variation Request Height of Buildings

72

Request to Vary a Development Standard
Building Height
29-33 and 35-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale
Submitted to City of Sydney
On behalf of MH Chippendale Pty Ltd
13 September 2018 | 218073

73

CONTACT
Daniel West

Associate Director

dwest@ethosurban.com

9409 4904

Reproduction of this document or any part thereof is not permitted without prior written permission of Ethos Urban Pty Ltd.
This document has been prepared by:

Emma Norrington/Harry Quartermain

This document has been reviewed by:

13 September 2018

Belinda Thomas

13 September 2018

Reproduction of this document or any part thereof is not permitted without written permission of Ethos Urban Pty Ltd. Ethos Urban operates under a Quality Management System. This
report has been prepared and reviewed in accordance with that system. If the report is not signed, it is a preliminary draft.
VERSION NO.

DATE OF ISSUE

REVISION BY

Ethos Urban Pty Ltd
ABN 13 615 087 931.
www.ethosurban.com
173 Sussex Street, Sydney
NSW 2000 t 61 2 9956 6952

74

APPROVED BY

Contents

1.0
2.0
3.0
4.0

Introduction
Development Standard to be Varied
Nature of the Variation Sought
Justification for Contravention of the
Development Standard

4.1

4.4

Clause 4.6(3)(a): Compliance with the development
standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the
circumstances of the case
Clause 4.6(3)(b): Environmental planning grounds
to justify contravening the development standard
Clause 4.6(4)(a)(ii): In the public interest because it
is consistent with the objectives of the zone and
development standard
Secretary’s Concurrence

5.0

Conclusion

4.2
4.3

2
3
4
4
5
7

7
7

8

Figures
Figure 1
Figure 2
Figure 3

Extract from SLEP
7200_COM_HOB_009_005_20120926
Existing roof mezzanine as seem from the southern
elevation
Proposed Mezzanine and roof terrace as seen in
Section

75
Ethos Urban

3
4
4

29-33 and 35-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale | Request to Vary a Development Standard Building Height | 13 September 2018

1.0

Introduction

This clause 4.6 variation request has been prepared by Ethos Urban on behalf of MH Chippendale Pty Ltd. It is
submitted to City of Sydney (the Council) in support of a development application (DA) Council for alterations and
additions to existing commercial development to create a roof terrace at 29-33 and 35-43 Balfour Street,
Chippendale.
Clause 4.6 of the Sydney Local Environment Plan 2012 (SLEP) enables the City of Sydney Council to grant consent
for development even though the development contravenes a development standard. The clause aims to provide an
appropriate degree of flexibility in applying certain development standards to achieve better outcomes for and from
development.
This clause 4.6 variation request relates to the ‘maximum height of buildings’ development standard under clause
4.3 of the SLEP and should be read in conjunction with the Statement of Environmental Effects (SEE) prepared by
Ethos Urban dated September 2018.
This clause 4.6 variation request demonstrates that compliance with the Height of Buildings development standard
is unreasonable and unnecessary in the circumstances of the case and that there are sufficient environmental
planning grounds to justify contravention of the standard.
This clause 4.6 variation request demonstrates that, notwithstanding the non-compliance with the ‘maximum height
of buildings’ development standard, the proposed development:


Does not alter the maximum building height of the current site; and



Will not, as a result of the building’s height, cause any additional adverse environment or social impacts.

Therefore, the DA may be approved with the variation as proposed in accordance with the flexibility allowed under
clause 4.3 Height of Buildings of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012.
The Land and Environment Court provides assistance on the approach to justifying a contravention to a
development standard under State Environmental Planning Policy 1 – Development Standards (SEPP 1) through
the judgement of Justice Lloyd, in Winten Property Group Ltd v North Sydney Council [2001] 130 LGERA 79 at 89.
The test was later rephrased by Chief Justice Preston in the decision of Wehbe v Pittwater Council [2007] NSW
LEC 827 (Webbe).
These judgements are also of assistance to the assessment of variations under Clause 4.6 of an LEP.
Additional assistance can be found in the recent decision by Commissioner Pearson in Four2Five Pty Ltd v Ashfield
Council [2015] NSWLEC 1009 (Four2Five); Micaul Holdings Pty Ltd v Randwick City Council [2015] NSWLEC 1386
and Moskovich v Waverley Council [2016] NSWLEC 1015 which was upheld by Pain J on appeal.
In accordance with the above requirements, this Clause 4.6 variation request:


identifies the development standard to be varied (Section 2);



identifies the variation sought (Section 3);



establishes that compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the
circumstances of the case (Section 4.1);



demonstrates there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify the contravention (Section 4.2); and



provides an assessment of the matters the secretary is required to consider before providing concurrence
(Section 4.3).

76
Ethos Urban | 218073

2

29-33 and 35-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale | Request to Vary a Development Standard Building Height | 13 September 2018

2.0

Development Standard to be Varied

The development standard to be varied as part of this application is ‘Clause 4.3 Height of Buildings’ relating to the
maximum height of building permitted for development. Under the SLEP, and as shown in Figure 1, the site has a
maximum building height of 12metres. Clause 4.3 of SLEP 2012 states:

Clause 4.3 Height of Buildings
(1) The objectives of this clause are as follows:
(a) to ensure the height of development is appropriate to the condition of the site and its context,
(b) to ensure appropriate height transitions between new development and heritage items and buildings in
heritage conservation areas or special character areas,
(c) to promote the sharing of views,
(d) to ensure appropriate height transitions from Central Sydney and Green Square Town Centre to
adjoining areas,
(e) in respect of Green Square:
(i) to ensure the amenity of the public domain by restricting taller buildings to only part of a site, and
(ii) to ensure the built form contributes to the physical definition of the street network and public
spaces.

Figure 1

Extract from SLEP 7200_COM_HOB_009_005_20120926

77
Ethos Urban | 218073

3

29-33 and 35-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale | Request to Vary a Development Standard Building Height | 13 September 2018

3.0

Nature of the Variation Sought

The pop out roof in the middle of the site is 17.2m in height and the highest point on the site.
However, the existing mezzanine level on the site has a maximum height of RL 32.9m and the existing ground level
surrounding the site is approximately RL 17 m, the existing mezzanine therefore has a maximum height of
approximately 15.9m. The proposed mezzanine will also match the existing height, approximately 3.9m higher than
the ‘maximum height of buildings’ development standard of 12m. The proposed development will replace an
existing mezzanine structure within the existing sloped roof with a new mezzanine structure and external roof
terrace. A comparison of the existing and proposed roof structure is provided as Figure 2 and Figure 3.

Figure 2
Existing roof mezzanine as seem from
the southern elevation

Figure 3
Proposed Mezzanine and roof terrace as
seen in Section

Source: SJB

Source: SJB

4.0

Justification for Contravention of the Development Standard

Clause 4.6(3) of the SLEP provides that:
4.6

Exceptions to development standards
(3)

Development consent must not be granted for development that contravenes a development standard
unless the consent authority has considered a written request from the applicant that seeks to justify the
contravention of the development standard by demonstrating:
(a)
(b)

that compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the
circumstances of the case, and
that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the development
standard.

Further, clause 4.6(4)(a) of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 LEP provides that:
(4)

Development consent must not be granted for development that contravenes a development standard
unless:
(a)

the consent authority is satisfied that:
(i)
(ii)

(b)

the applicant’s written request has adequately addressed the matters required to be
demonstrated by subclause (3), and
the proposed development will be in the public interest because it is consistent with the
objectives of the particular standard and the objectives for development within the zone in
which the development is proposed to be carried out, and

the concurrence of the Secretary has been obtained.

Assistance on the approach to justifying a contravention to a development standard is also to be taken from the
applicable decisions of the NSW Land and Environment Court and the NSW Court of Appeal in:

78
Ethos Urban | 218073

4

29-33 and 35-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale | Request to Vary a Development Standard Building Height | 13 September 2018

1. Wehbe v Pittwater Council [2007] NSW LEC 827; and
2. Four2Five Pty Ltd v Ashfield Council [2015] NSWLEC 1009.
The relevant matters contained in clause 4.6 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 LEP, with respect to the
4.3 Height of Buildings development standard, are each addressed below, including with regard to these decisions.

4.1

Clause 4.6(3)(a): Compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary
in the circumstances of the case

In Wehbe, Preston CJ of the Land and Environment Court provided relevant assistance by identifying five traditional
ways in which a variation to a development standard had been shown as unreasonable or unnecessary. However, it
was not suggested that the types of ways were a closed class.
While Wehbe related to objections made pursuant to State Environmental Planning Policy No. 1 – Development
Standards (SEPP 1), the analysis can be of assistance to variations made under clause 4.6 where subclause
4.6(3)(a) uses the same language as clause 6 of SEPP 1 (see Four2Five at [61] and [62]).
As the language used in subclause 4.6(3)(a) of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 LEP is the same as the
language used in clause 6 of SEPP 1, the principles contained in Wehbe are of assistance to this clause 4.6
variation request.
The five methods outlined in Wehbe include:
The objectives of the standard are achieved notwithstanding non-compliance with the standard (First Method).
The underlying objective or purpose of the standard is not relevant to the development and therefore compliance is
unnecessary (Second Method).
The underlying object or purpose would be defeated or thwarted if compliance was required and therefore
compliance is unreasonable (Third Method).
The development standard has been virtually abandoned or destroyed by the Council's own actions in granting
consents departing from the standard and hence compliance with the standard is unnecessary and unreasonable
(Fourth Method).
The zoning of the particular land is unreasonable or inappropriate so that a development standard appropriate for
that zoning is also unreasonable and unnecessary as it applies to the land and compliance with the standard would
be unreasonable or unnecessary. That is, the particular parcel of land should not have been included in the
particular zone (Fifth Method).
Of particular assistance in this matter, in establishing that compliance with a development standard is unreasonable
or unnecessary is the First Method and Second Method.

4.1.1

The objectives of the standard are achieved notwithstanding non-compliance with the standard

The objectives of the ‘maximum height of buildings’ development standard are outlined in Section 2.
Objective (a): to ensure the height of development is appropriate to the condition of the site and its context
As noted above in Section 3, the proposed exceedance of the ‘maximum height of buildings’ development standard
relates only to a minor increase of part of the existing mezzanine level and will not increase the overall height of the
buildings. As shown in Figure 2 and Figure 3 the modifications proposed to the existing roof will not be readily
visible from the ground. Shadow studies have been provided within the architectural plans demonstrate that the
proposed development will have no additional adverse overshadowing impact on any neighbouring building or any
area of public open space. In light of the above it is clear that the proposed development, including the exceedance
of the ‘maximum height of buildings’ development standard, is appropriate for the condition of the site and its
context.

79
Ethos Urban | 218073

5

29-33 and 35-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale | Request to Vary a Development Standard Building Height | 13 September 2018

Objective (b): to ensure appropriate height transitions between new development and heritage items and
buildings in heritage conservation areas or special character areas,
The site is not mapped or listed as an item of local or State heritage significance, however, the site is located within
the Chippendale heritage conservation area (HCA). The proposed extended mezzanine is sympathetic to both the
existing building on which it is located, and the contribution of the existing building to the local character of
Chippendale and the Chippendale HCA. As shown in Figure 2 and Figure 3 the modifications proposed to the
existing roof will not be readily visible from the ground.
Further, the proposed development demonstrates adaptive reuse with a contemporary rooftop addition, consistent
with development in the immediate surrounds (including 30 Balfour Street, immediately east of the site and 2-8 Little
Queen Street, immediately west of the site). The proposed development will facilitate the occupancy of a high-end
commercial tenant, consistent with uses in the immediate surrounds (including 30 Balfour Street, currently occupied
by the White Rabbit Gallery).
The proposed development involves minor alterations to the existing warehouse roof structure to accommodate the
extended mezzanine and associated roof terraces. As the construction of the roof is masked by the warehouse’s
parapet, the removal of the roof structure will result in negligible change to the built form character of Chippendale.
The proposed development’s materiality in relation to heritage conservation has aimed to integrate the design of the
roof terrace to fit with the local character of the surrounding neighbourhood.
Objective (c): to promote the sharing of views
The proposed development will not increase the overall height of the existing building and therefore significant
impacts of the proposed rooftop addition on views past the existing building are not anticipated. As shown in Figure
2 and Figure 3 the modifications proposed to the existing roof will not be readily visible from the ground. The
proposed mezzanine terrace has also been designed to reduce impact on views from other surrounding roof
terraces or outdoor spaces. An acoustic privacy screen adjacent to the existing parapet, and the height of the
existing parapet, plus the separation distances to surrounding neighbours will consequently prevent any adverse
privacy impacts in relation to viewing the street or neighbouring roof terraces or outdoor spaces.
Objective (d): to ensure appropriate height transitions from Central Sydney and Green Square Town Centre
to adjoining areas
The proposed development does not alter the maximum height of the existing building and as such does not affect
the overall height transition from Central Sydney and Green Square Town Centre and adjoining areas. As such, the
proposed development will retain the existing height transitions.
Objective (e): in respect to Green Square
The proposed development is not located within the Green Square precinct and therefore Objective (e) does not
apply.

4.1.2

The underlying objective or purpose of the standard is not relevant to the development and
therefore compliance is unnecessary

Notwithstanding the ability of the proposed development to comply with the objectives of the ‘maximum height of
buildings’ development standard (as outlined in Section 4.1.1), these objectives are not relevant to the proposed
development for the following reasons:
 The proposed development seeks consent only to alter an existing mezzanine structure, including minor
alterations to the roof form of the existing building;
 No significant adverse environmental or social impact are anticipated as a result of the proposed development;
and
 The overall height of the existing building is not affected by the proposed development.
In light of the above, compliance with the ‘maximum height of buildings’ development standard is not necessary.

80
Ethos Urban | 218073

6

29-33 and 35-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale | Request to Vary a Development Standard Building Height | 13 September 2018

4.2

Clause 4.6(3)(b): Environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the development
standard

Clause 4.6(3)(b) of the SLEP requires the departure from the development standard to be justified by
demonstrating: that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the development
standard.
The proposed exceedance of the ‘maximum height of buildings’ development standard relates only to a minor
increase of part of the existing mezzanine level and will not increase the overall height of the existing buildings. As
shown in Figure 2 and Figure 3 the modifications proposed to the existing roof will not be readily visible from the
ground. Shadow studies have been provided within the architectural plans demonstrate that the proposed
development will have no adverse additional overshadowing impact on any neighbouring building or any area of
public open space.
The proposed development seeks to improve the functionality of the entire building so that additional outdoor space
is made available to the occupants of the building. Currently, the nearest open space available to occupants of the
building is the nearby Chippendale Green park, which is located within 50m of the site. Because of the intended
occupancy of this development by a high-end commercial tenant, there will likely be an increase to the number of
users within the building. This will place additional strain on the existing green spaces and as a mitigation strategy,
the proposed mezzanine terrace will provide some green space for users to occupy during building opening hours.

4.3

Clause 4.6(4)(a)(ii): In the public interest because it is consistent with the objectives of the zone
and development standard

4.3.1

Consistency with objectives of the development standard

The proposed development is consistent with the objectives of the ‘maximum height of buildings’ development
standard, as discussed in section 4.1.1 of this report.

4.3.2

Consistency with objectives of the zone

The proposed development is consistent with the objectives of the B4 Mixed Use Zone, as demonstrated below.
Objective (a): To provide a mixture of compatible land uses
The proposed development is intended to be occupied by a high-end commercial tenant which will bring additional
land uses into the area. Currently uses surrounding the site include the White Rabbit Gallery, and also houses,
cafes, and small retail and commercial business, which operate during the day and night. Currently, the site is
leased to a retail tenant. The change of tenancy will further increase the mix of compatible land uses by adding a
commercial tenant to the neighbourhood.
Objective (b): To integrate suitable business, office, residential, retail and other development in accessible
locations so as to maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling.
The location of the site is suitable for the occupation of a high-end retail tenant as the occupant will be have access
to public transport and public open space, as well as food and beverage facilities, galleries and creative
entertainment spaces. There is a wide range of these facilities within walking distance of the site and as such, the
proposed development will be likely to encourage walking and cycling between facilities and work.
Objective (c): To ensure uses support the viability of centres
The site is located within 500m of the UTS campus and Central station is located within 1km. These centres are
thriving business, educational, and transportation precincts and the addition of a high-end commercial tenant to the
site will support the viability of these centres.

Secretary’s Concurrence

4.4

Under clause 4.6(5), in deciding whether to grant concurrence, the Secretary must consider the following matters:
(5)

In deciding whether to grant concurrence, the Secretary must consider:
(a)

whether contravention of the development standard raises any matter of significance for State or
regional environmental planning, and

81
Ethos Urban | 218073

7

29-33 and 35-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale | Request to Vary a Development Standard Building Height | 13 September 2018

(b)
(c)

the public benefit of maintaining the development standard, and
any other matters required to be taken into consideration by the Secretary before granting
concurrence.

These matters are addressed in detail below.

4.4.1

Clause 4.6(5)(a): Whether contravention of the development standard raises any matter of
significance for State or regional environmental planning

The variation of the ‘maximum height of buildings’ development standard does not raise any matter of significance
for State or regional planning. We do note, however, that the proposal is consistent with the most recent
metropolitan plan for Sydney, A Metropolis of Three Cities, the Greater Sydney Regional Plan in that it:


Allows an existing building to be adaptively reused in a manner that does not adversely affect the environmental
heritage of the surrounding HCA (Objective 13. Environmental heritage is conserved and enhanced)



Ensures that the Harbour City remains strong and competitive by allowing for the adaptive reuse of an existing
building within the Chippendale HCA (Objective 18. Harbour CBD is stronger and more competitive)



Will facilitate investment and business activity within an existing centre (Objective 22. Investment and business
activity in centres)

4.4.2

Clause 4.6(5)(b): The public benefit of maintaining the development standard

As demonstrated above, there is no public benefit in maintaining the development standard in terms of State and
regional planning objectives. As noted in the preceding sections, due to the proposed development being located
below the existing maximum height of the existing building, the proposed variation to the ‘maximum height of
buildings’ development standard would not give rise to any adverse environmental impacts.

4.4.3

Clause 5.6(5)(c): Any other matters required to be taken into consideration by the DirectorGeneral before granting concurrence.

There are no other matters which should be taken into consideration by the Secretary before granting concurrence.

5.0

Conclusion

The assessment above demonstrates that compliance with the ‘maximum height of buildings’ development standard
provided by Clause 4.3 of the SLEP is unreasonable and unnecessary in the circumstances of the case and the
justification for the proposed exceedance is well founded. It is considered that the variation allows for the orderly
and economic use of the land in an appropriate manner, whilst also allows for a better outcome in planning terms.
This Clause 4.6 variation demonstrates that, notwithstanding the non-compliance with the ‘maximum height of
buildings’ development standard, the proposed development will not increase the existing maximum height of the
building and as such:


such will have no additional impacts on views or overshadowing;



will comply with the relevant sections of the Sydney City Development Control Plan 2012 (as outlined within the
accompanying Statement of Environmental Effects); and



will be consistent with the objectives of the B4 Mixed Use zone and the ‘maximum height of buildings’
development standard as they apply to the site.

Therefore, the DA may be approved with the variation as proposed in accordance with the flexibility allowed under
clause 4.6 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012.

82
Ethos Urban | 218073

8

Attachment D
Clause 4.6 Variation Request Floor Space Ratio

83

29 January 2019
218073
Monica Barone
Chief Executive Officer
GPO Box 1591
SYDNEY
NSW 2001
Attention: Jemima Royall

Dear Jemima
RE: Response to Council’s Request for Additional Information (D/2018/1097) – Clause 4.6 Variation Request
29-43 Balfour Road, Chippendale
This Clause 4.6 Variation Request is submitted to City of Sydney in support of Development Application (DA)
D/2018/1097 at 29-43 Balfour Street Chippendale. The Development Application seeks approval for:




modification to the existing mezzanine level including:
−

removal of part of the southern section of the roof;

−

construction of a trafficable roof terrace to the east and west of the existing mezzanine;

−

construct a new roof over the existing mezzanine;

−

installation of plant equipment behind acoustic screening; and

−

installation of acoustic screening surrounding the roof terrace to a height of 1.6m

internal modifications
−

remove the existing lightwells, frame and infill the area; and

−

extend the existing stair into the mezzanine level.

This Clause 4.6 Variation Request has been prepared by Ethos Urban on behalf of MH Chippendale Pty Ltd. Clause
4.6 requires that a consent authority be satisfied of three matters before granting consent to a development that
contravenes a development standard:


that the applicant has adequately demonstrated that compliance with the development standard is
unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of the case;



that the application has adequately demonstrated that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to
justify contravening the development standard; and



that the proposed development will be in the public interest because it is consistent with the objectives of the
particular standard and the objectives for development within the zone in which the development is proposed to
be carried out.

The consent authority’s satisfaction as to those matters must be informed by the objective of providing flexibility in
the application of the relevant control.
This report requests and justifies a variation to Clause 4.4 Floor Space Ratio, as permitted under Clause 4.6 of the
Sydney LEP 2012. It should be read in conjunction with the architectural plans prepared by SJB dated 21 November
2018 and the Statement of Environmental (SEE) prepared by Ethos Urban dated 13 September 2018.

Smart People,
People Smart

T. +61 2 9956 6962

E. sydney@ethosurban.com
W. ethosurban.com

84

173 Sussex St
Sydney NSW 2000

ABN.
13 615 087 931

29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale | Statement of Environmental Effects | 29 January 2019

1.0

Background

The site has been subject to a number of development applications, including:


Development application D/2002/1179, was for the addition of two levels and a change of use, facilitating a
mixed-use development within the existing building. This application was refused by Council in August 2003.



Development application D/2010/92, was for the enlargement of two existing ground floor openings and the
installation of roller shutters. This application was refused in March 2010.



Development application D/2017/1538, was for the change of use to commercial offices and associated fitout.
This application was approved with conditions in January 2018.



Section 4.55 application was to modify D/2017/1538 by way of incorporating minor alterations to the building’s
entrance, removal of paint on the façade and the installation of glazing. This modification was approved with
conditions in July 2018.

A subsequent Development Application D/2018/1097 to which this request relates was lodged on 13 September
2018 for alterations and additions to the existing building including 2 new roof-top terraces, alterations to the
existing mezzanine level and the internal reconfiguration of the existing building. The additions to the existing
mezzanine level necessitated the submission of a clause 4.6 variation as the proposal contravened the 12m height
limit. The contravention was attributed to the proposed alterations to the mezzanine level which reached a height of
15.9m. However, it is noted that the existing building, and the mezzanine level itself, have a height greater than the
12m limit, with the mezzanine reaching 15.9m in height. Accordingly, the rationale for the non-compliant height was
to ensure the additions accord with the existing height of the mezzanine.
The maximum floor space ratio (FSR) applicable to the site is 1.75:1. It is noted that the existing building achieves
an FSR of 2.5:1 (2,480.88m2). The proposed development did not seek to alter the FSR and consequently a clause
4.6 variation request was not considered necessary.
Subsequent to the lodgement of the DA, Council issued a Request for Further Information dated 29 October 2018.
Council’s request raised issues pertaining to confirmation of the proposed GFA and FSR; amenity impacts resulting
from the western terrace; the setback of the mezzanine level; the trafficable areas on the eastern terrace and the
location of the roof plant.
A Response to Request for Further Information was issued to Council on the 23 November 2018. It outlined the key
changes made in response to Council’s correspondence, including the conversion of the western terrace to nontrafficable space and amendments to the setback of the mezzanine level. Updated GFA plans accompanied the
response and provided a re-calculation of the GFA in accordance with the definitional requirements of the Sydney
Local Environmental Plan (SLEP 2012). In accordance with these calculations, the existing FSR is 2.5:1
(2,480.88m2) and the proposed FSR is 2.5:1 (2,487.76m2). In light of this, the revised calculations decreased the
proposed GFA from 2,659.78m2 to 2,487.76m2. Council informed the Applicant that the revised GFA necessitates
the submission of a Clause 4.6 variation request.

Ethos Urban | 218073

85

2

29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale | Statement of Environmental Effects | 29 January 2019

2.0

Development Standard to be Varied

2.1

Is the Planning Control in Question a Development Standard

'Development Standards' are defined under Section 4(1) of the Environmental Planning & Assessment Act 1979
(EP&A Act) as follows:
“development standards means provisions of an environmental planning instrument or the regulations in relation to
the carrying out of development, being provisions by or under which requirements are specified or standards are
fixed in respect of any aspect of that development, including, but without limiting the generality of the foregoing,
requirements or standards in respect of: …
(c) the character, location, siting, bulk, scale, shape, size, height, density, design or external appearance of a building
or work…”
The floor space ratio control under Clause 4.4 of the Sydney LEP 2012 is clearly and unambiguously a development
standard.

2.2

Relevant Development Standard

The development standard that is sought to be varied as part of this application is Clause 4.4 Floor Space Ratio
nominated by the Sydney LEP 2012, which establishes the maximum FSR permitted for all development. Under the
Sydney LEP 2012, the site is afforded a maximum FSR of 1.75:1 as shown in Figure 1. The proposed building has
an FSR of 2.5:1 (2,487.76m2).

Figure 1

Maximum Floor Space Ratio

Source: Sydney LEP 201

Ethos Urban | 218073

86

3

29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale | Statement of Environmental Effects | 29 January 2019

2.3

Variation Sought

The proposal has a maximum FSR of 2.5:1 (2,487.76m2). The site is subject to a maximum FSR of 1.75:1
(1,717.28m2) and therefore the proposal exceeds the maximum FSR Standard by 44%.
It is noted that the existing building has a non-compliant FSR of 2.5:1 (2,480.88m2). As the proposal seeks to retain
the existing building and provide alterations and additions, the principal reason for the departure from the maximum
floor space ratio development standard is the existing non-compliance.
The contravention of the maximum FSR provision also arises from the recalculation of the FSR in accordance with
the definitional requirements of the Sydney LEP 2012, which decreases the GFA noted in the Statement of
Environmental Effects prepared by Ethos Urban (dated 13 September 2018) from 2,659.78 (2.7:1) to 2,487.76m2
(2.5:1). The amendment necessitates the preparation of a Clause 4.6 variation request.

3.0

Justification for Contravention of the Development Standard

Clause 4.6(3) of the Sydney LEP 2012 provides that:
4.6

Exceptions to development standards
(3)

Development consent must not be granted for development that contravenes a development standard
unless the consent authority has considered a written request from the applicant that seeks to justify the
contravention of the development standard by demonstrating:
(a)
(b)

that compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the
circumstances of the case, and
that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the development
standard.

Further, Clause 4.6(4)(a) of The Hills LEP 2012 provides that:
(4)

Development consent must not be granted for development that contravenes a development standard
unless:
(a)

the consent authority is satisfied that:
(i)
(ii)

(b)

the applicant’s written request has adequately addressed the matters required to be
demonstrated by subclause (3), and
the proposed development will be in the public interest because it is consistent with the
objectives of the particular standard and the objectives for development within the zone in
which the development is proposed to be carried out, and

the concurrence of the Secretary has been obtained.

Assistance on the approach to justifying a contravention to a development standard is also to be taken from the
applicable decisions of the NSW Land and Environment Court in:
1. Wehbe v Pittwater Council [2007] NSW LEC 827;
2. Four2Five Pty Ltd v Ashfield Council [2015] NSWLEC 1009;
3. Initial Action Pty Ltd v Woollahra Municipal Council [2018] NSWLEC 118; and
4. Turland v Wingecarribee Shire Council [2018] NSWLEC 1511.
The relevant matters contained in Clause 4.6 of The Hills LEP 2012, with respect to the height of buildings
development standard, are each addressed below, including with regard to these decisions.

Ethos Urban | 218073

87

4

29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale | Statement of Environmental Effects | 29 January 2019

3.1

Clause 4.6(3)(a): Compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary
in the circumstances of the case

In Wehbe, Preston CJ of the Land and Environment Court identified five ways in which it could be shown that a
variation to a development standard was unreasonable or unnecessary. However, His Honour in that case (and
subsequently in Initial Action) confirmed that the types of ways that it could be shown that compliance with a
development standard was unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of the case, was not limited to the
five ways identified in Wehbe.
While Wehbe related to objections made pursuant to State Environmental Planning Policy No. 1 – Development
Standards (SEPP 1), the analysis is applicable to variations made under Clause 4.6 where subclause 4.6(3)(a) uses
the same language as Clause 6 of SEPP 1 (see Four2Five at [61] and [62]).
As the language used in subclause 4.6(3)(a) of The Hills LEP 2012 is the same as the language used in clause 6 of
SEPP 1, the principles contained in Wehbe are applicable to this Clause 4.6 variation request.
The five methods outlined in Wehbe include:
1. The objectives of the standard are achieved notwithstanding non-compliance with the standard (First Way).
2. The underlying objective or purpose of the standard is not relevant to the development and therefore
compliance is unnecessary (Second Way).
3. The underlying object or purpose would be defeated or thwarted if compliance was required and therefore
compliance is unreasonable (Third Way).
4. The development standard has been virtually abandoned or destroyed by the Council's own actions in granting
consents departing from the standard and hence compliance with the standard is unnecessary and
unreasonable (Fourth Way).
5. The zoning of the particular land is unreasonable or inappropriate so that a development standard appropriate
for that zoning is also unreasonable and unnecessary as it applies to the land and compliance with the standard
would be unreasonable or unnecessary. That is, the particular parcel of land should not have been included in
the particular zone (Fifth Way).
This Clause 4.6 variation request establishes that primarily compliance with the development standard is
unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of the proposed development because objectives of the
standard are achieved notwithstanding the non-compliance with the standard (First Way).
The environmental planning grounds relied on in the written request under Clause 4.6 must be sufficient to justify
contravening the development standard. The focus is on the aspect of the development that contravenes the
development standard, not the development as a whole. Therefore, the environmental planning grounds advanced
in the written request must justify the contravention of the development standard and not simply promote the
benefits of carrying out the development as a whole (Initial Action v Woollahra Municipal Council [24] and Turland v
Wingecarribee Shire Council [42]).

3.1.1

First Way: The objectives of the standard are achieved notwithstanding non-compliance with
the standard

The objectives as set out by Clause 4.3(1) of the Sydney LEP 2012 are as follows:
(a) to provide sufficient floor space to meet anticipated development needs for the foreseeable
future,
(b) to regulate the density of development, built form and land use intensity and to control the
generation of vehicle and pedestrian traffic,
(c) to provide for an intensity of development that is commensurate with the capacity of existing
and planned infrastructure,
(d) to ensure that new development reflects the desired character of the locality in which it is
located and minimises adverse impacts on the amenity of that locality.

Ethos Urban | 218073

88

5

29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale | Statement of Environmental Effects | 29 January 2019

(a) to ensure the height of buildings is compatible with that of adjoining development and the
overall streetscape,
(b) to minimise the impact of overshadowing, visual impact, and loss of privacy on adjoining
properties and open space areas.
The proposal to which this clause 4.6 Variation Request relates seeks consent for an FSR which exceeds
the maximum nominated under the SLEP 2012. The following section demonstrates that the development
achieves the objectives of the development standard, despite the proposed numerical non-compliance.
Objective (a): To provide sufficient floor space to meet anticipated development needs for the foreseeable
future
The development needs associated with the proposal are primarily to facilitate the delivery of a development that is
both appropriate for attracting long term commercial tenants and compatible with the surrounding locality. The site is
located in Chippendale within a heritage conservation area and the surrounding locality is characterised by a mix of
uses typically accommodated within pre-war and post-war industrial warehouses. The character statement for the
locality is set out in Section 2.3.1 of the Sydney DCP and provides the following relevant principles which govern
redevelopment throughout the area.
-

Retain the rich mix of building types and encourage the adaptive re–use of heritage and
warehouse buildings.

-

Maintain the existing pattern of retail and small-scale commercial uses scattered
throughout the neighbourhood.

The proposal relates to alterations and additions that are predominately internal and do not substantially alter the
bulk and scale of the existing envelope which already contravenes the FSR development standard. The works are
proposed for the purpose of adaptively reusing the existing warehouse building located within a heritage
conservation area and will contribute to maintaining the character of the area. It is noted that the GFA is generally
consistent with the building’s existing GFA and proposes no change to the FSR.
The gross floor area is also proposed for the purpose of supporting the building’s redevelopment as a functional and
economically viable commercial premises. With the building consisting of an outdated warehouse, there is a clear
need to execute upgrades to ensure the building’s internal spaces are suitable for commercial purposes without
compromising the warehouse character of the building. In doing so, the proposal will assist in maintain the existing
pattern of small-scale commercial uses that typify the Chippendale neighbourhood.
As noted above, the existing building exceeds the relevant development standard and consequently any proposed
works to the building would require a variation to the development standard. A building that strictly adhered to the
FSR standard would provide a significantly smaller building envelope. A reduced building envelope would result in a
less optimal outcome for occupants in that it would be less functional and have limited capacity to support a future
commercial premise. It would also necessitate the redevelopment of the warehouse which would likely reduce the
heritage values of the conservation area.
Objective (b): To regulate the density of development, built form and land use intensity and to control the
generation of vehicle and pedestrian traffic
The density of development within the City of Sydney is in part regulated by the FSR controls established by the
SLEP 2012. The proposal is subject to a maximum GFA of 1.75:1. Notwithstanding, the existing building exceeds
the development standard by providing an FSR of 2.5:1. Being an early twentieth century industrial warehouse, the
applicable development standard was introduced subsequent to the redevelopment of the site and is therefore
considered inappropriate in respect to the assessment of the proposed alterations and additions.
When calculated in accordance with the gross floor area definition provided by the SLEP 2012, the proposal has an
FSR consistent with the existing building. Whilst the proposed provides a slightly greater GFA, the increase is
negligible and will not alter the building’s level of occupancy. In light of this, it is considered the proposal will not
increase the land use intensity or level pedestrian traffic generation.

Ethos Urban | 218073

89

6

29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale | Statement of Environmental Effects | 29 January 2019

The proposal does not seek to provide parking and benefits from access to public transport due to its proximity to
Redfern and Central stations. Consequently, the proposal will not increase traffic generation.
Overall it is considered that the proposal will not result in any adverse impacts on the built form, land use intensity,
vehicle or pedestrian generation on the site. It therefore satisfies this objective notwithstanding the proposed
variation to the development standard.
Objective (c): To provide for an intensity of development that is commensurate with the capacity of existing
and planned infrastructure
The proposed development is limited to alterations and additions and will not substantially increase the GFA beyond
what is already accommodated within the site. As such, the proposal will not create an intensity of development that
is incompatible with the site’s existing and planned infrastructure. As noted above, the site is well located close to
public transport. Specifically, it is situated a 10-minute walk from Central Station (850m) and a 13-minute walk from
Redfern Station (900m). In light of this, no appreciable impact on the locality’s infrastructure capacity is anticipated
to arise as a result of the proposed development.
Objective (d): To ensure that new development reflects the desired character of the locality in which it is
located and minimises adverse impacts on the amenity of that locality.
The site is located within Chippendale and seeks to provide a commercial use. An assessment of the proposed
development against the relevant design principles established by the Chippendale locality statement within the
Sydney DCP is provided in Table 1.
Table 1

Consistency with Chippendale locality principles established by Section 2.3 of the SLEP 2012

Design principles

Comment

Development is to respond to and complement the
heritage items and contributory buildings within
heritage conservation areas, including streetscapes
and lanes.

The proposal is entirely consistent with the principle as it seeks to
retain the exterior of the building and deliver only minor alterations
and additions that will improve its functionality and facilitate its
future occupation and use.
The proposal retains the warehouse aesthetic of the development
and respects the heritage quality of the site as well as the broader
heritage conservation area.

Retain the rich mix of building types, and encourage
the adaptive re–use of heritage and warehouse
buildings.

A mixture of materials are proposed. The materials are sympathetic
to the building’s warehouse character.

Retain residential uses in the neighbourhood and
areas of low scale development and consistent
building types particularly terrace rows.

The alterations and additions are minor and the FSR is not
proposed to increase. Consequently, the scale of the existing
building is not proposed to change.

Ensure infill development responds to the height,
massing and predominant horizontal and vertical
proportions of heritage and contributory items.

The site is not a heritage item. Notwithstanding, the alterations and
additions respect the massing and scale of the existing building.

Ensure the new infill buildings reinforce the
predominant street frontages in terms of height,
setbacks and street alignment in the eastern part of
Chippendale.

The non-compliance with the FSR standard does not alter the
building’s existing setbacks or street alignment.

Ethos Urban | 218073

90

7

29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale | Statement of Environmental Effects | 29 January 2019

Design principles

Comment

Design additions and alterations to retain the scale
and massing of front elevations and the original roof
form as viewed from the primary street frontages.

As shown in the Architectural Plans that accompanied the SEE, the
front elevation of the building is not proposed to change. The
proposal seeks to replace the existing mezzanine structure and will
sit within the sloped roof. As shown in the street views within the
Architectural Plans and below, the alterations and additions will
have no visibility when viewed from the frontage of Balfour Street.

Retain and protect early industrial and pre-war,
interwar and post war warehouse buildings.

The proposal seeks to retain and adaptively reuse the existing
warehouse building. Key external elements, including the facades,
will remain unchanged.

Protect the curtilage of heritage items to enable visual
appreciation of the buildings in their setting.

The proposal relates to a commercial use and therefore will not
contribute to the growth of residential development.

Continue to support non-residential uses on sites with
active ground floor uses on Broadway, Regent Street
and City Road.

The proposal relates to a commercial use and therefore will not
contribute to the conversion of sites for residential purposes.

Maintain the existing pattern of retail and small scale
commercial uses scattered throughout the
neighbourhood.

The proposal seeks consent for a small scale commercial use that
will be accommodated within the existing warehouse building.
Accordingly, the proposal will therefore contribute to maintaining the
character of the area which is typified by small scale commercial
uses.

Design institutional development to be sympathetic to
the scale and fine grain character of the area.

Whilst the proposal does not constitute an institutional development,
it maintains the existing building envelope and will therefore
continue to be sympathetic to the fine-grain character that prevails
within the streetscape.

Maintain and reinforce the existing character of well
established street tree plantings including those in
Bartley, Balfour and Buckland Streets.

The proposed alterations and additions will have no impact on the
existing character of the streetscape.

The proposed development will reflect the desired character of the locality as it will assist in meeting the objectives
set out in the relevant character statement in the DCP. The retention of the existing building envelope and the
consequent contravention of the standard will assist in conserving and restoring the existing warehouse building
which contributes to the industrial character of the heritage conservation area to which it relates.
It is considered that the contravention of the standard provides a superior outcome that would otherwise not be
attainable through strict compliance with the control. If the proposal were to comply with the development standard,
it would result in a significantly reduced built form which would be incompatible with the surrounding warehouse
buildings that are commensurate in bulk and scale to the subject site.

Ethos Urban | 218073

91

8

29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale | Statement of Environmental Effects | 29 January 2019

3.2

Clause 4.6(3)(b): Environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the development
standard

Clause 4.6(3)(b) of The Hills LEP 2012 requires the departure from the development standard to be justified by
demonstrating:
That there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the
development standard
There are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravention of the height development standard in
this specific instance.
In Four2Five, the Court found that the environmental planning grounds advanced by the applicant in a Clause 4.6
variation request must be particular to the circumstances of the proposed development on that site. In this regard,
the proposed variation is particular to the circumstances of the proposed development on the site for the following
reasons:


The proposed FSR is commensurate with that which already exists on site and therefore does not seek to
increase the density of the development.



The proposal increases the site’s existing GFA by 6.8m2 (0.02%) which is considered to be a negligible and will
not intensify the use of the site.



The additional FSR will not substantially alter the envelope of the development and consequently will have no
impact on view corridors obtained from surrounding properties.



The maximum FSR nominated by the SLEP 2012 was established subsequent to the redevelopment of the site
and therefore cannot reasonably be applied to proposals that seek consent to retain the existing building
envelope;



The proposed development seeks to maintain and upgrade the existing warehouse building. In doing so the
proposal respects site’s unique qualities and location within a heritage conservation area and will continue to
contribute to the legibility of the locality’s industrial character.



As demonstrated by the shadow diagrams that accompanied the SEE, the proposal will provide a minimal
amount of overshadowing on the basis that the alterations and additions are minor and will not substantially
amend the existing envelope.



The proposal does not include on-site parking and consequently the additional GFA will not give rise to
additional traffic generation.

Overall, in light of the above, the proposed variation to the site’s maximum FSR control does not result in
unacceptable impacts to surrounding properties or the heritage values of the locality.

3.3

Clause 4.6(4)(a)(i): The applicant’s written request has adequately addressed the matters
required to be demonstrated by subclause (3)

Subclause (3) has been adequately addressed at Section 4.1 and 4.2 above.

3.4

Clause 4.6(4)(a)(ii): The proposed development will be in the public interest because it is
consistent with the objectives of the particular standard and the objectives for development
within the zone in which the development is proposed to be carried out

In Initial Action v Woollahra Municipal Council [27], it is established that it is the proposed development’s
consistency with the objectives of the development standard and the objectives of the zone that make the proposed
development in the public interest. Accordingly, it is demonstrated throughout this Clause 4.6 that the proposal is in
the public interest as it is entirely consistent with the objectives of the development standard and the objectives of
the zone.

Ethos Urban | 218073

92

9

29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale | Statement of Environmental Effects | 29 January 2019

3.4.1

Consistency with objectives of the development standard

The proposed development is consistent with the objectives of the maximum FSR development standard, for the
reasons discussed in Section 3.1.1 of this report.

3.4.2

Consistency with objectives of the zone

The proposed development is consistent with the objectives of the B4 Mixed Use zone, as demonstrated over the
page.
Objective (a): To provide a mixture of compatible land uses
The immediate surrounding development consists of a mix of two storey townhouses and warehouse buildings
containing commercial uses. The proposal seeks consent for a commercial use and therefore provides a compatible
land use. The proposed alterations and additions will allow for upgrades to an existing building commensurate with
current market expectations of commercial buildings within Central Sydney. The alterations and additions will
improve the functionality of the commercial floor plate to attract a long-term tenant.
Objective (b): To integrate suitable business, office, residential, retail and other development in accessible
locations so as to maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling
The site is located in walking distance of Central Station and Redfern Station. It is also in walking distance of
Central Park and close to the Sydney CBD which accommodate a range of office and retail services.
The proposal does not seek consent for on-site parking. The absence of parking and the site’s ample access to
public transport / services will maximise public transport patronage and encourage walking and cycling.
Objective (c): To ensure uses support the viability of centres
The site is located within the Harbour CBD Metropolitan Centre. The proposal will introduce a commercial use within
a walking catchment of public transport. It will therefore assist in generating employment opportunities that are
easily accessible which will support the growth and viability of the Centre.

3.5

Other Matters for Consideration

Under clause 4.6(5), in deciding whether to grant concurrence, the Director-General must consider the following
matters:
(5)

In deciding whether to grant concurrence, the Secretary must consider:
(a)
(b)
(c)

whether contravention of the development standard raises any matter of significance for State or
regional environmental planning, and
the public benefit of maintaining the development standard, and
any other matters required to be taken into consideration by the Secretary before granting
concurrence.

These matters are addressed in detail below.

3.5.1

Clause 4.6(5)(a): Whether contravention of the development standard raises any matter of
significance for State or regional environmental planning

The variation of the maximum building height development standard does not raise any matter of significance for
State or regional planning. We do note, however, that the proposal is consistent with the Greater Sydney Region
Plan and Eastern City District Plan in that it will:


facilitate a redevelopment that improves the supply of quality of commercial office space;



increase the provision of employment opportunities within the Harbour CBD;

Ethos Urban | 218073

93

10

29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale | Statement of Environmental Effects | 29 January 2019



assist in providing employment opportunities close to public transport and housing; and



contribute to maintaining the local identity and heritage quality of the subject locality.

3.5.2

Clause 4.6(5)(b): The public benefit of maintaining the development standard

As demonstrated above, there is no public benefit maintaining the development standard in terms of State and
regional planning objectives.
The variation proposed to the FSR is in the public interest as it will allow the achievement of a viable commercial
development of the site to serve market demands and will do so in the absence of unreasonable or unwarranted
planning impacts.
There are a number of strategic and design outcomes as described throughout this Statement that warrant the
proposed variation to the development standard and it is therefore considered to be in the public interest for the
variation to be supported in this case.

3.5.3

Clause 4.6(5)(c): Any other matters required to be taken into consideration by the Secretary
before granting concurrence.

None.

Ethos Urban | 218073

94

11

29-43 Balfour Street, Chippendale | Statement of Environmental Effects | 29 January 2019

4.0

Conclusion

The assessment above demonstrates that compliance with the maximum FSR development standard contained in
Clause 4.4 of The SLEP 2012 is unreasonable and unnecessary in the circumstances of the case and that the
justification is well founded on environmental planning grounds.
It is considered that the variation allows for the orderly and economic use of the land in an appropriate manner,
whilst also allows for a superior outcome in planning terms. This Clause 4.6 variation demonstrates, notwithstanding
the non-compliance with the maximum FSR development standard, that:


there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the development standard, as the
non-compliance will not give rise to additional amenity impacts such as overshadowing and privacy impacts;



The proposal provides an appropriate density for the site that is largely consistent with the existing built form
and commensurate in bulk and scale with surrounding developments;



Compliance with the development standard would be both unreasonable and unnecessary in this instance
because the development is able to fully satisfy the objectives of the B4 Mixed Use zone and the objectives of
the maximum FSR development standard;



The proposal will assist in upgrading an existing commercial building commensurate to contemporary market
expectations; and



The existing building contravenes the development standard and maintaining the contravention provides a
superior built-form outcome in that it will assist in adaptively reusing a historic warehouse located within a
heritage conservation area.

In particular, the variation proposed to building height will result in a better planning outcome when compared to a
compliant scheme on the site as it will allow the achievement of a viable commercial development of the site, which
is in the public interest for the reasons outlined above.
Therefore, there is sufficient justification for the DA may be approved with the variation as proposed in accordance
with the flexibility allowed under Clause 4.6 of the SLEP 2012.

Yours sincerely,

Alicia Desgrand
Senior Urbanist, Planning
9956 6962
adesgrand@ethosurban.com

Ethos Urban | 218073

Belinda Thomas
Principal Planning
9956 6962
bthomas@ethosurban.com

95

12

CONFIDENTIAL
By virtue of the Local Government Act 1993 Section 10A Paragraph 2

Document is Restricted

96

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Item 4.
Development Application: 13-15 Bayswater Road, Potts Point
File No.:

D/2018/1411

Summary
Date of Submission:

22 November 2018 with amended plans and details
received 21 December 2018

Applicant:

Space Landscape Designs Pty Ltd

Architect/Designer:

Space Landscape Designs Pty Ltd

Owner:

Pamela Joy Williams and W Warren Scott, Strata Plan No
85899

Cost of Works:

$69,400

Zoning:

B2 Local Centre zone. The proposal comprises alterations
to a residential flat building which is permissible with
consent.

Proposal Summary:

Alterations and additions to the existing rooftop terrace of
Unit 902.The works include the erection of a structure on
the south-western corner of the terrace to accommodate
plant and an adjoining timber pergola with seating
underneath; landscaping, including the provision of
planters and seating areas; and demolition of internal, nonstructural walls within the existing stairwell and
replacement with aluminium framed glazed doors.
The application is reported to the Local Planning Panel as
the proposal exceeds the 27m building height development
standard pursuant to Clause 4.3 of the Sydney Local
Environmental Plan 2012 (Sydney LEP 2012) by 7.88m or
29.2%.
A written request has been provided seeking a variation to
the height development standard in accordance with
Clause 4.6 of the Sydney LEP 2012. The request to vary
the development standard is supported.

1

Local Planning Panel

Proposal Summary
(continued):

20 February 2019

The application was advertised and notified for a period of
14 days between 23 November 2018 and 8 December
2018. Three submissions were received, which raised
concerns regarding the use of the terrace, overshadowing,
loss of views and further details to be required. These
concerns have been addressed within the report and the
proposal is considered to be acceptable.
The application is recommended for approval, subject to
conditions.

Summary Recommendation:

The development application is recommended for
approval, subject to conditions.

Development Controls:

(i)

Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney
Harbour Catchment) 2005 (Deemed SEPP)

(ii)

Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 (Gazetted 14
December 2012, as amended)

(iii)

Sydney Development Control Plan 2012 (in force on
14 December 2012, as amended)

A.

Recommended Conditions of Consent

B.

Selected Drawings

C.

Clause 4.6 Variation Request

Attachments:

2

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Recommendation
It is resolved that consent be granted to Development Application No. D/2018/1411 subject
to the conditions set out in Attachment A to the subject report.
Reasons for Recommendation
The application is recommended for approval for the following reasons:
(A)

Subject to conditions, the proposed development will be consistent with the aims and
objectives of the B2 - Local Centre zone.

(B)

The proposal will not impact on the character and heritage significance of the subject
contributory building and heritage conservation area.

(C)

The proposed development will not adversely impact neighbouring residential amenity
and will provide adequate levels of residential amenity.

(D)

The proposal is considered to be suitable for the site.

(E)

The proposal will have no detrimental effect on the public interest, subject to
appropriate conditions.

(F)

Subject to conditions, the proposal generally satisfies the relevant strategy, objectives
and provisions of the Sydney LEP 2012 and the Sydney DCP 2012.

(G)

The requested variation to the Clause 4.3 of the Sydney LEP 2012 "Height of
Buildings" is upheld because the consent authority is satisfied that the applicant's
written request has adequately addressed the matters required to be addressed by
Clause 4.6 of the Sydney LEP 2012 and the proposed development would be in the
public interest because it is consistent with the objectives of the Height of Buildings
development standard and the B2 Local Centre zone.

3

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Background
The Site and Surrounding Development
1.

A site visit was carried out by Council staff on 11 December 2018.

2.

The site is irregular in shape, with an area of approximately 1,658sqm. It has a primary
street frontage to Bayswater Road to the north and secondary street frontages to
Pennys Lane to the west and Goderich Lane to the south. A nine storey residential flat
building is located on the site.

3.

This development application relates to Unit 902, which is located on Level 9 of the
building and benefits from access to an existing rooftop terrace, located in the south
eastern corner of the building. It is one of four of the building's rooftop terraces.
Surrounding land uses are residential and commercial.

4.

The site is not a heritage item but is located within the Potts Point Conservation Area
(C51).

5.

Photos of the site and surrounds are provided below:

Figure 1: Aerial image of subject site and surrounding area. The location of the rooftop terrace is
indicated in red.

4

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Figure 2: View of the northern elevation of the subject building from Bayswater Road. The terrace is
to the rear.

Figure 3: View from the existing roof terrace to the south.

5

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Figure 4: View westwards from the existing roof terrace.

Figure 5: View across the existing roof terrace to the north.

6

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Figure 6: View across the existing roof terrace to the northeast.

Figure 7: View westwards across the existing roof terrace towards the access stairwell.

7

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Figure 8: View eastwards across the existing roof terrace.

Figure 9: Location of terrace as viewed from Goderich Lane.

8

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Proposal
6.

The application seeks consent for alterations to the existing rooftop terrace associated
with Unit 902. The proposed works include:
(a)

The erection of a structure on the south-western corner of the terrace to
accommodate plant (air conditioning and a hot water system and an adjoining
timber pergola with seating underneath.

(b)

Landscaping, including the provision of planters and seating areas.

(c)

Demolition of internal, non-structural walls within the existing stairwell and
replacement of aluminium framed glazed doors.

7.

During the assessment of the application a materials schedule was provided and the
storage room proposed was amended to be a plant room.

8.

Plans of the proposed development are provided below.

Figure 10: Proposed layout of existing roof terrace

9

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Figure 11: Section of terrace with pergola looking east

Figure 12: Section of terrace with pergola looking west.

History Relevant to the Development Application
9.

There is an extensive history for the site. The following history is relevant to the subject
application:
D/2018/466 – consent granted on 22 June 2018 for alterations and additions to rooftop
terrace associated with Unit 903 (North West corner of building) including new covered
pergola, new raised timber deck and new glazed doors and louvres to replace existing
aluminium louvres.

Economic/Social/Environmental Impacts
10.

The application has been assessed under Section 4.15 of the Environmental Planning
and Assessment Act 1979, including consideration of the following matters:
(a)

Environmental Planning Instruments and DCPs.

10

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005 (Deemed
SEPP)
11.

The site is located within the designated hydrological catchment of Sydney Harbour
and is subject to the provisions of the above SREP.

12.

The Sydney Harbour Catchment Planning Principles must be considered in the
carrying out of development within the catchment. The key relevant principles include:

13.

(a)

protect and improve hydrological, ecological and geomorphologic processes;

(b)

consider cumulative impacts of development within the catchment;

(c)

improve water quality of urban runoff and reduce quantity and frequency of urban
run-off; and

(d)

protect and rehabilitate riparian corridors and remnant vegetation.

The site is within the Sydney Harbour Catchment and eventually drains into the
Harbour. However, the site is not located in the Foreshores Waterways Area or
adjacent to a waterway and therefore, with the exception of the objective of improved
water quality, the objectives of the SREP are not applicable to the proposed
development. The development is consistent with the controls contained with the
deemed SEPP.

Sydney LEP 2012
14.

The site is located within the B2 Local Centre zone. The proposed development
comprises alterations to a residential flat building and is permissible.

15.

The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012
for the proposed development are outlined below.

Compliance Tables
Development Control

Compliance

Comment

4.3 Height of Buildings

No

A maximum height of 27m is permitted.
A height of 34.88m is proposed (as
measured from ground level on
Goderich Lane).

4.4 Floor Space Ratio

Yes

A maximum FSR of 5:1 is permitted.
No additional FSR is proposed. A plant
room is proposed, which is not
considered to be FSR; however, it is
recommended through a condition to be
reduced in size.

11

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Development Control

Compliance

Comment

4.6 Exceptions to development
standards

Yes

The proposal seeks to vary the height
development standard prescribed under
Clause 4.3.
See discussion under the heading
Issues.

5.10 Heritage conservation

Yes

The subject site is not a heritage item
but is located within a heritage
conservation area. The proposed works
are located at roof level are generally
not be visible from the public domain.
Therefore, the alterations are not
considered to have a detrimental impact
on the character of the heritage
conservation area.

Part 6 Local Provisions Height and Floor Space

Compliance

Comment

Division 4 Design excellence

Yes

The proposed development satisfies the
requirements of this provision.

Sydney DCP 2012
16.

The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Development Control Plan 2012
for the proposed development are outlined below.

2. Locality Statements – Kings Cross
The subject site is located in the Kings Cross locality. The proposed alterations and
additions to the roof top terrace are considered to be in keeping with the unique character
of the area and design and would not have a detrimental impact on the streetscape or
surrounding taller buildings. The proposal will generally not be seen from the public
domain.

12

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

3. General Provisions

Compliance

Comment

3.9 Heritage

Yes

The existing building is located within a
heritage conservation area and is
identified as a contributory building. The
proposed development will be modest in
scale and consists of a lightweight
pergola structure located at rooftop
level, which will largely not be visible
from the public domain.
It is considered that the proposal will not
impact on the character of the existing
building or wider heritage conservation
area.
A condition is recommended requiring a
reduction in size of the proposed plant
room, which has a proposed area of
13sqm, which is considered to be
excessive for the small amount of plant
to be contained. A condition is also
proposed stating that the plant room
cannot be used for storage.

13

Local Planning Panel

4. Development Types

20 February 2019

Compliance

Comment

Yes

The proposed structures will be located
on the existing roof terrace, with
acceptable levels of separation from
neighbouring residential properties.
Given the separation distances and the
lightweight nature of the proposal, the
development will not adversely impact
residential amenity in terms of solar
access or outlook, with no important
significant views being blocked by the
proposal.

4.2 Residential flat,
commercial and mixed use
developments
4.2.3 Amenity

The rooftop terrace is currently
trafficable and this will not be intensified
by the proposed development.
Therefore, the proposal will not
unreasonably impact on existing levels
of neighbouring visual or acoustic
privacy.
In light of the above, it is considered that
the proposed development will not
adversely impact neighbouring
residential amenity, consistent with the
provisions of section 4.2.3 of the DCP.

Issues
Height
17.

The site is permitted to have a maximum height of 27m under Clause 4.3 of Sydney
LEP 2012. The proposed development seeks a maximum height of the building of
34.88m. This exceeds the maximum permitted height by 7.88m or 29.2%.

18.

The additional height is a result of the proposed pergola and plant structure on the
existing roof terrace; however, is below the highest point of the existing structures on
the building.

19.

In accordance with Clause 4.6 of Sydney LEP 2012, the applicant has submitted a
written justification seeking exception to the Height development standard, which is
discussed below.

Clause 4.6 request to vary a development standard
20.

The site is subject to a maximum height control of 27m. The proposed development
has height of 34.88m, a 29.2% variation to the height control.

14

Local Planning Panel

21.

22.

20 February 2019

A written request has been submitted to Council in accordance with Clause 4.6(3)(a)
and (b) of the Sydney LEP 2012 seeking to justify the contravention of the
development standard by demonstrating:
(a)

that compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary
in the circumstances of the case; and

(b)

that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening
the standard.

A copy of the applicants written request is provided at Attachment C.

Applicants Written Request - Clause 4.6(3)(a) and (b)
23.

The applicant seeks to justify the contravention of the height of building development
standard on the following basis:
(a)

(b)

That compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary
in the circumstances of the case:
(i)

The existing building does not comply with the maximum height of 27m.
The proposed pergola is below the existing roof structure on the terrace.

(ii)

The height of the pergola is under 3.5m and therefore is at an acceptable
height for this type of structure.

(iii)

The proposal is consistent with the character of the area.

(iv)

Council recently approved the same structure for the roof terrace of Unit
903. Therefore Council have departed from the standard and strict
compliance for Unit 902 would be unreasonable.

(v)

The structure will not adversely impact the character of the area as it is not
visible from the streetscape and is located at the rear of the site.

That there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening
the standard:
(i)

The proposal is consistent with the character of the area.

(ii)

The structure will have minimal impact to neighbouring properties and will
not cause any overshadowing.

(iii)

The development is a minor modification to the existing building.

(iv)

The pergola will not obstruct views and as such is consistent with the
objective.

(v)

The same structure was recently approved for unit 903 and therefore this
approval will not set precedent.

Consideration of Applicants Written Request - Clause 4.6(4) (a) (i) and (ii)
24.

Development consent must not be granted unless the consent authority is satisfied
that:

15

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

(a)

the applicant’s written request has adequately addressed the matters required to
be demonstrated by subclause 3 of Clause 4.6 being that compliance with the
development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of
the case, and that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify
contravening the standard; and

(b)

the proposed development will be in the public interest because it is consistent
with the objectives of the particular standard and the objectives for development
within the zone in which the development is proposed to be carried out.

Does the written request adequately address those issues at Clause 4.6(3)(a)?
25.

The applicant's written request has adequately demonstrated that compliance with the
development standard for Height is unreasonable and unnecessary in the
circumstances of this case as the proposed development satisfies the objectives for
Height, notwithstanding non-compliance with the standard.

26.

The proposed development is consistent with the objectives for the B2 Local Centre
zone under SLEP 2012 and is in the public interest as the pergola has been designed
to be below the existing building height and will not be seen from the public domain.
The additional height does not result in any adverse environmental impacts to
surrounding properties and as such, compliance with the development standard is
considered unreasonable and unnecessary.

Does the written request adequately address those issues at clause 4.6(3)(b)?
27.

The applicant's written request has adequately addressed that there are sufficient
environmental planning grounds to justify contravening the Height development
standard as the proposed development will be lower than the highest point of the
building and responds appropriately to this.

Is the development in the public interest?
28.

The proposed development is in the public interest as it is consistent with objectives of
the Height development standard and the B2 Local Centre zone. The proposed
development achieves a height that does not result in any adverse amenity impacts on
surrounding properties or the streetscape, and will provide for improved amenity of the
residents of the unit.

29.

The proposed development achieves the objectives for the B2 Local Centre zone by
providing amenity to the existing residential use.

Conclusion
30.

For the reasons provided above the requested variation to the height standard is
supported as the applicant's written request has adequately addressed the matters
required to be addressed by cl 4.6 of the Sydney LEP 2012 and the proposed
development would be in the public interest because it is consistent with the objectives
of Height development standard and the B2 Local Centre zone.

Other Impacts of the Development
31.

The proposed development is capable of complying with the BCA.

32.

It is considered that the proposal will have no significant detrimental effect relating to
environmental, social or economic impacts on the locality, subject to appropriate
conditions being imposed.

16

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Suitability of the site for the Development
33.

The proposal is of a nature in keeping with the overall function of the site. The
premises are in a commercial/residential surrounding.

Internal Referrals
34.

The conditions of other sections of Council have been included in the proposed
conditions. Council's Heritage and Urban Design officers do not object to the proposal,
subject to the plant room being deleted or reduced in size, which has the potential to
be used as storage and would be additional Gross Floor Area (GFA). A condition is
also recommended requiring specific materials and colours to be submitted.

External Referrals
Notification, Advertising and Delegation (Submissions Received)
35.

In accordance with Schedule 1 the Sydney DCP 2012, the proposed development is
required to be notified. As such the application was notified for a period of 14 days
between 23 November 2018 and 8 December 2018. As a result of this notification
three submissions were received. The issues raised in the submissions included:
(a)

Concerns that additional external lighting on the rooftop terrace will cause
adverse light spill onto neighbouring properties.
Response - No external lighting is proposed or approved as part of the
application.

(b)

Work has already commenced and when completed will block harbour views
from neighbouring properties.
Response - At the time of inspection no building works had commenced. It is
noted that works have begun for the approval at unit 903. Important views of the
harbour will not be blocked due the location, minor scale and lightweight design
of the proposed structures. It is noted that the submitter is within a commercial
office.

(c)

The height of building is unclear as no RL’s have been provided and a clause 4.6
variation request should be required.
Response - Subsequent to the exhibition period, the applicant has provided RL’s
for the building and proposed works. A Clause 4.6 statement of justification has
been provided and discussed in detail under the Issues section of this report.

(d)

Shadow diagrams have not been provided to demonstrate that the development
will not adversely impact neighbouring properties.
Response - Given the modest scale and rooftop location of the proposed
structures, it is not considered necessary to provide shadow diagrams in this
instance. Adequate separation distances between the subject site and
neighbouring properties will ensure that there will not be an adverse impact on
neighbouring properties in relation to solar access as a result of the proposal.

17

Local Planning Panel

(e)

20 February 2019

The new storage room will add GFA and no details of FSR for the site have been
provided.
Response - The proposed plant room is recommended to be reduced in size to
ensure that it will house the plant only and not be used for storage, which would
be additional GFA. A condition is also proposed stating that the plant room
cannot be used for storage.

(f)

Additional noise impacts from the roof terrace, which will allow large groups to
enjoy the terrace. A condition is requested to limit the number of person who can
use the terrace at any one time, in order to limit noise and disturbance. An
acoustic report should be provided.
Response - The roof terrace is existing and is attached to a single residential
unit. The proposed development will not increase its size or capacity. There are
currently no conditions that limit the number of persons who can use the existing
terrace and therefore it would be unreasonable to impose such a condition as
part of this application consent.

Public Interest
36.

It is considered that the proposal will have no detrimental effect on the public interest,
subject to appropriate conditions being proposed.

S7.11 Contribution
37.

The development is not subject to a S7.11 development contribution as it is for
structures on the existing roof terrace, which will not increase the net population of the
building in accordance with the City of Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2015
and is excluded from the need to pay a contribution. A contribution is therefore not
payable.

Relevant Legislation
38.

The Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979.

Conclusion
39.

The application proposes alterations and additions to the existing rooftop terrace of
Unit 902, which is one of four rooftop terraces. The works include the erection of a
structure on the south-western corner of the terrace to accommodate plant and an
adjoining timber pergola with seating underneath; landscaping, including the provision
of planters and seating areas; and demolition of internal, non-structural walls within the
existing stairwell and replacement with aluminium framed glazed doors.

18

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

40.

The proposal results in a breach of the 27m building height development standard by
7.88m or 29.2%. The applicant has submitted a Clause 4.6 variation to height request
under the Sydney LEP 2012. The requested variation to the height development
standard is upheld in this instance because the consent authority is satisfied that the
applicant's amended written request has adequately addressed the matters required to
be addressed by Clause 4.6 of the Sydney LEP 2012 and the proposed development
would be in the public interest because it is consistent with the objectives of Clause 4.3
Height and B2 Local Centre zone. It is considered that strict compliance with the height
of buildings development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in this instance.

41.

Subject to the reduction in size of the plant room, the proposal is generally consistent
with the objectives, standards, and guidelines of the relevant planning controls, subject
to conditions. The proposal will provide additional amenity to the unit and cannot
generally be seen from the public domain. It is noted that unit 903 recently had a
similar proposal approved.

42.

Accordingly, the Development Application is recommended for approval, subject to
conditions.

GRAHAM JAHN, AM
Director City Planning, Development and Transport
Bridget McNamara, Area Coordinator

19

Attachment A
Recommended Conditions of Consent

20

CONDITIONS OF CONSENT
SCHEDULE 1A
APPROVED DEVELOPMENT/DESIGN MODIFICATIONS/COVENANTS AND
CONTRIBUTIONS/USE AND OPERATION
Note: Some conditions in Schedule 1A are to be satisfied prior to issue of a Construction
Certificate and some are to be satisfied prior to issue of Occupation Certificate, where
indicated.
(1)

APPROVED DEVELOPMENT
(a)

Development must be in accordance with Development Application No.
D/2018/1411 dated 22 November 2018 and the following drawings prepared
by Space Landscape Designs:
Drawing Number

Drawing Name

Date

DA-01 D
DA-03 C
DA-04 C

Location/Site Plan
Pergola Elevations
Pergola Elevations

24 January 2019
18 December 2018
18 December 2018

and as amended by the conditions of this consent.
(b)

(2)

In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and
supplementary documentation, the plans will prevail.

DESIGN MODIFICATIONS
The design of the building must be modified as follows:
(a)

The plant room is to be reduced in size to contain the plant only. It is to be
set back a minimum of 2 metres from the southern boundary. The pergola
structure may be extended to cover the kitchen area.

The modifications are to be submitted to and approved by Council’s Area Planning
Manager prior to the issue of any Construction Certificate.
(3)

MATERIALS AND SAMPLES SCHEDULE – MINOR DEVELOPMENT
A detailed materials, colours and finishes schedule keyed to the terrace must be
submitted to and approved by Council’s Area Planning Manager prior to any
Construction Certificate being issued. The materials and samples board must not
include generic material or colour descriptions, or use terminology such as ‘or
similar’.

(4)

PLANT ROOM
The approved plant room is to be used to house plant only and not to be used for
storage.

SCHEDULE 1B

21

PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATE/COMMENCEMENT OF WORK/HEALTH AND
BUILDING
(5)

WORKS REQUIRING USE OF A PUBLIC PLACE
Where construction/building works require the use of a public place including a
road or footpath, approval under Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 is to be
obtained from Council prior to the commencement of work. Details of any
barricade construction, area of enclosure and period of work are required to be
submitted to the satisfaction of Council.

22

SCHEDULE 1C
DURING CONSTRUCTION/PRIOR TO OCCUPATION/COMPLETION
(6)

OCCUPATION CERTIFICATE TO BE SUBMITTED
An Occupation Certificate must be obtained from the Principal Certifier and a copy
submitted to Council prior to commencement of occupation or use of the whole or
any part of a new building, an altered portion of, or an extension to an existing
building.

(7)

HOURS OF WORK AND NOISE – OUTSIDE CBD
The hours of construction and work on the development must be as follows:
(a)

All work, including building/demolition and excavation work, and activities in
the vicinity of the site generating noise associated with preparation for the
commencement of work (eg. loading and unloading of goods, transferring of
tools etc) in connection with the proposed development must only be carried
out between the hours of 7.30am and 5.30pm on Mondays to Fridays,
inclusive, and 7.30am and 3.30pm on Saturdays, with safety inspections
being permitted at 7.00am on work days, and no work must be carried out
on Sundays or public holidays.

(b)

All work, including demolition, excavation and building work must comply
with the City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992
and Australian Standard 2436 - 2010 Guide to Noise Control on
Construction, Maintenance and Demolition Sites.

(c)

Notwithstanding the above, the use of a crane for special operations,
including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant and equipment and
erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which warrant the on-street
use of mobile cranes outside of above hours can occur, subject to a permit
being issued by Council under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993
and/or Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993.

Note: Works may be undertaken outside of hours, where it is required to avoid the
loss of life, damage to property, to prevent environmental harm and/or to avoid
structural damage to the building. Written approval must be given by the
Construction Regulation Unit, prior to works proceeding
The City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 allows
extended working hours subject to the approval of an application in accordance
with the Code and under Section 4.55 of the Environmental Planning and
Assessment Act 1979.
(8)

COVERING OF LOADS
All vehicles involved in the excavation and/or demolition process and departing
the property with demolition materials, spoil or loose matter must have their loads
fully covered before entering the public roadway.

23

(9)

NO OBSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC WAY
The public way must not be obstructed by any materials, vehicles, refuse, skips or
the like, under any circumstances. Non-compliance with this requirement will result
in the issue of a notice by Council to stop all work on site.

24

SCHEDULE 2
PRESCRIBED CONDITIONS
The prescribed conditions in accordance with Division 8A of the Environmental
Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000 apply:
Clause 98

Compliance with Building Code of Australia and insurance requirements
under the Home Building Act 1989

Clause 98A

Erection of signs

Clause 98B

Notification of Home Building Act 1989 requirements

Clause 98C

Conditions relating to entertainment venues

Clause 98D

Conditions relating to maximum capacity signage

Clause 98E

Conditions relating to shoring and adequacy of adjoining property

Refer to the NSW State legislation for full text of the clauses under Division 8A of the
Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. This can be accessed at:
http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au

25

26

COURTESY OF GOOGLE MAPS

LOCATION OF SUBJECT SITE

27

A
B
C
D

05/11/18
14/11/18
18/12/18
24/01/19

Rev. Date

Issue

Preliminary Issue
DA Issue
Revised DA Issue
Relocate AC and HWS

AE
AE
AE
AE

Checked

17 Bayswater Road

- Contractors to check and verify all dimensions and all levels on site prior to any works.
- Any discrepancies should be immediately referred to Space Landscape Designs.
- All work to comply with B.C.A. Statutory Authorities and relevant Australian Standards.
- Dimensions recognised over scaling. All measurements are in millimetres.

METAL

FIBRE CEMENT SHEETING

GLASS

TIMBER

NEW WORKS COLOURS

C

4400

ABN 60 799 663 674 ACN 139 316 251

F 02 9905 7657

Existing fire
hose reel

DATE:

C.Norris (B.LArch)
05/11/2018
SCALE:
1:100@A3
PROJECT NO: 181598
DRN:

ROOF TERRACE

Lot 119
SP 85899

902 / 13-15 Bayswater Road
POTTS POINT

ADDRESS

Pamela Williams

CLIENT

5200

B

Suite 138, 117 Old Pittwater Rd,
Brookvale NSW 2100

P 02 9905 7870

info@spacedesigns.com.au
spacedesigns.com.au

74.82

Pot plants to screen
northern wall

adjoining unit

74.52

Space Landscape Designs Pty Ltd

4490

74.52

E

5325

Outdoor
BBQ facility

Proposed door
to storage room

GODERICH LANE
B

NOTES:

COURTESY OF GOOGLE MAPS

AERIAL VIEW OF PROPOSED WORKS

Custom made cantilevered
timber bench seat

Proposed raised timber
deck 300mm high over
existing tiles

VIEWS

Existing planting in
planter box to be retained

Feature tree planting in
pot with cluster of pots

D

Dashed line indicates
extent of proposed
covered pergola

A
A

VIEWS

E

NORTH

Internal walls to be
demolished

Stairwell

A/C and gas Hot Water System

D

DA-01

Rev

LOCATION / SITE PLAN

New glass sliding doors
to replace existing
single glass door and
double louvre doors

C

New lightweight cement
bonded wood composite in
earthly tones

Existing skylight

Trough planters

Plant /
rvi
service
room

Proposed door
and wall

D

adjoining unit

A
B
C

Issue

26/10/18 Preliminary Issue
14/11/18 DA Issue
18/12/18 Revised DA Issue

Rev. Date

Outdoor BBQ
facility

- Contractors to check and verify all dimensions and all levels on site prior to any works.
- Any discrepancies should be immediately referred to Space Landscape Designs.
- All work to comply with B.C.A. Statutory Authorities and relevant Australian Standards.
- Dimensions recognised over scaling. All measurements are in millimetres.

SCALE 1:50

74.52

Proposed
shade structure

ELEVATION BB

Door to plant
room

SCALE 1:50

ELEVATION AA

Cantilevered timber
bench seat

NOTES:

3430

28

AE
AE
AE

Checked

Trough planters

Existing skylight

74.82

Proposed raised timber deck
300mm high over existing tiles

F 02 9905 7657
Suite 138, 117 Old Pittwater Rd,
Brookvale NSW 2100

P 02 9905 7870

info@spacedesigns.com.au
spacedesigns.com.au

ABN 60 799 663 674 ACN 139 316 251

Space Landscape Designs Pty Ltd

74.52

Covered lounge
space

902 / 13-15 Bayswater Road
POTTS POINT

ADDRESS

Pamela Williams

Timber posts

C.Norris (B.LArch)
26/10/2018
SCALE:
1:50@A3
PROJECT NO: 181598
DATE:

DRN:

New glass sliding doors to
replace existing single glass
door and double louvre doors

74.52

CLIENT

Proposed shade
structure

Lightweight cement bonded
wood composite in earthy tones

Existing hedge in
planter box to be
retained

3430

DA-03

Rev

PERGOLA ELEVATIONS

METAL

C

FIBRE CEMENT SHEETING

GLASS

TIMBER

NEW WORKS COLOURS

Proposed plant room.
FSC painted to match
existing building.

A
B
C

- Contractors to check and verify all dimensions and all levels on site prior to any works.
- Any discrepancies should be immediately referred to Space Landscape Designs.
- All work to comply with B.C.A. Statutory Authorities and relevant Australian Standards.
- Dimensions recognised over scaling. All measurements are in millimetres.

Issue

26/10/18 Preliminary Issue
14/11/18 DA Issue
18/12/18 Revised DA Issue

Rev. Date

NOTES:

SCALE 1:100

AE
AE
AE

Checked

Proposed shade
structure

74.82

Proposed raised timber deck
300mm high over existing tiles

NORTH ELEVATION DD (GODERICH LANE)

SCALE 1:50

ELEVATION CC

Feature tree
pot plant

74.52

Proposed shade
structure

F 02 9905 7657
Suite 138, 117 Old Pittwater Rd,
Brookvale NSW 2100

P 02 9905 7870

info@spacedesigns.com.au
spacedesigns.com.au

ABN 60 799 663 674 ACN 139 316 251

Space Landscape Designs Pty Ltd

Olive featuree
tree

Existing skylight
Trough
planters

6405

FALL

10585

New glass sliding doors to
replace existing single glass
door and double louvre doors

902 / 13-15 Bayswater Road
POTTS POINT

ADDRESS

Pamela Williams

CLIENT

SCALE 1:100

C.Norris (B.LArch)
26/10/2018
SCALE:
As shown @A3
PROJECT NO: 181598
DATE:

DRN:

ROOF PLAN - PROPOSED COVERED PERGOLA

4375

Lightweight cement
bonded wood
composite in earthy
tones

FALL

Cantilevered timber
bench seat

3430

29
NORTH

4185

Gutter and downpipes
to be connected to
existing SW system

DA-04

Rev

C

PERGOLA ELEVATIONS

4175

New aluminium roof
sheets

METAL

FIBRE CEMENT SHEETING

GLASS

TIMBER

NEW WORKS COLOURS

Attachment C
Clause 4.6 Variation Request

30

20th December 2018
Mr Ross Meachin
Planner
City of Sydney Council

Re: Clause 4.6 request to vary a development standard
D/2018/1411: Unit 902, 13-15 Bayswater Road, Potts Point
On behalf of the owners, we wish to request a Clause 4.6 variation to the development standard
clause 4.3 Height of Buildings under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012.
The objectives of this clause are as follows:
(a) to ensure the height of development is appropriate to the condition of the site and its context,
(b) to ensure appropriate height transitions between new development and heritage items and
buildings in heritage conservation areas or special character areas,
(c) to promote the sharing of views,
(d) to ensure appropriate height transitions from Central Sydney and Green Square Town Centre to
adjoining areas,
(e) in respect of Green Square:
(i) to ensure the amenity of the public domain by restricting taller buildings to only part of a site, and
(ii) to ensure the built form contributes to the physical definition of the street network and public
spaces.
A maximum height of 27m is permitted for the site under the development standard.
The proposed pergola / plant room is 34.88m in height from natural ground level on Goderich Lane
which is a variation of 7.88m or 2.9% which is considered as minor. The proposed pergola is below
the height of the existing roof structure on the terrace so the proposal would not result in an increase
in height to the overall building.
Strict compliance with the development standard would be unreasonable or unnecessary in this
particular case due to the following:
 The existing building does not comply with the maximum height of 27m. The proposed pergola
is below the existing roof structure on the terrace.
 The height of the pergola is under 3.5m and therefore at an acceptable height for this type of
structure.
 The proposal is consistent with the character of the area.

31





Council have recently approved the same structure for the roof terrace of Unit 903. Therefore
council have departed from the standard and strict compliance for Unit 902 would be therefore
unreasonable.
The structure will not adversely impact the character of the area as it is not visible from the
streetscape and located at the rear of the site.

There are sufficient environmental planning rounds to justify contravening the development standard
as outlined below.






The proposal is consistent with the character of the area
The structure will have minimal impact to neighbouring properties and will not cause any
overshadowing.
The development is a minor modification to the existing building
The pergola will not obstruct views and as such is consistent with the objective.
The same structure was recently approved for unit 903 therefore this approval will not set
precedent.

It is felt the objectives of the standard have been achieved notwithstanding non-compliance with the
numerical standard as detailed below.
(a) to ensure the height of development is appropriate to the condition of the site and its context,
The variation proposed will not exceed the height of the existing roof structure. Therefore it is
appropriate to the condition of the site and its context.
(b) to ensure appropriate height transitions between new development and heritage items and
buildings in heritage conservation areas or special character areas,
The development respects the existing ridge height being lower so there is an appropriate height
transition to other buildings.
(c) to promote the sharing of views,
The pergola will not obstruct any views.
(d) to ensure appropriate height transitions from Central Sydney and Green Square Town Centre to
adjoining areas,
Not applicable.
(e) in respect of Green Square:
(i) to ensure the amenity of the public domain by restricting taller buildings to only part of a site, and
(ii) to ensure the built form contributes to the physical definition of the street network and public
spaces.
Not applicable.

32

Conclusion
It is considered the proposed covered pergola to the rooftop terrace generally satisfies the relevant
strategy, objectives and provisions of the Sydney LEP 2012. Therefore there is sufficient
environmental planning grounds to justify a variation of the standard.
The existing building already exceeds the maximum height under the development standard. The
pergola is below the existing roof structure of the building and will not detract from the form and scale
of the building. Therefore for the reasons provided above, we request the variation to the standard is
supported by council.

Amanda Elboz
Director

33

CONFIDENTIAL
By virtue of the Local Government Act 1993 Section 10A Paragraph 2

Document is Restricted

34

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Item 5.
Development Application: 22-24 Billyard Avenue, Elizabeth Bay
File No.:

D/2018/1286

Summary
Date of Submission:

25 October 2018
Amended plans received 5 December 2018

Applicant:

Ms Prudence Williams

Architect/Designer:

TKD Architects

Developer:

-

Owner:

Del Rio Flats Pty Limited

Cost of Works:

$82,995.00

Zoning:

The site lies within a R1 Residential Zone. The proposed
modifications are permissible within the R1 Residential
zone.

Proposal Summary:

The application is referred to the Local Planning Panel for
determination due to the proposed development exceeding
the height of the buildings standard by 35.3%.
The application proposes alterations to the balcony area of
apartment 5 within the Del Rio building. Work includes
removal of the windows enclosing the existing balcony,
reconstruction of the balcony openings to their original
detail, addition of a new a sliding glass door to access the
balcony and adjustment of the roof pitch to raise the height
of the eaves by 335mm.
Amendments have been made to the application to
address concerns regarding the design of the balcony
openings as well as further resolution of the roof details
and their intersection with the adjacent Spanish mission
detailing.

1

Local Planning Panel

Proposal Summary
(continued):

20 February 2019

Amended details were submitted that generally reinstate
the balcony openings to original details based on the
original 1929 drawings by John Spencer Stansfield and
roof details were submitted to the satisfaction of Council's
Heritage and Urban Design specialists.
The Sydney LEP 2012 allows for a maximum building
height of 15m and the Sydney DCP 2012 allows four
storeys in height.
The application proposes alterations at a maximum
building height of 20.3 metres (which is a 5.3m or 35.3%
exceedance to the LEP height standard). The elements of
the building which exceed the LEP height control are
limited to the roof pitch over the existing balcony and sit
below the overall height of the existing building.
The application seeks a variation to the height control
under Clause 4.6. This variation is supported.
The Sydney LEP 2012 permits a maximum floor space
ratio (FSR) of 1:1. The proposal reduces the overall floor
space area by 16sqm by removing the existing balcony
enclosure. The application proposes a FSR of 0.7:1 which
complies with the LEP standard.

Summary Recommendation:

The development application is recommended for
approval, subject to conditions.

Development Controls:

(i)

Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012

(ii)

Sydney Development Control Plan 2012

(iii)

Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney
Harbour Catchment) 2005

A.

Recommended Conditions of Consent

B.

Selected Drawings

Attachments:

2

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Recommendation
It is resolved that:
(A)

the variation requested to Clause 4.3 Height of Buildings in accordance with Clause
4.6 'Exceptions to development standards' of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan
2012 be upheld; and

(B)

consent be granted to Development Application No. D/2018/1286 subject to the
conditions set out in Attachment A to the subject report:

Reasons for Recommendation
The application is recommended for approval for the following reasons:
(A)

It is consistent with the objectives of the R1 Residential zone.

(B)

The requested variation to the Clause 4.3 height of buildings standard is upheld
because the consent authority is satisfied that the applicant's written request has
adequately addressed the matters required to be addressed by Clause 4.6 of the
Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and the proposed development would be in
the public interest because it is consistent with the objectives of Clause 4.3 Height of
Buildings and the R1 Residential zone.

(C)

As conditioned, it is generally consistent with the objectives of the relevant controls for
the site.

(D)

For reasons outlined in the report to the Local Planning Panel.

3

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Background
The Site and Surrounding Development
1.

A site visit was carried out by staff on 9 January 2019.

2.

The site is an irregular shape with an area of approximately 1478sqm. It has a primary
street frontage to Billyard Avenue and also fronts onto Elizabeth Bay and Keltie Bay to
the north east of the site. The site is located in front of the intersection of Billyard
Avenue and Onslow Avenue. A five storey residential flat building known as Del Rio,
approved by Council in 1929 is contained within the site. Surrounding land uses are
predominantly residential.

3.

The site is not a heritage item but is located within the Elizabeth and Rushcutters Bay
Conservation area (C20).

4.

An aerial map of the site and photographs of the subject building both external and
internal are provided as follows:

Figure 1: Aerial image of subject site and surrounding area

4

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Figure 2: Site looking east as viewed from the rear. Subject site is located on the uppermost level

5

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Site

Figure 3: Subject site - existing enclosed balcony

Figure 4: Internal - Existing enclosed balcony

6

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Proposal
5.

The application seeks consent for the following alterations to an existing apartment no.
5 within the Del Rio building:
(i) remove the existing windows enclosing the existing balcony;
(ii) reconstruct the balcony openings to the original details;
(iii) addition of a new sliding glass door to access the balcony;
(iv) adjustment of the roof pitch to raise the height of the eaves by 335mm.

6.

The development application has been amended during the course of the assessment.
Council staff requested amendments to the proposed development in relation to the
recreation of the original balcony openings. It was requested that the new balcony
openings match the original 1929 approved Council drawings. See Figure 8. Further
clarification was also required in relation to the roof details and their intersection with
the adjacent Spanish mission detailing.

7.

Amended details were submitted that reinstate the balcony openings to original details
based on the original 1929 drawings by John Spencer Stansfield and roof details were
submitted to the satisfaction of Council's Heritage and Urban Design specialists.

8.

Plans of the proposed development (as amended) and the 1929 elevation of the
building are provided below.

Figure 5: Proposed floor plans

7

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Figure 6: Proposed east and north elevation

Figure 7: Proposed balcony and roof details

8

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Figure 8: Original drawings by John Spencer Stansfield approved by Council in 1929

Figure 9: Left - Photo of the existing building; Right - Photomontage - proposed new openings

9

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

History Relevant to the Development Application
9.

There are no development applications on file in relation to the subject site. It is
unknown when the existing balcony was enclosed.

Economic/Social/Environmental Impacts
10.

The application has been assessed under Section 4.15 of the Environmental Planning
and Assessment Act 1979, including consideration of the following matters:
(a)

Environmental Planning Instruments and DCPs.

Sydney Regional Environmental Plan (Sydney Harbour Catchment) 2005 (Deemed
SEPP)
11.

The site is located within the designated hydrological catchment of Sydney Harbour
and is subject to the provisions of the above SREP.

12.

The Sydney Harbour Catchment Planning Principles must be considered in the
carrying out of development within the catchment. The key relevant principles include:
(a)

protect and improve hydrological, ecological and geomorphologic processes;

(b)

consider cumulative impacts of development within the catchment;

(c)

improve water quality of urban runoff and reduce quantity and frequency of urban
run-off;

(d)

protect and rehabilitate riparian corridors and remnant vegetation.

13.

The site is within the Sydney Harbour Catchment and eventually drains into the
Harbour. The site is also located within in the Foreshores Waterways Area. The
development does not entail any works which would affect the local hydrology and
therefore the development is consistent with the environmental controls contained
within the deemed SEPP.

14.

The works are also considered to be acceptable with regard to visual quality to the
waterway to the east, as the materials and colours proposed will match those used on
the remainder of the façade. In addition, the proposed roof pitch and glass doors
feature a large setback from both the waterway and the rear building line.

15.

The development is consistent with the controls contained with the deemed SEPP.

State Environmental Planning Policy (Building Sustainability Index: BASIX) 2004
16.

A BASIX Certificate has not been submitted with the development application.

17.

As the development falls under BASIX excluded development as defined under the
Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000, i.e. the alterations result in
a space that cannot be fully enclosed, a BASIX certificate is not required in this
instance.

10

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Sydney LEP 2012
18.

The site is located within the R1 Residential zone. The proposed use is defined as
residential and is permissible with consent.

19.

The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012
for the proposed development are outlined below.

Compliance Tables
Development Control

Compliance

Comment

4.3 Height of Buildings

No

A maximum height of 15m is permitted.
The proposed work sits at a maximum
height of 20.3m.
See discussion under the heading
issues.

4.4 Floor Space Ratio

Yes

A maximum FSR of 1:1 is permitted.
A FSR of 0.7:1 is proposed.

4.6 Exceptions to development
standards

Yes

The proposal seeks to vary the
development standard prescribed under
Clause 4.3 for height of buildings.
See discussion under the heading
Issues.

5.10 Heritage conservation

Yes

The subject site is not a heritage item
but is located within a heritage
conservation area.
Amended details were submitted that
reinstate the balcony openings to the
original details based on the original
1929 drawings by John Spencer
Stansfield and roof details were
submitted to the satisfaction of Council's
Heritage and Urban Design Specialists.
The building reinstates the balcony
openings back to its original 1920's
design which is considered an
improvement on the existing enclosed
balcony and the façade on the east
elevation.

11

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Part 6 Local Provisions Height and Floor Space

Compliance

Comment

Division 3 Height of buildings
and overshadowing

Yes

The minor alterations to the roof pitch
will have no identifiable impact in terms
of overshadowing.

Division 4 Design excellence

Yes

The proposed development satisfies the
requirements of this provision as the
proposal exhibits a high standard of
architectural design, material and
detailing appropriate to the building type
and location; the form and external
appearance of the proposed
development will improve the quality and
amenity of the public domain as the
building reinstates the balcony openings
back to its original 1920's design which
is considered an improvement to the
existing enclosed balcony.

Part 7 Local Provisions General

Compliance

Comment

Division 2 Foreshore
development

Yes

The proposed alterations are set back
considerably from the waterway to the
east and are physically recessed from
the rear building line. Therefore, the
works are not considered visually
prominent and therefore do not have
adverse impacts to the façade or cause
environmental harm to the waterway.
The proposal also aims to use the same
paint finish to match the existing façade
and is therefore compatible with the
building and the surrounding area.

Sydney DCP 2012
20.

The relevant matters to be considered under Sydney Development Control Plan 2012
for the proposed development are outlined below.

12

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

2. Locality Statements – The Bays
The subject site is located in the 'The Bays' locality. The proposal for a new sliding door,
altered roof pitch and removal of the existing balcony enclosure is considered to be in
keeping with the unique character of the area and design principles in that it responds to
and complements the buildings within the conservation area, preserves the diversity of
building types, architectural periods and heights in the area and maintains view corridors
between the harbour and Elizabeth Bay House which is located on Onslow Avenue.

3. General Provisions

Compliance

Comment

3.6 Ecologically Sustainable
Development

Yes

A BASIX certificate is not required

3.9 Heritage

Yes

The existing building is not a heritage
item but is located within a conservation
area.
Amended details were submitted that
reinstate the balcony openings to the
original details based on the original
1929 drawings by John Spencer
Stansfield and roof details were
submitted to the satisfaction of Council's
Heritage and Urban Design Specialists.
The building reinstates the balcony
openings back to its original 1920's
design which is considered an
improvement to the existing enclosed
balcony and the façade on the east
elevation.

3.12 Accessible Design

Yes

The site has access via an internal lift
shaft for occupants with a disability and
numerous waiting spaces on the
landings within the fire stairs.

3.13 Social and Environmental
Responsibilities

Yes

The proposed development provides
adequate passive surveillance and is
generally designed in accordance with
the CPTED principles.

3.14 Waste

Yes

A condition has been recommended for
the proposed development to comply
with the relevant provisions of the City of
Sydney Guidelines for Waste
Management in New Development.

13

Local Planning Panel

4. Development Types

20 February 2019

Compliance

Comment

No

The Sydney DCP 2012 specifies a
maximum height of 4 storeys.

4.2 Residential flat,
commercial and mixed use
developments
4.2.1 Building height

The existing 1920's building already
exceeds 4 storeys and consists of 5
storeys. The proposed work within the
fifth storey does not detract from the
character and significance of the existing
building.
Reinstatement of the original balcony
and openings is a positive contribution to
the character of the existing building.

Issues
Height - Clause 4.6 request to vary a development standard
21.

The Sydney LEP 2012 permits a maximum height control of 15m. The proposed
alterations will occur at a maximum height of 20.3m. The variation to the building
height LEP control results in an exceedance of up to 5.3m, or 35.3%. See Figure 10
below.

14

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Figure 10: Height of proposed work and existing building

22.

A written request has been submitted to Council in accordance with Clause 4.6(3)(a)
and (b) of the Sydney LEP 2012 seeking to justify the contravention of the
development standard by demonstrating:
(a)

that compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary
in the circumstances of the case; and

(b)

that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify contravening
the standard.

Applicants Written Request - Clause 4.6(3)(a) and (b)
23.

The applicant seeks to justify the contravention of the height development standard on
the following basis:
(a)

That compliance with the development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary
in the circumstances of the case:

15

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

(i)

As the proposal involves a technical variation of the maximum building
height standard as the proposal will not alter the maximum height of the
existing building but will involve new work above the 15m height limit.

(ii)

The alteration of the roof pitch has a maximum height of approximately
20.3m as measured from the existing ground level.

(iii)

The removal of the existing windows and reinstatement of the balcony has
a maximum height of approximately 17.8m as measured from the existing
ground level.

(iv)

The variation does not exceed the maximum height of the current building.

(v)

The proposal does not involve a variation to the maximum allowable floor
space ratio for the development under the Sydney Local Environmental
Plan 2012.

(vi)

Compliance with the development standard would be unreasonable and
unnecessary in the circumstances of this development.

Consideration of Applicants Written Request - Clause 4.6(4) (a) (i) and (ii)
24.

Development consent must not be granted unless the consent authority is satisfied
that:
(a)

the applicant’s written request has adequately addressed the matters required to
be demonstrated by subclause 3 of Clause 4.6 being that compliance with the
development standard is unreasonable or unnecessary in the circumstances of
the case, and that there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to justify
contravening the standard; and

(b)

the proposed development will be in the public interest because it is consistent
with the objectives of the particular standard and the objectives for development
within the zone in which the development is proposed to be carried out.

Does the written request adequately address those issues at Clause 4.6(3)(a)?
25.

The written statement provided by the applicant has sufficiently justified that strict
numeric compliance with the development standard is unreasonable and unnecessary
in this instance.

Does the written request adequately address those issues at clause 4.6(3)(b)?
26.

For the reasons outlined above, there are sufficient environmental planning grounds to
justify contravening the building height development standard and it is recommended
that a Clause 4.6 be granted.

Is the development in the public interest?
27.

The proposed development is in the public interest because it is consistent with the
objectives of Clause 4.3 Height of Buildings, in that the height of the development is
appropriate to the condition of the site and its context as the height of the building
predates the height controls; and in accordance with the objectives of the R1
Residential zone, the proposal provides for the housing needs of the community and
maintains the existing land use pattern of the predominantly residential uses in that it
enhances the existing residential use and reinstates the development back to its
original form.

16

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Conclusion
28.

For the reasons provided above the requested variation to the height control is
supported as the applicant's written request has adequately addressed the matters
required to be addressed by cl 4.6 of the Sydney Local Environmental Plan 2012 and
the proposed development would be in the public interest because it is consistent with
the objectives of the height controls and the R1 Residential zone.

Other Impacts of the Development
29.

The proposed development is capable of complying with the BCA. It is Class 2.

30.

It is considered that the proposal will have no significant detrimental effect relating to
environmental, social or economic impacts on the locality, subject to appropriate
conditions being imposed.

Suitability of the site for the Development
31.

The proposal is of a nature in keeping with the overall function of the site. The
premises are in a residential surrounding and amongst similar uses to that proposed.

Internal Referrals
32.

The conditions of other sections of Council have been included in the proposed
conditions.
The application was discussed with the Heritage and Urban Design Specialists;
Building Services Unit; who advised that the proposal is acceptable subject to the
recommended conditions.

External Referrals
Notification, Advertising and Delegation (No Submissions Received)
33.

In accordance with Schedule 1 of the Sydney DCP 2012, the proposed development is
required to be notified. As such the application was notified for a period of 14 days
between 29 October 2018 and 13 November 2018, no submissions were received.

Public Interest
34.

It is considered that the proposal will have no detrimental effect on the public interest,
subject to appropriate conditions being proposed.

S61 Contribution
35.

The cost of the development is under $200,000. The development is therefore not
subject to a levy under the Central Sydney Development Contributions Plan 2013.

17

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Relevant Legislation
36.

The Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979.

Conclusion
37.

The proposal is for alterations to the balcony area of apartment 5 within the Del Rio
building. Work includes removal of the windows enclosing the existing balcony,
reconstruction of the balcony openings to their original detail, addition of a new a
sliding glass door to access the balcony and adjustment of the roof pitch to raise the
height of the eaves by 335mm.

38.

The proposal has been amended to address concerns regarding the design of the
balcony openings as well as further resolution of the roof details and their intersection
with the adjacent Spanish mission detailing.

39.

Amended details were submitted that reinstate the balcony openings to original details
based on the original 1929 drawings by John Spencer Stansfield and roof details were
submitted to the satisfaction of Council's Heritage and Urban Design specialists.

40.

The applicant has submitted a Clause 4.6 variation to height under the Sydney LEP
2012. The variation to the development standard is supported.

41.

Overall, the amended proposal is generally consistent with the objectives, standards
and guidelines of the relevant planning controls.

42.

Accordingly, the Development Application is recommended for approval, subject to
conditions.

GRAHAM JAHN, AM
Director City Planning, Development and Transport
Hannah Del Duca, Planner

18

Attachment A
Recommended Conditions of Consent

19

CONDITIONS OF CONSENT
SCHEDULE 1A
APPROVED DEVELOPMENT/DESIGN MODIFICATIONS/COVENANTS AND
CONTRIBUTIONS/USE AND OPERATION
Note: Some conditions in Schedule 1A are to be satisfied prior to issue of a Construction
Certificate and some are to be satisfied prior to issue of Occupation Certificate, where
indicated.
(1)

APPROVED DEVELOPMENT
(a)

Development must be in accordance with Development Application No.
D/2018/1286 dated 25 October 2018 and the following drawings
prepared by TKD Architects:
Drawing Number

Drawing Name

Date

AR.DA1002 Rev A

Existing floor plan and
elevations

24.09.18

AR.DA2001 Rev B

Proposed floor plan &
elevations

07.01.19

AR.DA.4001 Rev C

Photomontage & Schedule
of Finishes

04.12.18

AR.DA.5001 Rev C

Balcony details

04.12.18

Sheet 1 of 2
AR.DA.5002 Rev C

Balcony details

04.12.18

Sheet 2 of 2
AR.DA.5003 Rev A

Proposed part roof plan

04.12.18

and as amended by the conditions of this consent.
(b)

In the event of any inconsistency between the approved plans and
supplementary documentation, the plans will prevail.

20

PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION CERTIFICATE/COMMENCEMENT OF WORK/HEALTH
AND BUILDING
(2)

ASBESTOS REMOVAL WORKS
(a)

All works removing asbestos containing materials must be carried out by
a suitably licensed asbestos removalist duly licensed with Safework
NSW, holding either a Friable (Class A) or a Non- Friable (Class B)
Asbestos Removal Licence which ever applies.
A copy of the relevant licence shall be made available to any authorised
Council officer on request within 24 hours.

(b)

Five days prior to the commencement of licensed asbestos removal,
Safework NSW must be formally notified of the works. All adjoining
properties and those opposite the development must be notified in
writing of the dates and times when asbestos removal is to be conducted.
The notification must identify the licensed asbestos removal contractor
and include a contact person for the site together with telephone number
and email address.

(c)

All work must be carried out in accordance with the Work Health and
Safety Regulation 2011 and the NSW Government and Work Cover
document entitled How to manage and control asbestos in the work
place: Code of Practice (Safework NSW) December 2011 and the City
of Sydney Managing Asbestos Policy dated 21 October 2013 and
associated guidelines.

(d)

The asbestos removalist must use signs and barricades to clearly
indicate the area where the asbestos removal work is being performed.
Signs must be placed in positions so that people are aware of where the
asbestos removal work area is and should remain in place until removal
is completed and clearance to reoccupy has been granted.
Responsibilities for the security and safety of the asbestos removal site
and removal must be specified in the asbestos removal control plan
(where required). This includes inaccessible areas that are likely to
contain asbestos.

(e)

Warning signs must be placed so they inform all people nearby that
asbestos removal work is taking place in the area. Signs must be placed
at all of the main entry points to the asbestos removal work area where
asbestos is present. These signs must be weatherproof, constructed of
light-weight material and adequately secured so they remain in
prominent locations. The signs must be in accordance with AS 1319 1994 Safety Signs for the Occupational Environment for size,
illumination, location and maintenance.

(f)

Asbestos waste must only be transported and disposed of at an EPA
licensed waste facility.

(g)

No asbestos products are to be reused on the site (i.e. packing pieces,
spacers, formwork or fill etc).

21

(h)

No asbestos laden skips or bins are to be left in any public place without
the written approval of Council.

(i)

A site notice board must be located at the main entrance to the site in a
prominent position and must have minimum dimensions of 841mm x
594mm (A1) with any text on the notice to be a minimum of 30 point type
size.
The site notice board must include the following:

(3)

(i)

contact person for the site;

(ii)

telephone and facsimile numbers and email address; and

(iii)

site activities and time frames.

WORKS REQUIRING USE OF A PUBLIC PLACE
Where construction/building works require the use of a public place including
a road or footpath, approval under Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993 is to be
obtained from Council prior to the commencement of work. Details of any
barricade construction, area of enclosure and period of work are required to
be submitted to the satisfaction of Council.

(4)

WASTE AND RECYCLING MANAGEMENT - MINOR
The proposal must comply with the relevant provisions of Council's Policy for
Waste Minimisation in New Developments 2005 which requires facilities to
minimise and manage waste and recycling generated by the proposal.

(5)

STRUCTURAL CERTIFICATION
ALTERATIONS AND ADDITIONS

FOR

EXISTING

BUILDING

–

A qualified practising certified structural engineer must provide structural
certification to Council (where Council is the Principal Certifier) verifying that
the existing structure can adequately support the proposed new loads and the
structural design complies with the Structural Provisions of Part B1 (Vol 1) and
Part 2.1 (Vol 2) of the Building Code of Australia prior to a Construction
Certificate being issued. The proposed additional loads and/or alterations must
not cause a decrease in the existing structural performance of the building
including its performance under earthquake actions (AS1170.4).

22

SCHEDULE 1C
DURING CONSTRUCTION/PRIOR TO OCCUPATION/COMPLETION
(6)

LOADING AND UNLOADING DURING CONSTRUCTION
The following requirements apply:

(7)

(a)

All loading and unloading associated with construction activity must be
accommodated on site.

(b)

A Works Zone may be required if loading and unloading is not possible
on site. If a Works Zone is warranted an application must be made to
Council at least 8 weeks prior to commencement of work on the site. An
approval for a Works Zone may be given for a specific period and certain
hours of the days to meet the particular need for the site for such facilities
at various stages of construction. The approval will be reviewed
periodically for any adjustment necessitated by the progress of the
construction activities.

(c)

Where hoisting activity over the public place is proposed to be
undertaken including hoisting from a Works Zone, a separate approval
under Section 68 of the Local Government Act 1993 must be obtained.

COVERING OF LOADS
All vehicles departing the property with demolition materials, spoil or loose
matter must have their loads fully covered before entering the public roadway.

(8)

VEHICLE CLEANSING
Prior to the commencement of work, suitable measures are to be implemented
to ensure that sediment and other materials are not tracked onto the roadway
by vehicles leaving the site. It is an offence to allow, permit or cause materials
to pollute or be placed in a position from which they may pollute waters.

(9)

OCCUPATION CERTIFICATE TO BE SUBMITTED
An Occupation Certificate must be obtained from the Principal Certifier and a
copy submitted to Council prior to commencement of occupation or use of the
whole or any part of a new building, an altered portion of, or an extension to
an existing building.

(10) HOURS OF WORK AND NOISE – OUTSIDE CBD
The hours of construction and work on the development must be as follows:
(a)

All work, including building/demolition and excavation work, and
activities in the vicinity of the site generating noise associated with
preparation for the commencement of work (eg. loading and unloading
of goods, transferring of tools etc) in connection with the proposed
development must only be carried out between the hours of 7.30am and
5.30pm on Mondays to Fridays, inclusive, and 7.30am and 3.30pm on

23

Saturdays, with safety inspections being permitted at 7.00am on work
days, and no work must be carried out on Sundays or public holidays.
(b)

All work, including demolition, excavation and building work must comply
with the City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise
1992 and Australian Standard 2436 - 2010 Guide to Noise Control on
Construction, Maintenance and Demolition Sites.

(c)

Notwithstanding the above, the use of a crane for special operations,
including the delivery of materials, hoisting of plant and equipment and
erection and dismantling of on site tower cranes which warrant the onstreet use of mobile cranes outside of above hours can occur, subject to
a permit being issued by Council under Section 68 of the Local
Government Act 1993 and/or Section 138 of the Roads Act 1993.

Note: Works may be undertaken outside of hours, where it is required to avoid
the loss of life, damage to property, to prevent environmental harm and/or to
avoid structural damage to the building. Written approval must be given by the
Construction Regulation Unit, prior to works proceeding
The City of Sydney Code of Practice for Construction Hours/Noise 1992 allows
extended working hours subject to the approval of an application in
accordance with the Code and under Section 4.55 of the Environmental
Planning and Assessment Act 1979.
(11) NO OBSTRUCTION OF PUBLIC WAY
The public way must not be obstructed by any materials, vehicles, refuse, skips
or the like, under any circumstances. Non-compliance with this requirement
will result in the issue of a notice by Council to stop all work on site.

24

SCHEDULE 2
PRESCRIBED CONDITIONS
The prescribed conditions in accordance with Division 8A of the Environmental
Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000 apply:
Clause 98

Compliance with Building Code of Australia and insurance requirements
under the Home Building Act 1989

Clause 98A

Erection of signs

Clause 98B

Notification of Home Building Act 1989 requirements

Clause 98C

Conditions relating to entertainment venues

Clause 98D

Conditions relating to maximum capacity signage

Clause 98E

Conditions relating to shoring and adequacy of adjoining property

Refer to the NSW State legislation for full text of the clauses under Division 8A of the
Environmental Planning and Assessment Regulation 2000. This can be accessed at:
http://www.legislation.nsw.gov.au

25

Attachment B
Selected Drawings

26

KIT/LDRY

BTH

DINING

BEDROOM
2

LIVING
ROOM

SUNROOM

1:200

STUDY

ENTRY

EXISTING

T +61 2 9966 9398
F +61 2 9966 9377

CLIENT
Prue Williams

-

Balustrade
Existing
Finished Floor Level
Fixed Glass
New
Timber
Terra Cotta
Tile Finish
Tile - Floor
To Match Existing

Abbreviations

BAL
(E)
FFL
FG
(N)
T
TC
TL
TL/F
TME

ENS

LIFT

BALC

WIR

BEDROOM
1

01 FOURTH FLOOR PLAN

FIRE
STAIR

27
Date
11.09.18
11.09.18
19.09.18
24.09.18

Rev
P2
P3
A

DA Issue

Preliminary Issue

Preliminary Issue

Preliminary Issue

Description

EXISTING

P1

-

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

Auth.

1:200

Checked

02 EAST ELEVATION

Sheet

Drawn

1:200

Scale

MS

0

2

4

6

8

10

12m

Do not scale drawings. Verify all dimensions on site. Notify architect of all discrepancies

NSW Nominated Architects:
Robert Denton Reg. No. 5782, Alex Kibble Reg. No. 6015

A3

Job No.

180037

CMJ

Proj. Arch

CMJ

Proj. Dir

-

1:200

Revision

A

Drawing No.

AR.DA.1002

EXISTING
FLOOR PLAN & ELEVATIONS

Drawing Title

Proposed Alterations to Fourth Floor
Apartment Balcony

Project

EXISTING

03 NORTH ELEVATION

Tanner Kibble Denton Architects Pty Ltd

+61 2 9281 4399
www.tkda.com.au

T

Tanner Kibble Denton

TKD

Level 1, 19 Foster Street, Surry Hills NSW 2010 Australia

1

KIT/LDRY

BTH

DINING

BEDROOM
2

LIVING
ROOM

2

BALCONY

1

1:200

STUDY

ENTRY

PROPOSED

T +61 2 9966 9398
F +61 2 9966 9377

CLIENT
Prue Williams

-

Balustrade
Existing
Finished Floor Level
Fixed Glass
New
Timber
Terra Cotta
Tile Finish
Tile - Floor
To Match Existing

Abbreviations

BAL
(E)
FFL
FG
(N)
T
TC
TL
TL/F
TME

ENS

LIFT

BALC

WIR

BEDROOM
1

01 FOURTH FLOOR PLAN

FIRE
STAIR

28
Date
11.09.18
11.09.18
11.09.18
19.09.18
24.09.18
07.01.19

Rev
P2
P3
P4
A
B

DA Issue

DA Issue

Preliminary Issue

Preliminary Issue

Preliminary Issue

Preliminary Issue

Description

PROPOSED

P1

-

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

Auth.

1:200

Checked

02 EAST ELEVATION

Drawn

1:200

Scale

MS

0

2

4

6

8

10

12m

PROPOSED

1

-

1:200

Revision

B

Drawing No.

AR.DA.2001

PROPOSED
FLOOR PLAN & ELEVATIONS

Drawing Title

Proposed Alterations to Fourth Floor
Apartment Balcony

Project

03 NORTH ELEVATION

3

Do not scale drawings. Verify all dimensions on site. Notify architect of all discrepancies

NSW Nominated Architects:
Robert Denton Reg. No. 5782, Alex Kibble Reg. No. 6015

A3

Sheet

180037

Job No.

Proj. Arch

CMJ

CMJ

Proj. Dir

1

3

NEW SLIDING DOOR
ADJUST EXISTING ROOF PITCH

2
3

+61 2 9281 4399
www.tkda.com.au

T

Tanner Kibble Denton

TKD

Level 1, 19 Foster Street, Surry Hills NSW 2010 Australia

Tanner Kibble Denton Architects Pty Ltd

DEMOLISHED ITEM

REMOVE EXISTING WINDOWS &
RECONSTRUCT BALCONY OPENINGS
TO ORIGINAL DETAIL

1

T +61 2 9966 9398
F +61 2 9966 9377

CLIENT
Prue Williams

29

-

BAL
(E)
FFL
FG
(N)
T
TC
TL
TL/F
TME

Balustrade
Existing
Finished Floor Level
Fixed Glass
New
Timber
Terra Cotta
Tile Finish
Tile - Floor
To Match Existing

Abbreviations

EXISTING

01 PHOTO

NTS

Date
11.09.18
11.09.18
19.09.18
24.09.18
24.09.18
04.12.18

Rev
P1
P2
P3
A
B
C

Description

DA Issue

DA Issue

DA Issue

Preliminary Issue

Preliminary Issue

Preliminary Issue

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

Checked

-

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

Auth.

Drawn

NTS

Scale

MS

NTS

Do not scale drawings. Verify all dimensions on site. Notify architect of all discrepancies

NSW Nominated Architects:
Robert Denton Reg. No. 5782, Alex Kibble Reg. No. 6015

A3

Sheet

180037

Job No.

Proj. Arch

CMJ

CMJ

Proj. Dir

PROPOSED

02 PHOTOMONTAGE

Project

Revision

C

Drawing No.

AR.DA.4001

PHOTOMONTAGE &
SCHEDULE OF FINISHES

Drawing Title

Proposed Alterations to Fourth Floor
Apartment Balcony

+61 2 9281 4399
www.tkda.com.au

T

Tanner Kibble Denton

TKD

Level 1, 19 Foster Street, Surry Hills NSW 2010 Australia

Tanner Kibble Denton Architects Pty Ltd

Balcony Floor Material: TILES

Wall Material: PAINTED RENDER
Finish: COLOUR TO MATCH EXISTING

DINING

1

T +61 2 9966 9398
F +61 2 9966 9377

CLIENT
Prue Williams

2001 PROPOSED

Balustrade
Existing
Finished Floor Level
Fixed Glass
New
Timber
Terra Cotta
Tile Finish
Tile - Floor
To Match Existing

Abbreviations

BAL
(E)
FFL
FG
(N)
T
TC
TL
TL/F
TME

2

BALCONY

1

LIVING ROOM

1:50

01 PART FOURTH FLOOR PLAN

30
Date
24.09.18
24.09.18
04.12.18

Rev
A
B
C

DA Issue

Description

DA Issue

DA Issue

CMJ

Checked

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

Auth.

Drawn

0

1

2

3m

BALCONY

1

Revision

C

Drawing No.

AR.DA.5001

BALCONY DETAILS
SHEET 1 OF 2

Drawing Title

Proposed Alterations to Fourth Floor
Apartment Balcony

Project

1:50

Do not scale drawings. Verify all dimensions on site. Notify architect of all discrepancies

NSW Nominated Architects:
Robert Denton Reg. No. 5782, Alex Kibble Reg. No. 6015

Scale

1:50

Sheet

A3

Job No.

180037

MS
CMJ

Proj. Arch

02 SECTION
5001 PROPOSED

FOURTH
FLOOR FFL

LIVING
ROOM

CMJ

Proj. Dir

BEDROOM 1

+61 2 9281 4399
www.tkda.com.au

T

Tanner Kibble Denton

TKD

Level 1, 19 Foster Street, Surry Hills NSW 2010 Australia

Tanner Kibble Denton Architects Pty Ltd

DEMOLISHED ITEM

ADJUST EXISTING ROOF PITCH TO
EXTENT INDICATED.
(N) TIMBER STRUCTURE, TERRA
COTTA ROOF TILES, FASCIA AND
GUTTER.

INCREASE WALL OPENING FOR NEW
SLIDING DOOR

2
3

REMOVE EXISTING WINDOWS &
RECONSTRUCT BALCONY OPENINGS
TO ORIGINAL DETAIL

1

3

FOURTH
FLOOR FFL

T +61 2 9966 9398
F +61 2 9966 9377

CLIENT
Prue Williams

2001 PROPOSED

1:50

BAL
(E)
FFL
FG
(N)
T
TC
TL
TL/F
TME

Balustrade
Existing
Finished Floor Level
Fixed Glass
New
Timber
Terra Cotta
Tile Finish
Tile - Floor
To Match Existing

Abbreviations

01 PART EAST ELEVATION

31

1

2

Date
24.09.18
24.09.18
04.12.18

Rev
A
B
C

Description
DA Issue
DA Issue

DA Issue

Checked

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

CMJ

Auth.

Drawn

0

1

2

3m

Do not scale drawings. Verify all dimensions on site. Notify architect of all discrepancies

NSW Nominated Architects:
Robert Denton Reg. No. 5782, Alex Kibble Reg. No. 6015

Scale

1:50

Sheet

A3

Job No.

MS
180037

Proj. Arch

CMJ

CMJ

Proj. Dir

1

1:50

Revision

C

Drawing No.

AR.DA.5002

BALCONY DETAILS
SHEET 2 OF 2

Drawing Title

Proposed Alterations to Fourth Floor
Apartment Balcony

Project

02 PART NORTH ELEVATION
2001 PROPOSED

FOURTH
FLOOR FFL

2

DEMOLISHED ITEM

ADJUST EXISTING ROOF PITCH TO
EXTENT INDICATED.
(N) TIMBER STRUCTURE, TERRA
COTTA ROOF TILES, FASCIA AND
GUTTER.

REMOVE EXISTING WINDOWS &
RECONSTRUCT BALCONY OPENINGS
TO ORIGINAL DETAIL

+61 2 9281 4399
www.tkda.com.au

T

Tanner Kibble Denton

TKD

Level 1, 19 Foster Street, Surry Hills NSW 2010 Australia

Tanner Kibble Denton Architects Pty Ltd

2

1

PROPOSED

T +61 2 9966 9398
F +61 2 9966 9377

CLIENT
Prue Williams

-

1:50

BAL
(E)
FFL
FG
(N)
T
TC
TL
TL/F
TME

Balustrade
Existing
Finished Floor Level
Fixed Glass
New
Timber
Terra Cotta
Tile Finish
Tile - Floor
To Match Existing

Abbreviations

01 PART ROOF PLAN

32
Date
04.12.18

Rev
A

Description
DA Issue

Checked
CMJ

CMJ

Auth.

Drawn

0

0.5

1

1.5

2

2.5

3m

Do not scale drawings. Verify all dimensions on site. Notify architect of all discrepancies

NSW Nominated Architects:
Robert Denton Reg. No. 5782, Alex Kibble Reg. No. 6015

Scale

1:50

Sheet

A3

Job No.

MS
180037

Proj. Arch

CMJ

Proj. Dir

CMJ

Project

Revision

A

Drawing No.

AR.DA.5003

PROPOSED
PART ROOF PLAN

Drawing Title

Proposed Alterations to Fourth Floor
Apartment Balcony

Tanner Kibble Denton Architects Pty Ltd

+61 2 9281 4399
www.tkda.com.au

T

Tanner Kibble Denton

TKD

Level 1, 19 Foster Street, Surry Hills NSW 2010 Australia

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Item 6.
Report to the Local Planning Panel - Status of Applications
File No:

X019228

Summary
The purpose of this report is to inform members of the Local Planning Panel (LPP) of the
applications that are to be reported to the LPP; applications that have been subject to
modification applications and appeals of applications determined by the LPP.
Attachment A contains a list of applications due to be determined by the LPP. The list
includes the application's reference number, address of the proposal, the description of the
proposal, the target meeting date and the reason why the application is referred to the LPP
for determination.
Attachment B contains a summary of Land and Environment Court appeal information
relating to applications determined by the LPP or appeals related to deemed refusals of
applications that would have been determined by the LPP.
Attachment C contains a list of applications for modification of previous LPP approvals.

Recommendation
It is resolved that the subject report be received and noted.

Attachments
Attachment A.

Applications to be Reported to the Local Planning Panel

Attachment B.

Appeals Related to the Local Planning Panel

Attachment C.

List of Modification Applications Related to the Local Planning Panel
Approvals

1

Local Planning Panel

20 February 2019

Background
1.

There are currently 36 development applications lodged with Council that are to be
considered and determined by the LPP (as at 25 January 2019). The list includes
applications on the February agenda. The application list is sorted by target meeting
date. The list is in Attachment A.

2.

Details of new Land and Environment Court appeals that relate to LPP decisions or
applications that were due to be determined by the LPP but were subject of a deemed
refusal appeal are in Attachment B. Additionally, on-going or completed matters will
have the status or outcome listed in the table.

3.

There have been six modification applications lodged which relate to LPP approvals,
two of which have been approved under delegation. The list is in Attachment C.

Relevant Legislation
4.

Environmental Planning and Assessment Act 1979

GRAHAM JAHN, AM
Director, City Planning, Development and Transport
Steven Meyer, Planning Systems Advisor

2

Attachment A
Applications to be Reported to the Local
Planning Panel

3

Applications to be Reported to the Local Planning Panel

4

Application number

Address

Description

Meeting target

Reason for LPP
determination

D/2018/1286

24-24 Billyard Avenue
ELIZABETH BAY

Alterations to Apartment 5 within the Del Rio building. Work
includes removal of existing windows; the reconstruction of
balcony openings to their original detail; the adjustment of
the existing roof pitch; and internal alterations comprising a
new sliding glass door from the living room to the balcony.

February 2019

Departure from
standard

D/2018/1366

2A Princes Highway
ALEXANDRIA

Use Brick Kiln carpark at Sydney Park for a farmers market
(City Farm Market) every Friday from 7.00am to 1.00pm

February 2019

Conflict of interest

D/2018/1411

13-15 Bayswater Road
POTTS POINT

Alterations and additions to rooftop terrace of Unit 902.

February 2019

Departure from
standard

D/2018/1412

42-44 Belmore Road
SURRY HILLS

Demolition and construction of a three storey commercial
building with roof top communal space.

February 2019

Departure from
standard

D/2018/1184

16-18 Broadway
ULTIMO

Change of use to shops and hotel/motel, alterations and
additions comprising of internal changes and additional
eighth storey and strata subdivision

February 2019

Departure from
standard

D/2018/1097

29-33 Balfour Street
CHIPPENDALE

Alterations and additions to the existing building including 2
new roof-top terraces, alterations to the existing mezzanine
level and internal reconfiguration

February 2019

Departure from
standard

Address

Description

Meeting target

Reason for LPP
determination

D/2018/156

19 Ralph Street
ALEXANDRIA

New mixed use development with 17 apartments, 6 storeys,
ground floor retail and parking for 23 cars with vehicle
access to Beaconsfield Lane.

February 2019

Sensitive
development

D/2018/863

27 Queen Street
CHIPPENDALE

Construction of 3 x additional residential apartments at the
roof level of an existing residential apartment building. All
proposed works are at the rear of the site facing Queen
Street, no works are proposed to existing heritage
shopfronts facing Regent Street

March 2019

Departure from
standard

D/2018/1058

15-29 Cornwallis Street
REDFERN

Demolition of existing building, excavation and construction
of a 6 storey boarding house comprising 61 boarding rooms,
2 basement levels including 40 car parking spaces, rooftop
communal terrace and tree removal.

March 2019

Number of
objections

D/2018/1208

5-7 Bourke Road
ALEXANDRIA

Concept Development Application (Stage 1) for a 9 storey
building envelope for concept use as commercial premises
including car parking and tree removal. The application is
Integrated Development requiring the approval of Water
NSW under the Water Management Act 2000.

March 2019

Sensitive
development

D/2018/1243

31A Alfred Street
SYDNEY

To place moveable wayfinding signage in the Customs
House forecourt to direct customers into the Visitor
Information Centre within Customs House.

March 2019

Conflict of interest

D/2018/126

45 Burton Street
DARLINGHURST

Two storey addition to an existing building and change of
use to a dwelling. The proposal includes internal layout
changes, ground floor garage and driveway access,

March 2019

Number of
objections

5

Application number

Application number

Address

Description

Meeting target

Reason for LPP
determination

basement excavation, rooftop pool and terrace and changes
to the openings along the Burton and Sherbrooke Street
facades.
22-38 Yurong Street
DARLINGHURST

Integrated Development for alterations and additions to an
approved mixed use development (D/2015/421) to convert
part of the retained commercial building into 4 apartments
and 1 live/work apartment. Alterations to approved basement
including additional excavation and a car stacker for 5
additional cars. The site also has frontages to Stanley Lane
and Stream Street. The application is Integrated
Development as it requires approval under the Water
Management Act 2000.

March 2019

Sensitive
development

D/2018/1360

21 O'Connor Street
CHIPPENDALE

Alterations and additions to existing mixed-use warehouse
building to include a new commercial studio, courtyard and
garage on the ground floor, internal reconfiguration of the
first floor, extension of the second floor onto the existing
outdoor terrace, and addition of a roof terrace above.

March 2019

Departure from
standard

D/2018/73

1 Missenden Road
CAMPERDOWN

Remove existing externally illuminated advertising sign, and
construct new internally illuminated digital advertising sign of
42sqm in size and affixed to the western wall. The site has a
frontage to Parramatta Road.

March 2019

Departure from
standard

D/2018/748

7-9 Knox Street
CHIPPENDALE

Partial demolition of existing building, tree removal, and
construction of a five storey boarding house containing 21
boarding rooms

March 2019

Number of
objections

6

D/2018/1314

Address

Description

Meeting target

Reason for LPP
determination

D/2018/774

589-591 Elizabeth
Street
REDFERN

Demolition of all structures on site, earthworks, site
remediation, tree removal and construction and use of a 4
storey hotel comprising 63 rooms, basement level car
parking, level 3 outdoor terrace and licensed cafe with
capacity for 40 patrons. The hotel proposed hours of
operation are 24 hours, 7 days a week and the cafe
proposed hours are 7.00am – 10.00pm, 7 days a week.

March 2019

Departure from
standard

D/2018/789

44-48 O'Dea Avenue
WATERLOO

Construction of a 5 storey mixed use development (building
A) with retail tenancies at ground level, 40 residential units
and 2 levels of basement parking and services. The
application is integrated development requiring the approval
of Water NSW under the Water Management Act 2000.

March 2019

Sensitive
development

D/2018/871

658-660 Botany Road
ALEXANDRIA

Demolition of existing structures (also known as 11
Birmingham Street), excavation and construction of a 6
storey mixed use building including ground floor retail
fronting Birmingham Street, ground and first floor
commercial fronting Botany Road, 30 residential units, a total
of 28 car parking spaces at new basement level and ground
floor, and associated landscaping. The application is
Integrated Development requiring the approval of the
Department of Primary Industries (Water) under the Water
Management Act 2000.

March 2019

Sensitive
development

D/2017/1578

390-396 Pitt Street
HAYMARKET

Alterations and additions to the existing mixed-use building
(known as the Mandarin Club) including excavation of 2
additional basement levels, and extension of 8 additional
levels. Change of use to hotel accommodating 142 rooms,

March 2019

Sensitive
development

7

Application number

Application number

Address

Description

Meeting target

Reason for LPP
determination

March 2019

Sensitive
development

restaurants/cafes, pub, function room, gym and business
centre.
D/2018/509

13 Parker Street, Car
Park
HAYMARKET

8

The application is re-notified following the submission to
Council of amended drawings. ORIGINAL PROPOSAL:
Construction and use of the site as a 15 storey hotel
including a single basement level, 165 rooms, ground level
food and beverage area, level 1 restaurant and rooftop
terrace. Proposed hours of operation for the hotel, licensed
cafe, bar and restaurant are 24 hours a day, 7 days a
week. AMENDED PROPOSAL: the proposal has been
amended to increase the height of the building by 1 storey to
16 storeys and increase the setback of the building to the
northern boundary from 0.8m to 4.58m. The height of the
northern soffit has been increased to avoid existing
easements, also resulting in additional separation distance
between the parapet of the substation to the north and the
building soffit. Other changes include increased use of
masonry materials for the northern facade of the building,
deletion of level 1 and 14 terraces (replaced by restaurant
space and hotel rooms respectively) and a reduction in the
number of hotel rooms from 165 rooms to 152 rooms. The
proposal exceeds the height of buildings development
standard by 4m and the applicant has submitted a statement
addressing clause 4.6 of the Sydney Local Environmental
Plan 2012.

Address

Description

Meeting target

Reason for LPP
determination

D/2018/1445

629 Harris Street
ULTIMO

Demolition of existing garage on Hackett Street and
construction of new 3 storey boarding house containing 5
rooms and 1 common room.

March 2016

Departure from
standard

D/2018/975

763 Bourke Street
REDFERN

Use of part of the ground floor and first floor as a centrebase child care facility with associated fitout works,
landscaping and signage. Proposed hours of operation are
between 7.00am and 6.00pm Monday to Friday, inclusive.

April 2019

Departure from
standard

D/2018/1138

932-934 Bourke Street
ZETLAND

Extension of the hours of operation to the existing place of
public worship from 9.00am – 5.00pm, Monday to Friday to
6.00am – 10.00pm, 7 days a week and use of the rear car
parking area as a praying hall.

April 2019

Number of
submissions

D/2018/1368

383 Riley Street
SURRY HILLS

Alterations and additions to mixed-use development to be
used as a single dwelling including the addition of an upper
level with front and rear roof terraces, excavation and
construction of garage with storage level above, rear
balcony, alterations to façade and internal alterations.

April 2019

Departure from
standard

D/2018/1479

560-576 Bourke Street
SURRY HILLS

Reconstruction of Wimbo Park in association with the light
rail construction. The park will require the closure of Olivia
Lane and Parkham Place between Nobbs Lane and
Parkham Lane.

April 2019

Conflict of interest

D/2018/1606

191-195 Botany Road
WATERLOO

Subdivision of the site (being Lot 70 in DP 786275) into two
lots.

April 2019

Departure from
standard

9

Application number

Address

Description

Meeting target

Reason for LPP
determination

D/2018/761

117-119 Foveaux Street
SURRY HILLS

Partial demolition and construction of a four storey infill
apartment building with basement to the rear of the terraces.
The site will accommodate two retail tenancies, five
apartments and roof top communal open space.

April 2019

Sensitive
development

D/2018/801

55-59 Regent Street
CHIPPENDALE

Demolition with retention of the facades and construction of
a seven storey building containing a hotel with 119 rooms,
roof top bar and six commercial tenancies on the ground
floor.

April 2019

Departure from
standard

D/2019/7

3 George Street
REDFERN

Alterations and additions to dwelling house including new
balconies, bathrooms, repair works and planting to roofs.

April 2019

Departure from
standard

D/2019/14

62-64 Pine Street
CHIPPENDALE

Alterations to the outdoor play area of the Chippendale Child
Care Centre. Proposal includes a new access ramp, hard
and soft landscaping, and updated play areas.

April 2019

Conflict of interest

D/2018/1451

208-218 Riley Street
SURRY HILLS

Detailed design for an 11 storey hotel on Lower Campbell
Street and adjoining the existing Cambridge hotel, containing
95 hotel rooms, ground floor restaurant, loading and
associated facilities and parking in the basement levels.
Facade upgrades are proposed to the lower levels and
balconies of the existing Cambridge Hotel. The development
follows a concept approval (D/2016/1177) and is associated
with an early works application for demolition and excavation
(D/2018/1305).

May 2019

Number of objectors

10

Application number

11

Application number

Address

Description

Meeting target

Reason for LPP
determination

D/2018/1581

135-139 McEvoy Street
ALEXANDRIA

Construction of a mixed use development with a commercial
tenancies at ground level, residential comprising of 34 units
and two levels of basement parking and services.

May 2019

Sensitive
development

D/2018/1615

132-138 McEvoy Street
ALEXANDRIA

Demolition of existing buildings and construction of a new
mixed use development comprising ground floor shops and
food and drink premises with office premises on levels
above, 47 car parking spaces at ground level, signage and
landscaping. The proposed hours of operation are 9.00am –
5.30pm Monday - Wednesday, Friday - Sunday, and 9.00am
– 8.00pm Thursday.

June 2019

Voluntary planning
agreement

D/2018/1595

20-26 Allen Street
WATERLOO

Demolition of existing building, tree removal, construction of
4 storey residential building containing 70 units, basement
parking and rooftop communal area. The application is
Integrated Development requiring approval of Water NSW
under the Water Management Act 2000.

June 2019

Sensitive
development

D/2018/1500

290-294 Botany Road
ALEXANDRIA

Concept development application for concept approval of a
29m building envelope for retail and office uses, vehicular
access from Wyndham Street, a through site link and
indicative tree removal. The application is Integrated
Development requiring approval of Road and Maritime
Services under the Roads Act 1993.

June 2019

Voluntary planning
agreement

List is current as at 24/01/2019

Attachment B
Appeals Related to the Local Planning
Panel

12

Appeals Related to the Local Planning Panel
Application
number

Address

Description

Appeal date

Status

Partial excavation of the site and construction of a
five storey commercial building with two
basement levels of car parking.

21/12/2018

Deemed refusal appeal

Alterations and additions to the existing building
to construct a 4 storey commercial building

11/01/2019

Lodged in current reporting quarter
D/2018/875

D/2018/1407

86-92 Harris Street
PYRMONT

17-19 Dunning Avenue
ROSEBERY

Appeal lodged on
day 143 of
assessment

13

Appeal lodged on
day 52 of
assessment
D/2018/194

52 Argyle Place
MILLERS POINT

Alterations and additions to a dwelling house.
Works include internal and external changes, rear
extension, excavation, landscaping, services
upgrade, air conditioning and conservation works.
The application is Integrated Development under
the Heritage Act 1977, requiring approval of the
NSW Heritage Council.

20/12/2018
Appeal lodged 170
days after
determination

Listed for first directions
hearing 12/02/2019

Deemed refusal appeal
Listed for first directions
14/02/2019

Appeal of refusal by LPP
on 04/07/2018 as per
recommendation of
Council officers and the
Heritage Council.
Listed for first directions
on 06/02/2019.

Application
number

Address

Description

Appeal date

Status

D/2017/1809

9 Power Avenue
ALEXANDRIA

Demolition of existing commercial building, site
remediation, construction of a new 4 storey mixed
use development containing 12 residential
apartments with communal open space on the
roof, one commercial tenancy at ground floor and
associated bicycle parking and storage.

19/12/2018

Deemed refusal appeal
dismissed by LEC
12/12/2018, appeal of
Commissioner’s decision
to a Judge

Appeal lodged on
day 62 of
assessment

Listed for directions
05/02/2019

D/2017/1332

278 Palmer Street
DARLINGHURST

14
D/2018/335

D/2018/525

400/65 Cowper Wharf
Roadway
WOOLLOOMOOLOO

137-153 Crown Street
DARLINGHURST

Alterations and additions to the existing building
including a part one and part two storey addition,
new basement for storage and services, and
change of use to a residential flat building
containing 10 apartments and a rooftop terrace.

27/11/2018

Alterations and additions to an existing mixed-use
building to include a green roof for the Level 4,
Penthouse apartment.

12/11/2018

Alterations and additions to existing commercial
premises including construction of fourth floor and
internal alterations and change of use of ground
floor to retail. Proposed trading hours are 7.00am
– 6.00pm, Mondays to Sundays inclusive.

Appeal lodged 20
days after
determination

Appeal lodged 22
days after
determination

Appeal of refusal by LPP
on 07/11/2018 as per staff
recommendation
Listed for conciliation
conference on 14/03/2019
Appeal of refusal by LPP
on 10/10/2018 as per staff
recommendation
Listed for conciliation
conference on 20/06/2019

15/10/2018

Deemed refusal appeal

Appeal lodged on
day 151 of
assessment

Listed for conciliation
conference 30/05/2019

Application
number

Address

Description

Appeal date

Status

Partial demolition of existing building and
construction of 10 x 3 storey self-contained
terrace dwellings with rooftop terraces and a
basement carpark.

04/04/2018

Deemed refusal

Appeal lodged on
day 105 of
assessment

Listed for hearing
20/05/2019

Alterations and additions to the existing building
for the construction of a part-4, part-5 and part-6
storey mixed-use development containing
basement storage and services; ground floor
retail space and an apartment; and aboveground
apartments. Seven apartments are proposed.
Pedestrian access is proposed from Hardie
Street. No car parking is proposed.

29/05/2018

Deemed refusal

Appeal lodged on
day 190 of
assessment

Listed for hearing 1415/08/2019

Renotification of amended plans subject to Land
and Environment Court Proceedings. Proposal
includes demolition, construction and subdivision
of a 6-7 storey mixed use development for 139
units, 2 retail tenancies and 2 levels of basement.
The application is Integrated Development
requiring approval of Water NSW under the Water
Management Act 2000 and approval of the Roads
and Maritime Service under the Roads Act 1993.

19/06/2018

Deemed refusal

Integrated development application for the
demolition of the existing warehouse building and
construction of part 4/5 storey commercial
building with ground floor retail and basement
parking. This is Integrated Development requiring

06/09/2018

Lodged prior to current quarter reporting period
D/2017/1792

D/2017/1606

146-154 Lawrence
Street ALEXANDRIA

42 Hardie Street
DARLINGHURST

15
D/2018/354

D/2018/56

219-321 Botany Road
WATERLOO

15 Bourke Road
ALEXANDRIA

Part heard in December
2018
Appeal lodged on
day 69 of
assessment

Hearing adjourned to
05/02/2019

Refused by LPP as per
staff recommendation
03/06/2018

Application
number

Address

Description

Appeal date

Status

approval of the Office of Water under the Water
Management Act 2000.

Appeal lodged on
day 85 of
assessment

S34 conciliation
conference ongoing as at
30/01/19. Applicant will be
filing a notice of motion
seeking leave for
amended plans.
LEC Hearing 7-8 March
2019

D/2018/879

600 Botany Road
ALEXANDRIA

Alterations and additions to the existing building
for continued use as a storage premises with
ancillary ground floor office and showroom, car
parking, increase in the existing floor area

24/09/2018

Deemed refusal

Appeal lodged on
day 55 of
assessment

Listed for conciliation
conference 15/02/2019

16

Listed for hearing 15 &
20/05/2019
D/2017/1426

27 Church Street
CAMPERDOWN

List is current as at 24/01/2019

Demolition of existing building and construction of
a three storey plus attic level residential flat
building comprising five apartments with terraces.

27/09/2018
Appeal lodged 183
days after
determination

Refused by LPP as per
staff recommendation
28/03/2018
Listed for conciliation
conference 03/05/2019

Attachment C
List of Modification Applications Lodged on
Local Planning Panel Approvals

17

List of Modification Applications Lodged on Local Planning Panel Approvals
Address

Description

Lodgement date

Status

D/2017/1341/A

20 O'Riordan Street
ALEXANDRIA

S4.55 (1A) minor adjustments to lot boundaries

26/11/2018

Approved under
delegation
26/11/2018

D/2017/1552/C

26-30 City Road
CHIPPENDALE

Section 4.55(1A) to include the staging of the
development within the development description.

07/12/2018

Approved under
delegation
18/12/2018

D/2017/1754/A

220 Victoria Street
BEACONSFIELD

Section 4.55(1) modification to delete condition 37
imposed by error and amend condition 29 to correct error

04/12/2018

Approved under
delegation
4/12/2018

D/2018/819/A

1 Anzac Parade
MOORE PARK

Section 4.55(1) modification to amend the description of
the "Land to be Developed" to delete reference to 6
Anzac Parade.

13/11/2018

Approved under
delegation
13/11/2018

D/2017/1131/B

23-47 Flinders Street
SURRY HILLS

Section 4.55(2) modification of consent for 6 storey
mixed use development. Proposed changes include
modifications to building facade, internal layout, roof
plant, landscaping and height of lift overrun.

30/10/2018

Under
assessment

D/2018/340/A

344 Crown Street
SURRY HILLS

S4.55(1a) - Amend Condition 4 Contributions

15/01/2019

Under
assessment

18

Application
number

List is current as at 24/01/2019

